

Volume 25, Number 2 (2006)

(Special Volume : Dedicated to the memory of Professor M.A. Kazim)

THE ALIGARH **BULLETIN** OF MATHEMATICS

THE ALIGARH BULLETIN OF MATHEMATICS

Editorial Board

Chief Editor Huzoor H. Khan huzoorhkhan@yahoo.com

Managing Editor Zafar Ahsan zafar.ahsan@rediffmail.com

S.S. Alam, Kharagpur, India alam@maths.iitkgp.ernet.in

Q.H. Ansari, Aligarh, India qhansari@kfupm.edu.sa

P.K.Banerji, Jodhpur, India banerjipk@yahoo.com

Afzal Beg, Aligarh, India abegamu@yahho.co.in

J. Bicak, Czech Republic bicak@mbox.troja.mff.cuni.cz

Huseyin Bor, Turkey bor@erciyes.edu.tr

M. Bresar, Slovania bresar@univ-mb.si

Luisa Carini, Italy lcarini@dipmat.unime.it

U.C. De, Kalyani, India uc de@yahoo.com

T.R. Gulati, Roorkee, India trgmaiitr@rediffmail.com

Claus Haetinger, Brazil chaet@univates.br

Mohd. Imdad, Aligarh, India mhimdad@yahoo.co.in

M.Z. Khan, Aligarh, India mz_alig@yahoo.com

Sunder Lal, Agra, India sunder_lal2@rediffmail.com

E. Malkowsky, Yogoslavia eberhard.malkowsky@math.uni-giessen.de Managing Editor M. Ashraf mashraf80@hotmail.com

Members

H. Marubayashi, Japan marubaya@naruto-u.ac.jp

Fazal Mehdi, Aligarh, India fazal_mehdi@rediffmail.com

Mursaleen, Aligarh, India mursaleen@gmail.com

S. Natesan, Guwahati, India natesan@iitg.ernet.in

P. Panigrahi, Kharagpur, India pratima@maths.iitkgp.ernet.in

R.P. Pant, Nainital, India pant_rp@rediffmail.com

S. Parvathi, Chennai, India sparvathi@hotmail.com

V. Popa, Romania vpopa@ub.ro

S.M. Tariq Rizvi, U.S.A. rizvi.1@osu.edu

Ekrem Savas, Turkey ekremsavas@yahoo.com

H.G. Sharma, Roorkee, India hgsfdma@iitr.ernet.in

Suthep Suantai, Thailand scnti005@chiangmai.ac.th

R.Tikekar, Vallabh Vidyanagar, India tikekar@gmail.com

Jen-Chih Yao, Taiwan yaojc@math.nsysu.edu.tw

S.M.A. Zaidi, Aligarh, India zaidimath@rediffmail.com

Dedication

The special Silver Jubilee volume of the Aligarh Bulletin of Mathematics is dedicated to the memory of tis founder and the first Chief Editor, Professor S. M. Abul Kazim Rizvi (1918-1980).

Professor Kazim initiated research in Algebra and established a strong school of research at the Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh. It is mainly due to his total dedication to mathematics, devotion to scholarship and sustained efforts in improving the quality of research and teaching of mathematics that this department now has a strong tradition of excellence in these areas. The foundation and publication of this journal was his brainchild which in turn has brought international visibility to the Department of Mathematics, served mathematical research in India and abroad and provided avenues for exchange of ideas. The international exchange and reciprocity agreement of this journal have greatly enriched the departmental seminar library in its research collections.

Professor Kazim's rare individual ability to grasp new mathematical ideas and to apply them to newer situations enabled him to make research contributions in a variety of areas in Mathematics: History of Mathematics, Number theory, Group theory, Representation theory, Ring theory, Homological Algebras, Category theory, etc. It is especially remarkable that his research contributions to the various branches of Algebra were made without any formal training of research in the subject. He self-taught himself the various areas of interest to him. He had the gifts of great intuition and intense concentration. His commitment and versatility enabled him to succeed in whatever tasks he undertook.

Professor Kazim was a brilliant and inspiring teacher. He had the ability to elucidate complicated concepts for his students. He was of saintly demeanor and a fatherly figure, always available to his students and colleagues for any help that he could provide. He was greatly respected and loved by his students and colleagues for his caring devotion.

In addition in his love for mathematics, Professor Kazim was a man of literature and used to write poetry in English, Urdu and Persian. He also possessed other dimensions of human existence. He was attracted by the sufi way of life and was deeply involved I the Warsi approach to sufism so much so that one could see in himself a sufi saint.

The Department of Mathematics at Aligarh Muslim University will always remain indebted to Professor Kazim's various multifaceted contributions. This special volume is a respectful tribute to the genius of Professor M. A. Kazim.

Contents

On the block center for split BN-pair Hecke algebra Ahmed A. Khammash and Makkeah A. Makky	1-8
Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations on prime rings Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar	9-18
On Exact Sequences in $B_{CI(r)}$ Shabbir Khan and Gulam Muhiuddin	19-23
A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors S.M.A. Zaidi	25-33
On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces G. Sai Sundara Krishnan and K. Balachandran	35-44
Some results on K-algebras Pramod K. Sharma	45-50
On some central differential identities in prime rings L. Carini and V. De Filippis	51-58
Operators of composition between Orlicz spaces B.S. Komal, Shally Gupta and Tejinder Kour	59-63
Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings Gary F. Birkenmeier, Jae Keol Park and S. Tariq Rizvi	65-77
On derivations in rings and their applications Mohammad Ashraf, Shakir Ali and Claus Haetinger	79-107

ON THE BLOCK CENTER FOR SPLIT BN-PAIR HECKE ALGEBRA

Ahmed A. Khammash¹ and Makkeah A. Makky²

¹Department of Math. Sciences, Umm Algura University, P.O.Box 7296, Makkah, Saudi Arabia E-mail : khamm@uqu.edu.sa

²Department of Mathematics, College of Education for Girls, Sciences Departments, Makkah, Saudi Arabia

(Received December 14, 2005)

Abstract. This paper is based on the fact, which is shown in §3, that the non-stable blocks of the modular Hecke algebra for the general linear group can be parameterized by the partitions of n. We also study the central elements of such blocks and determine basis elements of the block that involved in the center.

§0. Introduction

Let G = (G, B, N, R, U, H) be a finite group with a split BN-pair of characteristic p, for some prime $p \phi 0$ (see [4], §69). Let k be an algebraically closed field of the same characteristic and let Y = kG[U]; the left ideal of kG generated by $[U] = \sum_{u \in U} u$. Then Y defines a left kG-module isomorphic to the induced kG-

module $Ind_U^G(k)$. We write E for the endomorphism algebra $End_{kG}(Y)$ for the module Y. This algebra is well studied for the strong connection of its representations and the representations of the group G. In fact, the complete set of irreducible representations of E over k (which are all one-dimensional) parameterizes the irreducible kG-modules (see [4], §72B). The blocks of E as well as the extension groups of its irreducible representations have been obtained in [1]. A presentation of the blocks as well as a partial characterization for the block central elements were given in [5]. The aim of this paper is to study the central elements of the blocks of E which correspond to the characters of $H = B \cap N$ that are non-stable under the action of the Weyl group W = N/H of G (or what are called the non-stable blocks) in the case when G = GL(n,q)and q is a power of p. It turns out (see §3) that such blocks can be parameterized by the partitions of n. To study the central elements of such blocks we shall use the presentation of such blocks given in [5]. We provide a set of central operators which give a basis for the center of the block. Some illustrating examples are given towards the end of the paper. The case of the (stable) blocks has been studied in [6].

Notations

The following notations will be used throughout this paper

- \hat{H} : the set of the multiplicative characters of H
- $[\mathbf{X}] \qquad \qquad : \quad \sum_{x \in X} x \text{ for any } X \subset G$

W = N/H : The Weyl group of $X \subset G$

- (w) : An element of N such that $(w)H = w \in W$
- $\lambda(w)$: The length of $w \in W$.
- w_0 : The unique element of W with maximal length

⁰ Keywords and phrases : Hecke algebra, Blocks.

⁰ AMS Subject Classification : 20C33, 20C20.

For each $w \in W$; we write $U_w^- = U \cap U^{w_0 w_i}$, $U_w^+ = U \cap U^w$. For $w_i \in R$; the set of simple reflections in W, we write

$$U_i = U_{w_i}^-, \ U_{-i} = U_i^{w_0} \text{ and } H_i = H \cap \pi U_i, U_{-i}\phi$$

For $\chi \in \hat{H}$; we let $p(\chi) = \{ w_i \in R; \chi \mid_{H_i} = 1 \}$

For $J \subseteq R$; write $W_J = \langle J \rangle$; the parabolic subgroup of W generated by J.

§1. The non-stable blocks of E

Since $G = Y_{n \in N} U n U$ (see[4], 69.2), the k-algebra E has a k-basis $a_n; n \in N$ indexed by the elements of N, where $a_n \in E$ is given by : $a_n([U]) = [UnU]$. For each $\chi \in \hat{H}$ define $e_{\chi} = |H|^{-1} \sum_{h \in H} \chi(h^{-1})h \in kH$. The

Weyl group W acts on \hat{H} by conjugation, hence induces a W-action on \hat{H} as follows : If $w \in W$ and $\chi \in \hat{H}$ then $w\chi \in \hat{H}$ is given by $w\chi(h) = \chi((w)^{-1}h(w)$. The set $P(\chi)$ (see the notations above) plays an important role in the parameterization of the simple E-modules as well as simple kG-modules (see [4], §72B). It is known (see [7]) that $w\chi = \chi$, $\forall w \in W_{P(\chi)}$. If $P(\chi) \neq R$, we denote by (χ) the W-orbit of χ and we write $e_{(\chi)} = \sum e_{\chi}$. Then $e_{(\chi)}$ is central idempotent of E ([5], 2.2) and in fact the blocks of E which corresponds

 $e_{(\chi)} = \sum_{\lambda \in (\chi)} e_{\lambda}$. Then $e_{(\chi)}$ is central idempotent of E ([5], 2.2) and in fact the blocks of E which corresponds

to the non-stable characters of H are indexed by the set of W-orbits $\{(\chi) : \chi \in \hat{H}, P(\chi) \neq R\}$. Write $B_{\chi} = e_{(\chi)}E$. For $\mu \in \hat{H}$ and $w_i \in R$, write $\mu_i = \sum_{x \in U_i^*} \mu(h_i(x)) \in k$ where $h_i : U_i^* \to H_i$ is the bijection

defined by the structure equation (see [3], 2.2). It is known that

$$\mu_i = \begin{cases} -1 & if \quad w_i \in P(\mu) \\ 0 & if \quad w_i \notin P(\mu) \end{cases}$$
(*)

(see [4], Prop.72.24). The following gives a presentation of B_{χ} . **Theorem 1.1** ([5], 3.1 and 3.3). Suppose that $\chi \in \hat{H}$ with $P(\chi) \neq R$. Then

- (1) B_{χ} has a k-basis $\{e_{\lambda}a_{(w)}; \lambda \in (\chi), w \in W\}$. In particular dim $B_{\chi} = |W| |W: W_{\chi}$ where W_{χ} is the W-stabilizer of χ .
- (2) For all $\lambda, \mu \in (\chi)$ and $w, v, \in w$, $e_{\lambda}a_{(w)}e_{\mu}a_{(\nu)} = 0$ unless $\mu = w\lambda$.
- (3) If $w \in W$, $w_i \in R$ and $\lambda \in (\chi)$ then

$$e_{\lambda}a_{(w)}e_{w\lambda}a_{(w_i)} = \begin{cases} e_{\lambda}a_{(w_i)(w)} & if \quad \lambda(w_iw)\phi\lambda(w) \\ \\ (w\lambda)_ie_{\lambda}a_{(w)} & if \quad \lambda(w_iw)\pi\lambda(w) \end{cases}$$

and

$$e_{\lambda}a_{(w_i)}e_{w_i\lambda}a_{(w)} = \begin{cases} e_{\lambda}a_{(w)(w_i)} & if \quad \lambda(ww_i)\phi\lambda(w) \\ \\ (w_i\lambda)_ie_{\lambda}a_{(w)} & if \quad \lambda(ww_i)\pi\lambda(w) \end{cases}$$

The following gives a restriction on the basis elements which are involved in the central elements of the block B_{χ} .

Proposition 1.2 ([5], 3.4). Suppose that $x = \sum c_{\lambda,w} e_{\lambda} a_{(w)} \in Z(B_{\chi})$ where $c_{\lambda,w} \in k$, sum over all $\lambda \in (\chi), w \in W$. Then $c_{\lambda,w} = 0$ unless $w \in W_{\lambda}$. \Box Proposition 1.2 implies that $Z(B_x) \subseteq \langle e_{\lambda} a_{(w)}; \lambda \in (\chi), w \in W_{\lambda} \rangle$, so we fix an element $x = \sum_{\lambda \in (\chi), w \in W_{\lambda}} c_{\lambda,w} e_{\lambda} a_{(w)} \in B_{\chi}$ where $c_{\lambda,w} \in k$. First we have

Proposition 1.3. $x \in Z(B_{\chi})$ if and only if $xa_{(w_i)} = a_{(w_i)}x$ for all $w_i \in R$.

Proof. B_{χ} is generated as a k-algebra by $\{e_{\lambda}, a_{(w_i)}; \lambda \in (\chi), w_i \in R\}$. It is clear that x commutes with $e_{\lambda}; \lambda \in (\chi)$. So to be in the center is equivalent the condition $xa_{(w_i)} = a_{(w_i)}x$ for all $w_i \in R$.

§2. The blocks of Hecke algebras of GL(n,q)

In this section we show that the non-stable blocks of the Hecke algebra E for the group G = GL(n,q) are parameterized by the partitions of n. As usual we take the BN-pair of G as follows :

B := the subgroup of upper triangular matrices, N := the subgroup of monomial matrices, then

 $H := B \cap N$ = the subgroup of diagonal matrices and $W = S_n$; the symmetric group on n letters. For each $1 \le i \le n-1$ we write $w_i = (i, i+1)$ and we take $R = \{w_i; i = 1, 2, \dots, n-1\}$. For each $1 \le i \le n-1$ we shall take (w_i) to be the matrix obtained from the identity matrix by multiplying the row i + 1 by -1 and interchanging it with the row i. Thus

Then with this choice, if $w = v_1 v_2 \cdots v_t \in W$ where $v_i \in R$; $1 \le i \le t$ then $(w) = (v_1)(v_2) \cdots (v_t) \in N$ and $e_{\lambda}a_{(w)} = e_{\lambda}a_{(v_t)} \cdots a_{(v_1)}$. This choice and observation will be useful when dealing with the coefficients of block central elements in the next section.

From the representation of abelian groups we have $|\hat{H}| = |H|$. In fact if we write $h(x, y, \cdots)$ for the diagonal matrix diag (x, y, \cdots) , then $\hat{H} = \{\chi_{a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n}; a_i \in F_q^*\}$ where

$$\chi_{a_1,a_2,\cdots,a_n}(h(x_1,x_2,\cdots,x_n)) = x_1^{a_1}x_2^{a_2}\cdots x_n^{a_n}$$

for all $h(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in H$. The following lemma describes the W-action on \hat{H} and the W-stabilizers of the elements of \hat{H} .

Lemma 2.1. (1) The W-action on \hat{H} is given as follows:

$$w\chi_{a_1,a_2,\cdots,a_n} = \chi_{w(a_1),\cdots,w(a_n)} \text{ for all } w \in W \text{ and } \chi_{a_1,a_2,\cdots,a_n} \in \hat{H}$$

(2) If $\chi = \chi_{a_1,a_2,\cdots,a_n}$ then $W_{\chi} = \{w \in W; a_{w(i)} = a_i (\text{mod}_{(q-1)}, \text{ for all } 1 \leq i \leq n\}$. For each $1 \leq i \leq n$, we have

$$U_i = U_{w_i}^- = U \cap U^{w_0 w_i} = \left\{ \left[egin{array}{cccc} 1 & & & \ & & \lambda & \ & & \lambda & \ & & 1 \end{array}
ight] i \ ; \ \lambda \in F
ight\}$$

Therefore we have the following

Lemma 2.2. For each $1 \le i \le n$, we have

(1) $_{\pi}U_i, U_{-i}\phi = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & SL(2, F_q) & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} i \\ i+1 \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$

Proof. (1) We have
$$U_{-i} = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & \\ & \lambda & \\ & & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} i; \ \lambda \in F_q \right\}$$
, Hence

$$\pi U_i, U_{-i}\phi = \pi U_i \cup U_{-i}\phi \le \pi U_i, U_{-i}\phi = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & & \\ & SL(2, F_q) & & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{array}{c} i \\ i+1 \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

On the other hand the group $SL(2, F_q)$ is generated by

$$\left\{ \left[\begin{array}{cc} 1 & \lambda \\ & \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} \right], \left[\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 0 \\ & \\ \mu & 1 \end{array} \right]; \ \lambda, \mu \in F_q \right\}$$

(see [2], Lemma 6.1.1) which gives the other inclusion. (2) is clear from (1)

From the above lemma 2.2 we can easily deduce the following lemma which describes the set $P(\chi)$

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that $\chi = \chi_{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n}$ and $w_i \in R$. Then $w_i \in P(\chi)$ if and only if $a_i = a_{i+1}$.

The function $h_i: U_i^* \to H_i$ which is determined by the structure equation plays a fundamental role in the defining relations of B_{χ} . The following determines this function for the general linear group.

Lemma 2.4. (The structure equation for GL(n,q))

For each $w_i \in R$ and $x \in F_q$, we have

$$(w_i)^{-1}u_i(x)(w_i) = u(-x^{-1})h_i(x)(w_i)u_i(-x^{-1})$$

where

$$u_i(x) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & & \\ & x & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \xleftarrow{i} \qquad \Box$$

A Parameterization Of The Blocks Of E

Now suppose that $\chi = \chi_{a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n} \in H$. Define a relation \sim on the set $\underline{n} = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$ as follows :

If $i, j \in \underline{n}$ then $i \sim j \Leftrightarrow a_i \equiv a_j \pmod{q-1}$. It is clear that \sim is an equivalence relation on \underline{n} . Let n_1, n_2, \dots, n_t be the equivalence \sim -classes of \underline{n} . Then clearly we have $W_{\chi} = S(n_1) \times S(n_2) \times \dots \times S(n_t)$ where $S(n_i) = \{w \in W; w(j) = j \forall j \in \underline{n} - n_i\}$. From the W-action on \hat{H} we can pick an element $\lambda \in (\chi)$ for which n_1, n_2, \dots, n_t are intervals in $\underline{n} = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$; i.e. $n_i = \{i, i+1, \dots, m-1, m\}$ for some $1 \leq i\pi m \leq n$, in which case $W_{\lambda} = W_{P(\lambda)}$. Therefore each W-orbit (χ) of \hat{H} determines a partition $p(n, \chi)$ of n and we say that the block B_{χ} is of type $p(n, \chi)$. Summarizing we have

Proposition 2.5. Take G = GL(n, q)

- (1) For each $h \in \hat{H}$ there is $\lambda \in (\chi)$ such that $W_{\lambda} = W_{p(\lambda)}$.
- (2) The non-stable blocks of the modular Hecke algebra E can be parameterized by the partitions of n. In fact E has p(n) types of such blocks where p(n) is the number of partitions of n.

§3. The central elements of B_{λ}

In this section we consider the central elements of the block B_{λ} for the group G = GL(n,q). As before we take $x = \sum_{\lambda \in (\chi), w \in W_{\lambda}} c_{\lambda,w} e_{\lambda} a_{(w)}$ and investigate the behavior of the central coefficients ; that are the coeffi-

cients $c_{\lambda,w} \in k$ which makes x belongs to the center of B_{λ} . Basically we shall be using proposition 1.3.

Proposition 3.1. Suppose that $v \in W_{\lambda}$; $\lambda \in (\chi)$. If there exists $w_i \in R - P(\lambda)$ such that $w_i v \neq vw_i$, $\lambda(w_i v)\phi\lambda(v)$ and $\lambda(vw_i)\phi\lambda(v)$, then $c_{\lambda,v} = 0$.

Proof. It is clear from the multiplication rule in 1.1(3) that $c_{\lambda,v} =$ coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_{w_iv}$ in xa_{w_i} , while the coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_{w_iv}$ in a_{w_ix} is 0. The result follows by comparing coefficients since $e_{\lambda}a_v : \lambda \in (\chi), v \in W_{\lambda}$ are linearly independent.

For $w_i \in R$, write $W^i = \{w \in W; w = w_i x \text{ for some } x \in W\}$, ${}^iW = \{w \in W; w = w_i x \text{ for some } x \in W\}$ and ${}^iW^i = {}^iW \cap W^i$.

Proposition 3.2. $c_{\lambda,v} = 0$ for all $\lambda \in (\chi), v \in W^*_{P(\lambda)}$.

Proof. We are assuming that $P(\lambda) \neq R$, hence $W_{P(\lambda)} \neq W$. Therefore there exist $w_i \in P(\lambda)$ such that $v = ww_i \in W^i - {}^iW$. For if $v \in W^i \cap {}^iW \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, then $v = w_0 \in W_{P(\lambda)}$ and so $P(\lambda) = R$ which contradicts our assumption. From 1.1 and (*), since $xa_{(w_i)} = a_{(w_i)}x$, $v \in W^i$ and $w_i \in P(\lambda)$, we have $-c_{\lambda,v} =$ coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_v$ in $a_{w_i}x$ (note that $\lambda_i = -1$). On the other hand $e_{\lambda}a_v$ is not involved in xa_{w_i} since $v \notin {}^iW$, therefore $c_{\lambda,v} = 0$.

As a result of the last proposition we have the following restriction for the index set of the central coefficients to double cosets of certain reflection subgroups of W.

Corollary 3.3. If $c_{\lambda,v}$; $v \in W^*_{\lambda}$ is non-zero central coefficient then

$$v \in W_{P(\lambda)} x W_{P(\lambda)}$$
 for some $x \notin W_{P(\lambda)}$.

Proposition 3.4. If $\lambda \in (x)$, $v \in W_{\lambda}$, $w_i \in P(\lambda)$ are such that $vw_i \neq w_i v$, $\lambda(vw_i)\phi\lambda(v)$ and $\lambda(w_i v)\phi\lambda(v)$. Then $c_{\lambda,v} = c_{\lambda,vw_i} = c_{\lambda,w_i v}$.

Proof. Since $w_i \in P(\lambda)$, the coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_{w_iv}$ in xa_{w_i} is $c_{\lambda,v} - c_{\lambda,w_iv}$ and 0 in $a_{w_i}x$, since $vw_i \neq w_iv$. Hence $c_{\lambda,v} = c_{\lambda,w_iv}$. Similarly for the other equality.

Proposition 3.5. If $\lambda, \mu \in (\chi)$, $v \in W_{\lambda} \cap W_{\mu}$ and $w_i \in R - (P(\lambda) \cup P(\mu))$ are such that $\lambda = w_i \mu$, $vw_i = w_i v$, $\lambda(vw_i)\phi\lambda(v)$ and $\lambda(w_i v)\phi\lambda(v)$. Then $c_{\lambda,v} = c_{\mu,v}$.

Proof. Writing

 $x = \dots + c_{\lambda,v}e_{\lambda}a_v + \dots + c_{w_i\lambda,v}e_{w_i\lambda}a_{vw_i} + \dots + c_{\mu,v}e_{\mu}a_v + \dots + c_{w_i\mu,vw_i}e_{w_i\mu}a_{vw_i}$

then since $w_i \notin (P(\lambda) \cup P(\mu))$, we have $a_{w_i} e_{w_i \lambda} a_{vw_i} = 0 = a_{w_i} e_{w_i \mu} a_{vw_i}$ and since $\lambda = w_i \mu$, $vw_i = w_i v$, we have $a_{w_i} e_{\lambda} a_v = e_{\mu} a_{vw_i} = e_{\mu} a_v a_{w_i}$. Therefore

 $c_{\lambda,v} = \text{coefficient of } a_{w_i} e_{\lambda} a_v \text{ in } a_{w_i} x$

= coefficient of $e_{\mu}a_{v}a_{w_{i}}$ in $xa_{w_{i}} = C_{\mu,v}$

Proposition 3.6. If $\lambda, \mu \in (\chi)$, $v \in W_{\lambda}, w \in W_{\mu}, w_i \in R - (P(\lambda) \cup P(\mu))$ are such that $\lambda = w_i \mu, ww_i = w_i v, w \in {}^iW - W^i, v \in W^i - {}^iW$. Then $c_{\lambda,v} = c_{\mu,w}$.

Proof. Write $x = \cdots + c_{\lambda,v}e_{\lambda}a_v + \cdots + c_{\mu w}e_{\mu}a_w + \cdots$ Since $\lambda = w_i\mu$, $ww_i = w_iv$, $w \in {}^iW - W^i$ and $v \in W^i - {}^iW$, we have $c_{\lambda,v} = \text{coefficient of } e_{\mu}a_{wiw}$ in $xa_{w_i} = C_{\mu,w}$.

For $\chi \in \hat{H}$, define $\Omega(\chi, W) = \{(\lambda, v), \lambda \in (\chi), v \in W_{\lambda}\}$ and write $\Omega^*(\chi, W) = \{(\lambda, v) \in \Omega(x, W) : e_{\lambda}a_v \text{ is involved in the centre }\}$

The following determines the non-zero central coefficients

Proposition 3.7. Suppose that $x = \sum_{\lambda \in (\chi), w \in W_{\lambda}} c_{\lambda, w} e_{\lambda} a_{(w)} \in Z(B_{\chi})$. Then $c_{\lambda, v} = 0$ if and only if there exist

a sequence $(\mu, w), (\alpha, u), \dots, (\beta, h) \in \Omega(x, W)$ such that $c_{\lambda,v} = c_{\mu,w} = c_{\alpha,u} = \dots = c_{\beta,h}$ and the conditions of 3.1 are satisfied for the pair (β, h) .

 \square

Proof. (\Leftarrow) is clear. To prove the other direction assume that $c_{\lambda,v} = 0$. Since $x \in Z(B_{\chi})$ we have $xa_{(w_i)} = a_{(w_i)}x$ for all $w_i \in R$. Therefore by comparing coefficients in such equations for a sequence of generators in R we get a sequence $(\mu, w), (\alpha, \mu), \dots, (\beta, h) \in \Omega(\chi, W)$ such that the conditions in the proposition are satisfied.

For $T \subseteq \Omega^*(\chi, W)$, we write $A_T = \sum_{(\lambda, v) \in T} e_\lambda a_v$. Then the following determines when A_T is central operator of B_{χ} . Note that the number of such T gives dim $Z(B_{\chi})$

operator of $D\chi$. Note that the number of such 1 gives $\dim Z(D\chi)$

Theorem 3.8. If $T \subseteq \Omega^*(\chi, W)$ then $A_T \in Z(B_{\chi})$ if and only if for all $(\lambda, v) \in T$ and all $w_i \in R$; one of the following holds

- (1) $v \in {}^{i}W \cap W^{i}$.
- (2) $v \notin {}^{i}W \cup W^{i}$ and $e_{\lambda}a_{w_{i}v} = e_{w_{i}\mu}a_{xw_{i}}$ for some $(\mu, x) \in T$.
- (3) $v \in W^i {}^iW, w_i \in P(\lambda) \text{ and } (\lambda, vw_i) \in A.$
- (4) $v \in {}^{i}W W^{i}, w_{i} \in P(\lambda) \text{ and } (\lambda, w_{i}v) \in A.$

Proof. Write $A_T = \cdots + e_\lambda a_v + \cdots$. We have $A_T \in Z(B_x)$ if and only if $A_T a_{w_i} = a_{w_i} A_T$ for all $w_i \in R$. But from the presentation of B_{χ} we have

$$e_{\lambda}a_{v}a_{w_{i}} = \begin{cases} e_{\lambda}a_{w_{i}v} & if \quad \lambda(w_{i}v)\phi\lambda(v) \\ -e_{\lambda}a_{v} & if \quad \lambda(w_{i}v)\pi\lambda(v) \text{ and } w_{i} \in P(\lambda) \\ 0 & if \quad \lambda(w_{i}v)\pi\lambda(v) \text{ and } w_{i} \notin P(\lambda) \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

and

$$a_{w_i}e_{\lambda}a_v = \begin{cases} e_{w_i\lambda}a_{vw_i} & if \quad \lambda(vw_i)\phi\lambda(v) \\ -e_{\lambda}a_v & if \quad \lambda(vw_i)\pi\lambda(v) \text{ and } w_i \in P(\lambda) \\ 0 & if \quad \lambda(vw_i)\pi\lambda(v) \text{ and } w_i \notin P(\lambda) \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Now if $v \in {}^{i}W \cap W^{i}$, then $\lambda(vw_{i})\pi\lambda(v)$ and $\lambda(w_{i}v)\pi\lambda(v)$ and so the coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_{v}$ in $a_{w_{i}}A_{T}$ = the coefficient of $e_{\lambda}a_{v}$ in $A_{T}a_{w_{i}}$. If $v \notin {}^{i}W \cup W^{i}$ then $\lambda(w_{i}v)\phi\lambda(v)$ and $\lambda(vw_{i})\phi\lambda(v)$ and so by 3.9 and 3.10 we must have $e_{\lambda}a_{w_{i}v} = e_{w_{i}\mu}a_{xw_{i}}$ for some $(\mu, x) \in T$. If $v \in W^{i} - {}^{i}W$, $w_{i} \in P(\lambda)$ then $\lambda(vw_{i})\pi\lambda(v)$ and so, again by 3.9 and 3.10, we must have $(\lambda, vw_{i}) \in A$. The last case is similar.

The following determines those T in 3.8 whose cardinal is one

Proposition 3.11. $e_{\lambda}a_v \in Z(B_{\chi})$ if and only if

(1) $\forall w_i \notin P(\lambda); v \in {}^iW \cap W^i$

(2)
$$\forall w_i \in P(\lambda)$$
; eighther $[v \in {}^iW \cup W^i]$
or $[\lambda(vw_i), \lambda(w_iv)\phi\lambda(v) \wedge vw_i = w_iv]$

As a corollary we have the following

Corollary 3.9. If $w_0 \in W_{\lambda}$ for some $\lambda \in (\chi)$ then $e_{\lambda}a_{w_0} \in Z(B_{\chi})$.

§4. Examples

In this section we present some examples in the cases n = 4, 5 and 6. To simplify notation we shall write a_{ijk} for the Hecke algebra basis element $a_{w_iw_jw_k\cdots}$

(1) n = 4 and $\chi = \chi_{a,a,b,b}$; $a \neq b \pmod{q-1}$. Hence B_{χ} is of type 2^2 , $W_{\chi} = \pi w_1, w_3 \phi$ $(\chi) = \{\chi, \theta = \chi_{b,b,a,a}, \alpha = \chi_{b,a,b,a}, \beta = \chi_{b,a,b,a}, \mu = \chi_{b,a,a,b}, \gamma = \chi_{a,b,b,a}\}$ and $Z(B_{\gamma}) =$ $k \cdot e_{(\chi)} \oplus k \cdot e_{\mu}a_{12321} \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{12321} \oplus k \cdot e_{\mu}a_{w_0} \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{w_0}$ where $w_0 = w_1w_2w_3w_2w_1w_2$ (2) n = 5 and $\chi = \chi_{a,a,a,b,b}$; $a \neq b \pmod{q-1}$. Hence B_{χ} is of type (3.2), $W_{\chi} = \pi w_1, w_2, w_4 \phi,$ $\beta = \chi_{b,a,b,a,a}, \ \eta = \chi_{b,a,a,b,a}, \ \xi = \chi_{b,a,a,a,b}$, and $Z(B_{\gamma}) =$ $k \cdot e_{(\chi)} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\mu}a_{1234321} + e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} + e_{\lambda}a_{1234321} + e_{\delta}a_{12321} + e_{\tau}a_{12321}) \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{1234321232} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{121} + e_{\delta}a_{121}) \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{1234321232} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{121} + e_{\delta}a_{121}) \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{121} + e_{\delta}a_{121}) \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{121} + e_{\delta}a_{121}) \oplus k \cdot e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{121} + e_{\delta}a_{121}) \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} + e_{\delta}a_{1234321} + e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234321} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{12343421} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{12343421} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{12343421} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{1234444} \oplus e_{\delta}a_{$ (3) n = 5 and $\chi = \chi_{a,a,b,b,c}$; $a \neq b$, $a \neq c \pmod{q-1}$. Hence B_{χ} is of type $2^2 1$, $W_{\chi} = \pi w_1, w_3 \phi$. In this case $Z(B_x) =$ $k \cdot e_{(\chi)} \oplus k \cdot (e_{\mu}a_{1234321} + e_{\gamma}a_{1234321} + e_{\lambda}a_{1234321}) \oplus k \cdot (e_{\alpha}a_{1234321} + e_{\beta}a_{1234321}) \oplus k \cdot e_{(\sigma}a_{1234321} k \cdot e_{\theta}a_{w_0} \oplus k \cdot e_{\rho}a_{w_0}) \oplus k \cdot e_{(\sigma}a_{1234321} + e_{\beta}a_{1234321}) \oplus k \cdot e_{(\sigma}a_{1234324} + e_{\beta}a_{1234324}) \oplus k \cdot e_{(\sigma}a_{1$ where $\mu = \chi_{a,c,b,b,a}, \ \gamma = \chi_{a,c,a,b,b}, \ \lambda = \chi_{a,b,b,c,a}, \ \alpha = \chi_{b,a,a,c,b}, \ \beta = \chi_{b,a,c,a,b}, \ \sigma = \chi, \ \theta = \chi_{a,c,a,b,b}, \ \rho = \chi_{b,a,c,a,b}.$ (4) n = 5 and $\chi = \chi_{b,a,a,a,a}$; $a \neq b \pmod{q-1}$. Hence B_{χ} is of type (4,1) and $W_{\chi} = \pi w_2, w_3, w_4 \phi$. In this case $Z(B_{\chi}) = k \cdot e_{(\chi)} \oplus$ $k \cdot (e_{\alpha}a_{121} + e_{\alpha}a_{1213} + e_{\alpha}a_{3121} + e_{\alpha}a_{43121} + e_{\alpha}a_{31214} + e_{\alpha}a_{12134} + e_{\alpha}a_{41213} + e_{\alpha}a_{1214} + e_{\gamma}a_{232} + e_{\gamma}a_{2321} + e_{\gamma}a_{1232} + e_{\gamma}a_{123} + e$

 $\begin{array}{l} e_{\gamma}a_{2324} + e_{\gamma}a_{4232} + e_{\gamma}a_{12324} + e_{\gamma}a_{41232} + e_{\gamma}a_{23214} + e_{\gamma}a_{42321} + e_{\lambda}a_{343} + e_{\lambda}a_{34312} + e_{\lambda}a_{23431} + e_{\lambda}a_{12343} + e_{\lambda}a_{34321} + e_{\lambda}a_{23431} + e_{\lambda}a_{23431} + e_{\lambda}a_{23432} + e_{\lambda}a_{34321} + e_{\lambda}a_{23431} + e_{\lambda}a_{23432} + e_{\lambda}a_{2324} + e_{\lambda}a_{23432} + e_{\lambda}a_{2324} + e_{\lambda}a_$

References

- Cabanes, M. : Extension groups for modular Hecke algebras, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Math. Sect. IA Math. 36 (1989) 347-362.
- [2] Carter, R. : Simple group of Lie Type, Wiley 1972.
- [3] Curtis, C. : Modular representations of finite groups with split BN-pairs, in "Lecture notes in mathematics" Vol. 131, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1970.
- [4] Curtis, C. and Riener, I. : Methods of representation theory, Vol.2, Wiley Interscience 1985.
- [5] Khammash, A.: On the blocks of modular Hecke algebras, J. Algebra, Vol.155, No.2 (1993) 545-554.
- [6] Norton, P.: *0-Hecke algebras*, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A, 27 (1979) 337-357.
- [7] Sawada, H.: A characterization of the modular representations of finite groups with split BN-pairs, Math. Z. 155 (1977) 29-41.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

IDEALS AND SYMMETRIC (σ, σ) -BIDERIVATIONS ON PRIME RINGS

Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar

Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh 202002, India E-mail: asma_ali2@rediffmail.com , deep_math1@yahoo.com

(Received January 05, 2006; Revised March 10, 2006)

Abstract. Let R be a ring. A symmetric biadditive mapping $D(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is called a symmetric biderivation if for any fixed $y \in R$, the mapping $x \mapsto D(x, y)$ is a derivation. The main result of the paper which is in sprit of the classical theorem of Posner [12, Theorem 2] and an extension of Vukman's result [14, Theorem 2], states that if a non-commutative prime ring R of characteristic different from 2, 3 and 5 admits a symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation D with trace f such that $[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] \in Z(R)$, for all $x \in I$, a nonzero ideal of R, then D = 0. Further some other results concerning biderivations are also obtained which extend the results proved by Posner [12, Theorem 1] and Vukman[13, Theorem 3 and Theorem 5].

1. Introduction

Throughout the paper R will denote an associative ring and Z(R), the centre of R. A ring R is said to be prime if aRb = 0 implies that a = 0 or b = 0. We shall write [x, y] = xy - yx and use the identities [xy, z] = [x, z]y + x[y, z] and [x, yz] = [x, y]z + y[x, z]. An additive mapping $d : R \longrightarrow R$ is called a derivation if d(xy) = d(x)y + xd(y), holds for all $x, y \in R$. A derivation d is inner if there exists an element $a \in R$, such that d(x) = [a, x], holds for all $x \in R$. A mapping $D(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be symmetric if D(x, y) = D(y, x), holds for all pairs $x, y \in R$. A mapping $f : R \longrightarrow R$ defined by f(x) = D(x, x), where $D(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is a symmetric mapping, is called the trace of D. It is obvious that in case $D(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is a symmetric mapping which is also biadditive (i.e. additive in both arguments), the trace f of D satisfies the relation f(x + y) = f(x) + f(y) + 2D(x, y), for all $x, y \in R$. Let σ and τ be automorphisms on R. A symmetric biadditive mapping $D(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be a symmetric (σ, τ) -biderivation if $D(xy, z) = D(x, z)\sigma(y) + \tau(x)D(y, z)$ is satisfied, for all $x, y, z \in R$. Obviously, in this case also $D(x, yz) = D(x, y)\sigma(z) + \tau(y)D(x, z)$, for all $x, y, z \in R$.

In 1980, Gy. Maksa [7] introduced the concept of symmetric biderivation (see also [8], where an example can be found). It was shown in [8] and [16] that symmetric biderivations are related to general solution of some functional equations. Some results on symmetric biderivation in prime and semiprime rings can be found in [13] and [14]. The notion of additive commuting mappings is closely connected with the notion of biderivations. Every commuting additive mapping $f: R \to R$ gives rise to a biderivation on R. Namely linearizing [f(x), x] = 0, for all $x \in R$, we get [f(x), y] = [x, f(y)], for all $x, y \in R$ and hence we note that the mapping $(x, y) \to [f(x), y]$ is a biderivation (moreover, all derivations appearing are inner).

There has been considerable interest for commuting, centralizing and related mappings in prime (semiprime) rings (see [1][2][4][9][10][11][15], where further references can be found). The most fundamental result in the theory of centralizing mappings is a theorem of Posner [12, Theorem 2], which states that if a derivation d of a non-commutative ring R satifies $[d(x), x] \in Z(R)$, for all $x \in R$, then d = 0. A number of authors have extended Posner's theorem in several directions. Vukman [14] proved that if R is a non-commutative prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and 3 and if $D(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is a symmetric biderivation with trace f such that the mapping $x \longmapsto [f(x), x]$ is centralizing for all $x \in I$, a nonzero ideal of R, then D = 0. The main result of the present paper extends the above mentioned results for symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation.

Keywords and phrases : Prime rings, Symmetric biderivations, (σ, σ) -biderivations, torsion free rings. AMS Subject Classification : 16W25, 16N60.

2. We begin with the following lemmas

Lemma 2.1 ([16, Lemma 2.1 and 2.2]). Let $d: R \to R$ be a derivation of a prime ring R and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Suppose that either (i) ad(x) = 0, for all $x \in I$ or (ii) d(x)a = 0, for all $x \in I$ holds. Then either a = 0 or d = 0.

Lemma 2.2 ([17, Lemma 3]). Let R be a 2-torsion free prime ring and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Let a, b be fixed elements of R. If axb + bxa = 0, for all $x \in I$, then either a = 0 or b = 0.

Lemma 2.3. Let R be a 2-torsion free prime ring and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Suppose that σ is an automorphism of R and $D(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ is a symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation with trace f. If f(x) = 0, for all $x \in I$, then f = 0 and hence D = 0.

Proof. We have

$$f(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$

$$(2.1)$$

Linearizing (2.1) and using 2-torsion freeness of R, we get

$$D(x,y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(2.2)$$

Now replacing y by xr in (2.2), we obtain

$$\sigma(x)D(x,r) = 0, \quad \text{for all } x \in I, \ r \in R.$$
(2.3)

Again replacing r by r_1r in (2.3) and using (2.3), we have $\sigma(x)\sigma(r_1)D(x,r) = 0$, for all $x \in I$ and $r, r_1 \in R$ that is, $\sigma(x)RD(x,r) = (0)$. Since R is prime, we find that either $\sigma(x) = 0$ or D(x,r) = 0. If $\sigma(x) = 0$ then x = 0. Hence, in both the cases D(x,r) = 0, for all $x \in I$ and $r \in R$. Now replacing x by xr and using D(x,r) = 0, for all $x \in I$ and $r \in R$, we find that $\sigma(x)f(r) = 0$, for all $x \in I$ and $r \in R$. Substituting zr_1 for x to get $\sigma(z)\sigma(r_1)f(r) = 0$, for all $z \in I$ and $r_1, r \in R$. Hence $\sigma(z)Rf(r) = (0)$. Again primeness of R gives that either $\sigma(z) = 0$ or f(r) = 0. If $\sigma(z) = 0$, then z = 0, which is a contradiction. Hence f(r) = 0, for all $r \in R$ i.e., D(r, r) = 0. Now linearization on r yields that 2D(r, s) = 0, for all $r, s \in R$. Since R is 2-torsion free, we have D(r, s) = 0 i.e., D = 0.

3. Main Results

Theorem 3.1. Let R be a non-commutative prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and 3 and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Let σ be an automorphism of R and $D(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ be a symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation with trace f. If $[f(x), \sigma(x)] \in Z(R)$, for all $x \in I$, then D = 0.

Proof. We have

$$[f(x), \sigma(x)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x \in I.$$

$$(3.1)$$

Linearizing (3.1), we get

$$[f(x), \sigma(y)] + [f(y), \sigma(x)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(x)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.2)

Substituting -x for x, we have

$$[f(x), \sigma(y)] + [f(y), \sigma(x)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(x)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.3)

Comparing (3.2) and (3.3), we obtain

$$[f(x), \sigma(y)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(x)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.4)$$

Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations ...

Replacing y by x^2 in (3.4) and using (3.1), we have $6[f(x), \sigma(x)]\sigma(x) \in Z(R)$. Since R is of characteristic different from 2 and 3, it follows that

$$[f(x), \sigma(x)]\sigma(x) \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

This implies that

$$[f(x), \sigma(x)][r, \sigma(x)] = 0, \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in I, r \in R.$$

$$(3.5)$$

Let us write rf(x) instead of r, to arrive at

$$[f(x), \sigma(x)]r[f(x), \sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I, r \in R.$$

$$(3.6)$$

That is $[f(x), \sigma(x)]R[f(x), \sigma(x)] = (0)$, implies that

$$[f(x), \sigma(x)] = 0, \quad \text{for all} \quad x \in I, r \in R.$$
(3.7)

Arguing in the similar manner as we have done above to get (3.4) from (3.1), (3.7) at once yields that

$$[f(x), \sigma(y)] + 2[D(x, y), \sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.8)

Replacing y by yx in (3.8), we find that

$$\begin{split} & [f(x),\sigma(y)]\sigma(x) + \sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + 2[D(x,y),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x) \\ & + 2[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)]f(x) + 2\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x,y \in I. \end{split}$$

Now application of (3.7) and (3.8), gives that

$$[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)]f(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.9)

Replacing y by yz in (3.9) and using (3.9), we obtain $[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)]\sigma(z)f(x) = 0$, for all $x, y, z \in I$. That is, $[y,x]IR\sigma^{-1}f(x) = (0)$, for all $x, y \in I$. The primeness of R gives that for each fixed $x \in I$, either [y,x]I = (0) or f(x) = 0. This implies that for each $x \in I$, [y,x] = 0 or f(x) = 0. Since R is a non-commutative prime ring and I is a nonzero ideal of R, it follows that I is also non-commutative. Thus for each fixed $x \in I$, $[y,x] \neq 0$, for all $y \in I$. Hence f(x) = 0, for all $x \in I$, i.e., D = 0.

Theorem 3.2. Let R be a non-commutative prime ring of characteristic different from 2, 3 and 5. Let I be a nonzero ideal of R and σ be an automorphism of R. Suppose there exists a symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation $D(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ such that $\sigma(x) \longmapsto [f(x), \sigma(x)]$ is centralizing for all $x \in I$, where f denotes the trace of D. Then D = 0.

Proof. Linearizing the relation

 $[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x \in I,$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} & [[f(y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)] + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] \\ & + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] \\ & + [[f(y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(y)] \\ & + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x,y \in I. \end{split}$$

Replacing x by -x, we get

$$\begin{split} & [[f(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] - 2[[D(x, y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] - [[f(x), \sigma(y)], \sigma(x)] \\ & + 2[[D(x, y), \sigma(y)], \sigma(x)] - [[f(y), \sigma(y)], \sigma(x)] - [[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(y)] \end{split}$$

(3.10)

Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar

$$\begin{split} -[[f(y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(y)] \\ -2[[D(x,y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \ \ \text{for all} \ \ x,y \in I. \end{split}$$

Comparing the above relations and using the fact that R is of characteristic different from 2, we obtain

$$2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)]$$

$$+[[f(y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] + 2[[D(x,y),\sigma(y)],\sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.11)

Again replacing x by 2x in (3.11) and comparing the relation so obtained with (3.11), we get

$$2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] \in Z(R), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.12)

Let us write x^2 instead of y in (3.12) and use (3.10), to arrive at $8[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]\sigma(x) \in Z(R)$. Since characteristic of R is different from 2, it follows that $[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]\sigma(x) \in Z(R)$. Application of (3.10) yields that

$$[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)][\sigma(x), \sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.13)

Now we intend to prove that

$$[[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$

$$(3.14)$$

There is nothing to prove in case $x \in Z(R)$. If $x \notin Z(R)$, then the relation (3.13) yields that $\sigma^{-1}([[f(x), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)])RI[x, y] = (0)$, for all $x, y \in I$. In view of the fact that R is non-commutative and I is a nonzero ideal of R, relation (3.14) holds. Now using the similar techniques as we have used to get (3.12) from (3.10), we obtain

$$2[[D(x,y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(y)],\sigma(x)] + [[f(x),\sigma(x)],\sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I$$
(3.15)

Substituting zy for y in (3.15), we get

Now using (3.15) and writing x instead of z, we obtain

$$5[f(x), \sigma(x)][\sigma(y), \sigma(x)] + 2f(x)[[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.17)

Again replace y by x and z by y in (3.16), to get

$$5[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)][f(x), \sigma(x)] + 2[[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]f(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.18)

Let us write zy instead of y in (3.18), to arrive at

$$5[f(x), \sigma(x)]\sigma(z)[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)] + 2f(x)\sigma(z)[[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]$$

+4f(x)[\sigma(z), \sigma(x)][\sigma(y), \sigma(x)] = 0, for all $x, y, z \in I.$ (3.19)

In particular, writing $z = x\sigma^{-1}(f(x))$ in (3.19), we obtain

$$5[f(x), \sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x)[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)] + 2f(x)\sigma(x)[[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]$$

+4f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x), \sigma(x)][\sigma(y), \sigma(x)] = 0, for ε `1 x, y \in I. (3.20)

Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations ...

Multiplying (3.17) on the left by $f(x)\sigma(x)$, we have

$$5f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)][\sigma(y),\sigma(x)]+2f(x)\sigma(x)f(x)[[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)],\sigma(x)]=0,$$

for all
$$x, y \in I$$
. (3.21)

Combine (3.20) and (3.21), to get

$$(5[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x) - f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)])[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.22)$$

Replacing y by ry in (3.22), we get

$$(5[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x) - f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)])\sigma(r)[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)] = 0,$$

for all $x, y \in I, r \in R.$ (3.23)

That is $\sigma^{-1}(5[f(x), \sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x) - f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x), \sigma(x)])R[y, x] = (0)$, for all $x, y \in I$. Since R is a non-commutative prime ring and I is a nonzero ideal of R, it follows that I is also non-commutative. Hence, for each $y \in I$, $[y, x] \neq 0$, yields that

$$5[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x) - f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.24)

Replacing yz for y in (3.18) and arguing as above, we have

$$[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)](5f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)]-[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x))=0, \ \text{ for all } x\in I.$$

Further repetition of the arguments which led to get (3.24) from (3.25), yields that

$$5f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)] - [f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)f(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.25)

Combining (3.24) and (3.25), we obtain

$$f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)] = 0, \text{ for all } x \in I.$$
(3.26)

Using the usual approach, first linearizing and substituting -x for x, (3.26) yields that

$$\begin{split} f(x)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(y)] + f(x)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 2f(x)\sigma(x)[D(x,y),\sigma(x)] \\ &+ f(y)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(y)] + f(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + f(y)\sigma(x)[D(x,y),\sigma(x)] \\ &+ 2D(x,y)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + 2D(x,y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 4D(x,y)\sigma(x)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] \\ &+ f(x)\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + f(x)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 2f(x)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] \\ &+ f(y)\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + f(y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 2f(y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] + \\ 2D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(y)] + 2D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 4D(x,y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(x)] = 0. \end{split}$$

Replacing x by 2x and comparing the relation, we find that

$$\begin{split} &12f(x)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 12f(y)\sigma(x)[f(x),\sigma(y)] + 15f(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + \\ &24f(y)\sigma(x)[D(x,y),\sigma(x)] + 24D(x,y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 48D(x,y)\sigma(x)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] + \\ &12f(x)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 24f(x)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] + 12f(y)\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + \\ &15f(y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 30f(y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] + 24D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(x),\sigma(y)] + \\ &30D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 48D(x,y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(x)] = 0, \quad \text{for all} \ x,y \in I. \end{split}$$

2.4

Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar

6.

Further putting 2x instead of x in the above relation, we obtain

$$90f(x)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)]+90f(y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)]+180f(y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)]$$

$$+180D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

Since the characteristic of R is different from 2, 3 and 5, it follows that

$$f(x)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + f(y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 2f(y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)]$$

$$+2D(x,y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.27)$$

Substituting xy for x in (3.27) and using it, we obtain

$$3f(y)\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 2f(y)\sigma(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.28)$$

Replacing x by yx in (3.28), we get

$$3f(x)\sigma(y)\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 2f(y)\sigma(y)\sigma(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.29)$$

Multiplying (3.28) on the left by $\sigma(y)$, we get

$$3\sigma(y)f(y)\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 2\sigma(y)f(y)\sigma(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.30)$$

Subtracting (3.30) from (3.31), we obtain

$$3[f(y),\sigma(y)]\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 2[f(y),\sigma(y)]\sigma(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.31)$$

Replacing y by yz in (3.18), we get

$$5[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)]\sigma(z)[d(x), \sigma(x)] + 2[[\sigma(y), \sigma(x)], \sigma(x)]\sigma(z)d(x)$$

$$+4[\sigma(y),\sigma(x)][\sigma(z),\sigma(x)]d(x)=0.$$

Writing $y = \sigma^{-1}(f(x))x$, we find that

$$5[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)\sigma(z)[f(x),\sigma(x)] + 4[f(x),\sigma(x)]\sigma(x)[\sigma(z),\sigma(x)]f(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x,y \in I.$$

Let us write y instead of x and x instead of z in the above relation, to arrive at

$$5[f(y),\sigma(y)]\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + 4[f(y),\sigma(y)]\sigma(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.32)$$

Relation (3.31) and (3.32), give

$$[f(y), \sigma(y)]\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y), \sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.33)

Replacing x by ry and using primeness of R, we find that either $\sigma(y)[f(y), \sigma(y)] = 0$ or $[f(y), \sigma(y)]\sigma(y) = 0$, for all $y \in I$. Hence in view of (3.14), we have

$$\sigma(y)[f(y), \sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } y \in I.$$
(3.34)

Again by the usual approach as used to get (3.12) from (3.10), we find that

$$\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + \sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 2\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.35)$$

Replacing x by yx in the above relation, we have

$$\sigma(y)\sigma(x)[f(y),\sigma(y)] + \sigma(y)\sigma(y)[f(y),\sigma(x)] + 2\sigma(y)f(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)]$$

+2\sigma(y)\sigma(y)[D(x,y),\sigma(y)] = 0, for all $x, y \in I.$ (3.36)

Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations ...

In view of (3.35), the above relation implies that

$$\sigma(y)f(y)[\sigma(x),\sigma(y)] = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.37)

Now relation (3.37) yields that $y\sigma^{-1}(f(x))IR[x,y] = (0)$, for all $x, y \in I$. Since R is prime, it follows that either $y\sigma^{-1}(f(x))I = (0)$ or [x,y] = 0. Since $I \neq (0)$ is a non-commutative ideal of R, we have $\sigma(y)f(y)I = (0)$, for all $y \in I$. This implies that

$$\sigma(y)f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } y \in I.$$
(3.38)

Linearizing (3.38), we have

$$\sigma(x)f(y) + \sigma(y)f(x) + 2\sigma(x)D(x,y) + \sigma(y)D(x,y) = 0, \text{ for all } y \in I.$$
(3.39)

Replacing x by -x in (3.39), we get

$$-\sigma(x)f(y) + \sigma(y)f(x) + 2\sigma(x)D(x,y) - \sigma(y)D(x,y) = 0, \text{ for all } y \in I.$$

$$(3.40)$$

Comparing (3.39) and (3.40), we obtain

$$\sigma(x)f(y) + 2\sigma(y)D(x,y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.41)

Multiplying (3.41) on the left by $[f(y), \sigma(y)]$, we have

$$[f(y), \sigma(y)]\sigma(x)f(y) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.42)

Replacing x by ry and using the above relation, we have

$$[f(y), \sigma(y)]\sigma(r)[f(y), \sigma(y)] = 0$$
, for all $y \in I, r \in R$.

That is $\sigma^{-1}[f(y), \sigma(y)]R\sigma^{-1}[f(y), \sigma(y)] = (0)$, for all $y \in I$. Thus the primeness of R yields that $[f(y), \sigma(y)] = 0$ and application of Theorem 3.1 completes the proof.

Vukman [13, Theorem 3] proved that if R is a prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and $D_1(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ and $D_2(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ are symmetric biderivations with traces f_1 and f_2 respectively such that $D_1(f_2(x), x) = 0$, holds for all $x \in R$, then either $D_1 = 0$ or $D_2 = 0$. We extend the above result for symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations as follows:

Theorem 3.3. Let R be a 2-torsion free prime ring and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Let σ and τ be automorphisms of R. Suppose there exist symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivation $D_1(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ and symmetric (τ, τ) -biderivation $D_2(.,.) : R \times R \longrightarrow R$ such that $D_1(f_2(x), \tau(x)) = 0$, for all $x \in I$, where f_1, f_2 are the traces of D_1 and D_2 respectively. Moreover, if $f_1\sigma = \sigma f_1$, $f_1\tau = \tau f_1$, $f_2\sigma = \sigma f_2$, $f_2\tau = \tau f_2$, then either $D_1 = 0$ or $D_2 = 0$.

Proof. We have

$$D_1(f_2(x), \tau(x)) = 0$$
, for all $x \in I$. (3.43)

Linearizing (3.43), we get

$$D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y)) + D_1(f_2(y),\tau(x)) + 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(x)) + 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(y)) = 0$$

This yields that

$$D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y)) + 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(x)) + 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(y)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.44)

Substituting in the above equation -x for x, we get

$$D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y)) + 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(x)) - 2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(y)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.45)

Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar

Comparing (3.44) and (3.45) and using the fact that $\operatorname{char} R \neq 2$, we have

$$D_1(f_2(x), \tau(y)) + 2D_1(D_2(x, y), \tau(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(2.46)

Replace y by xy in (3.46), to get

$$\{D_1(f_2(x), au(x)) + 2D_1(f_2(x), au(x))\}\sigma(au(y)) + 2f_1(au(x))\sigma(D_2(x, y))$$

$$+\sigma(\tau(x))\{D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y))+2D_1(D_2(x,y),\tau(x))\}+2\sigma(f_2(x))D_1(\tau(y),\tau(x))=0.$$

Now in view of (3.43) and (3.46), the above expression yields that

$$f_1(\tau(x))\sigma(D_2(x,y)) + \sigma(f_2(x))D_1(\tau(y),\tau(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.47)

We write yx instead of y in (3.47), to get

$$\{f_1(\tau(x))\sigma(D_2(x,y)) + \sigma(f_2(x))D_1(\tau(y),\tau(x))\}\sigma(\tau(x)) + f_1(\tau(x))\sigma(\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x))$$

 $+\sigma(f_2(x)\sigma(\tau(y))f_1(\tau(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$

Again using (3.46), we have

$$f_1(\tau(x))\sigma(\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x)) + \sigma(f_2(x)\sigma(\tau(y))f_1(\tau(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

Thus,

$$\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x))))y\tau^{-1}(f_2(x)) + \tau^{-1}(f_2(x))y\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x)))) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.48)

Application of Lemma 2.2 gives that for each $x \in I$, either $\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x)))) = 0$ or $\tau^{-1}(f_2(x)) = 0$. If $\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x)))) = 0$, then $f_1(x) = 0$. On the other hand, if $\tau^{-1}(f_2(x)) = 0$, then $f_2(x) = 0$. Hence, for each $x \in I$, either $f_1(x) = 0$ or $f_2(x) = 0$. Now assume that f_1 and f_2 are both different from zero on I i.e, there exist $x_1, x_2 \in I$ such that $f_1(x_1) \neq 0$ and $f_2(x_2) \neq 0$. In particular, $x = x_1$ in (3.48), yields that

$$\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x_1))))y\tau^{-1}(f_2(x_1)) + \tau^{-1}(f_2(x_1))y\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(\tau(f_1(x_1)))) = 0,$$

for all $x_1, y \in I$. Again by Lemma 2.2, we find that $f_2(x_1) = 0$. Similarly, we have $f_1(x_2) = 0$ i.e., $f_2(x_1) = f_1(x_2) = 0$. Since $f_1(x_2) = 0$, we get $f_2(x_2)D_1(\tau(y), \tau(x_2)) = 0$ by using (3.47). Since $f_2(x_2) \neq 0$, Lemma 2.1 yields that $D_1(\tau(y), \tau(x_2)) = 0$, for all $y \in I$ (recall that a mapping $y \mapsto D_1(\tau(y), \tau(x_2))$ is a derivation). In particular, we have $D_1(\tau(x_1), \tau(x_2)) = 0$. Similarly we can obtain that $D_2(\tau(x_1), \tau(x_2)) = 0$. Let us write y for $x_1 + x_2$. Then $f_1(y) = f_1(x_1 + x_2) = f_1(x_1) + f_1(x_2) + 2D(x_1, x_2) = f_1(x_1) \neq 0$. Similarly we can obtain $f_2(y) \neq 0$. But $f_1(y)$ and $f_2(y)$ can not be both different from zero according to (3.48) and Lemma 2.2. Hence we have either $f_1 = 0$ or $f_2 = 0$.

Motivated by another result of Posner [12, Theorem 1] which states that if R is a prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and d_1 , d_2 are derivations of R, such that d_1d_2 is a derivation, then at least one of d_1 , d_2 is zero, Vukman [13, Theorem 5] obtained the result for symmetric biderivations. Further we extend the above result for (σ, σ) -biderivations as follows:

Theorem 3.4. Let R be a prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and 3 and I be a nonzero ideal of R. Let σ and τ be automorphisms of R and $D_1(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$, $D_2(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ be symmetric (σ, σ) biderivation and symmetric (τ, τ) -biderivation respectively. Suppose there exists a symmetric biadditive mapping $B(.,.): R \times R \longrightarrow R$ such that $f_1(f_2(x)) = g(x)$ holds, for all $x \in I$, where f_1 and f_2 are the traces of D_1 and D_2 respectively and g is the trace of B such that $f_1\sigma = \sigma f_1$, $f_1\tau = \tau f_1$, $f_2\sigma = \sigma f_2$, $f_2\tau = \tau f_2$. Then either $D_1 = 0$ or $D_2 = 0$.

Proof. The linearization of the relation

$$f_1(f_2(x)) = g(x), \text{ for all } x \in I,$$
 (3.49)

Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations ...

gives, $f_1(f_2(x)) + f_1(f_2(y)) + 2D_1(f_2(x), f_2(y)) + 4f_1(D_2(x, y)) + 4D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) + 4D_1(f_2(y), D_2(x, y)) = g(x) + g(y) + 2B(x, y)$, for all $x, y \in I$.

Now using (3.49) and the fact that charecteristic of R is different from 2, we have

$$D_1(f_2(x),f_2(y))+2f_1(D_2(x,y))+2D_1(f_2(x),D_2(x,y))$$

$$+2D_1(f_2(y), D_2(x, y)) = B(x, y), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.50)

Replacing x by -x in (3.50), we find that

$$D_1(f_2(x), f_2(y)) - 2f_1(D_2(x, y)) - 2D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) + 2D_1(f_2(y), D_2(x, y)) = -B(x, y), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.51)

Comparing (3.50) and (3.51), we have

$$2D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) + 2D_1(f_2(y), D_2(x, y)) = B(x, y), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.52)$$

Let us write in (3.52), 2x instead of x, to arrive at

$$8D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) + 2D_1(f_2(y), D_2(x, y)) = B(x, y), \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

$$(3.53)$$

Again comparing (3.52) and (3.53), we have $6D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) = 0$, for all $x, y \in I$. Since the characteristic of R is different from 2 and 3, it follows that

$$D_1(f_2(x), D_2(x, y)) = 0$$
, for all $x, y \in I$. (3.54)

Application of (3.54) and (3.52), yields that B(x,y) = 0, i.e., B = 0. Hence (3.49) reduces to

$$f_1(f_2(x)) = 0$$
, for all $x, y \in I$. (3.55)

Now replacing y by yx in (3.52), we obtain

$$\sigma(D_2(x,y))D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) + D_1(f_2(x),D_2(x,y))\sigma(\tau(x)) + \sigma(\tau(y))f_1(f_2(x))$$

$$+D_1(f_2(x), \tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x)) = 0$$
, for all $x, y \in I$.

Using (3.54) and (3.55), we get

$$\sigma(D_2(x,y))D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) + D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$
(3.56)

Again substituting xy for y in (3.56), we have

$$\sigma(f_2(x))\sigma(\tau(y)D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) + D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x))\sigma(\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x))$$

 $+\sigma(\tau(x))\{(\sigma(D_2(x,y))D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x))+D_1(f_2(x),\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x))\}=0, \ \text{ for all } x,y\in I.$

Now (3.56) implies that

$$\sigma(f_2(x))\sigma(\tau(y))D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) + D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x))\sigma(\tau(y))\sigma(f_2(x)) = 0, \text{ for all } x, y \in I.$$

i.e., $f_2(x)\tau(y)\sigma^{-1}(D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x))) + \sigma^{-1}(D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)))\tau(y))f_2(x) = 0$ and we have $\tau^{-1}(f_2(x))y\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)))) + \tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x))))y\tau^{-1}(f_2(x)) = 0$, for all $x, y \in I$. Applying Lemma 2.2, we have either $\tau^{-1}(f_2(x)) = 0$ or $\tau^{-1}(\sigma^{-1}(D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)))) = 0$. This implies that for each $x \in I$, either $f_2(x) = 0$ or $D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) = 0$. If $f_2(x) = 0$, then $D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) = 0$. Hence in both the cases $D_1(f_2(x),\tau(x)) = 0$, for all $x \in I$. Thus by Theorem 3.3, we get the required result.

References

- Bell, H. E. and Martindale, W.S. : Centralizing mappings of semiprime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 30 (1987) 92-101.
- [2] Brešar, M. : On generalization of the notion of centralizing mappings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 114 (1992) 641-649.
- Brešar, M.: Commuting traces of biadditive mappings, commutativity preserving mappings and Lie mappings, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 335 (1993) 525-546.
- [4] Brešar, M. : Centralizing mappings and derivations in prime rings, J. Algebra 156 (1993) 385-394.
- [5] Brešar, M. : On generalized biderivations and related maps, J. Algebra 172 (1995) 764-786.
- [6] Brešar, M. and Vukman, J. : On some additive mappings in rings with involution, Aequationes Math. 38 (1989) 178-185.
- [7] Maksa, Gy. : A remark on symmetric biadditive functions having non-negative diagonalization, Glasnik. Mat. 15 (35) (1980) 279-282.
- [8] Maksa, Gy. : On the trace of symmetric biderivations, C. R. Math. Rep. Acad. Sci. Canada 9 (1987) 303-307.
- [9] Mayne, J. : Centralizing automorphisms of prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 19 (1976) 113-115.
- [10] Manye, J. : Ideals and centralizing mappings in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 86 (1982) 211-212. Erratum 89 (1983) 187.
- [11] Mayne, J. : Centralizing mappings of prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 27 (1984) 122-126.
- [12] Posner, E. C. : Derivations in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957) 1093-1100.
- [13] Vukman, J. : Symmetric biderivations on prime and semiprime rings, Aequationes Math. 38 (1989) 245-254.
- [14] Vukman, J.: Two results concerning symmetric biderivations on prime rings, Aequationes Math. 40 (1990) 181-189.
- [15] Vukman, J.: Commuting and centralizing mappings in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 109 (1990) 47-52.
- [16] Kaya, K. : Prime rings with α-derivations, Hacettepe Bull. of Noth. Sci. and Eng. 16 (1987) 63-71.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

ON EXACT SEQUENCES IN $B_{CI(r)}^{1/2}$

Shabbir Khan and Gulam Muhiuddin

Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh-202002, India E-mail : skhanamu@rediffmail.com ; gmchishty@yahoomail.com

(Received January 11, 2006)

Abstract. In this paper, we study some results on exact sequences in the category of BCI-algebra with regular morphisms.

1. Introduction

In 1966, K.Iseki [1] introduced the notion of a BCI-algebra which is a generalization of a BCK-algebra. The category of BCK-algebra with regular morphisms has been studied by Zaidi and Khan[3]. In this paper, we obtain some results on exact sequences in $B_{CI(r)}$.

2. Preliminaries

Definition 2.1.[1] Let X be a set with binary operation ' \star ' and a constant 0. Then, X is called BCI-algebra if the following axioms are satisfied for all $x, y, z \in X$:

- (i) $(x * y) * (x * z) \le z * y$,
- (*ii*) $x * (x * y) \le y$,
- (*iii*) $x \leq x$,
- $(iv) \ x \le 0 \implies x = 0,$
- (v) $x \leq y$ and $y \leq x \Longrightarrow x = y$,
- (vi) $x \leq y \iff x \star y = 0.$

Definition 2.2.[5] Let X and Y be BCI-algebras. Then, a mapping $f : X \to Y$ is called BCI-homomorphism if

$$f(x \star y) = f(x) \star f(y) \ \forall x, y \in X.$$

We shall denote the category of BCI-algebras by B_{CI} .

Definition 2.3.[3] A morphism $f: X \to Y$ in category B_{CI} is called regular morphism if Im(f) is an ideal.

Now we define the category of BCI-algebras with regular morphisms as follows:

Definition 2.4.[5] A sub-category of the category B_{CI} can be constructed by taking the class of all BCIalgebras as the class of objects of the category and the class of all regular morphisms as the class of morphisms of the category. We call this category as the category of BCI-algebras with regular morphisms and it is denoted by $B_{CI(r)}$.

¹ Keywords and phrases : BCI-algebras, regular morphisms, BCI-homomorphism and regular morphism.

² AMS Subject Classification : 18A20,18D05,06F35.

3. Main Results

Theorem 3.1. The sequence

 $A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \longrightarrow 0$

in $B_{CI(r)}$ is exact if and only if

- (a) gof = 0
- (b) If $h: B \to Y$ is a morphism in $B_{CI(r)}$, with hof = 0, then there exists a unique homomorphism $\mu: C \to Y$ such that $\mu og = h$ i.e., the diagram,

commutes.

Proof. Assume that the sequence

$$A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact in $B_{CI(r)}$, then $\operatorname{Im}(f) = \ker(g) \Longrightarrow gof = 0$. If $h : B \to Y$ is a morphism in $B_{CI(r)}$ with hof = 0, then $\operatorname{Im}(f) \subseteq \ker(h) \Longrightarrow \ker(g) \subseteq \ker(h)$. The sequence

$$A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact $\implies g$ is epic. Hence, there exists a unique morphism $\mu : C \to Y$ such that $\mu og = h$. Conversely, if (a) and (b) hold, then to show that the sequence

$$A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact. By (a) $gof = o \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(f) \subseteq \operatorname{ker}(g)$. Since f is a morphism in the category $B_{CI(r)}$, so $\operatorname{Im}(f)$ is an ideal of $B \Longrightarrow B/Im(f)$ is a BCI-algebra. Therefore, we have a natural morphism $\eta : B \to B/Im(f)$ with $\eta of = 0$. By (b), there exists a morphism $\mu : C \to B/Im(f)$ in $B_{CI(r)}$ such that the diagram,

commutes i.e., $\mu og = \eta$. Also, $\ker(g) \subseteq \ker(\mu og) = \ker(\eta) = \operatorname{Im}(f) \Longrightarrow \ker(g) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(f)$. Thus we have $\operatorname{Im}(f) = \ker(g)$.

Now to show that g is an epimorphism. Let $\eta_1, \eta_2 : C \to Y$ be morphisms in $B_{CI(r)}$ such that $\eta_1 og = \eta_2 og : B \to Y$.

Now, we put $h = \eta_1 og = \eta_2 og : B \to Y \Longrightarrow hof = (\eta_1 og) of = \eta_1 o(gof) = 0$ (since gof = 0 by (a)). By (b), it follows that h must be factored through g uniquely. But we have $h = \eta_1 og = \eta_2 og : B \to Y \Longrightarrow \eta_1 = \eta_2$, therefore, g is epic.

Which completes the proof.

Theorem 3.2. The sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$$

in $B_{CI(r)}$ is exact if and only if

(a) gof = 0

(b) If $h: X \to B$ is a BCI-homomorphism with goh = 0, then there exists a unique BCI-homomorphism $\eta: X \to A$ such that the diagram,

commutes.

Proof. Assume that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$$

is exact in $B_{CI(r)}$, then $\operatorname{Im}(f) = \ker(g) \Longrightarrow gof = 0$. Now the morphism $h: X \to B$ with $goh = 0 \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(h) \subseteq \ker(g) = \operatorname{Im}(f) \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(h) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(f)$. Since f is monic so there exists a unique morphism $\eta: X \to A$ such that the diagram,

commutes.

Conversely, if (a) and (b) hold, then to show that the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$$

is exact. By (a), $gof = 0 \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Im}(f) \subseteq \ker(g)$. Suppose $\ker(g) = X$, then the sequence $X \xrightarrow{i} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ is exact, where *i* is the inclusion map. Thus goi = 0. Hence (b) implies that there exists a unique morphism $\eta : X \to A$ such that $fo\eta = i$. So we have, $\ker(g) = \operatorname{Im}(i) = \operatorname{Im}(fo\eta) \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(f)$. Hence $\operatorname{Im}(f) = \ker(g) \Longrightarrow$ the sequence $0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ is exact at B.

Lastly, to show that f is monic. Let there be two morphisms $g_1, g_2 : X \to A$ such that $fog_1 = fog_2$. On putting $h = fog_1$ we have $goh = (gof)og_1 = 0$, by (b) we have $g_1 = g_2$, therefore, f is a monomorphism.

Theorem 3.3. Let

be a commutative diagram in the category $B_{CI(r)}$ such that the upper row is semi exact and the lower row is exact. Then, there exists a unique morphism $\eta: X \to A$ in $B_{CI(r)}$ such that the diagram,

is commutative.

Proof. Let the diagram,

be commutative. Then, $(goh)o\alpha = (po\beta)0\alpha = po(\beta 0\alpha) = po0 = 0$ (as the upper row is semi exact i.e., $\beta o\alpha = 0$).

 $\implies (goh)o\alpha = 0 \implies go(ho\alpha) = 0 \implies \operatorname{Im}(ho\alpha)$ is contained in $\ker(g) = \operatorname{Im}(f)$. Since the sequence $0 \longrightarrow A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C$ is exact $\implies f$ is a monomorphism, there exists a unique homomorphism $\eta: X \to A$ such that the diagram,

is commutative.

Theorem 3.4. Let

be a commutative diagram in the category $B_{CI(r)}$ such that the upper row is exact and the lower row is semi exact. Then, there exists a unique BCI-homomorphism $\theta: C \to Z$ such that the diagram,

is commutative.

Proof. Let the diagram,

be commutative in the category $B_{CI(r)}$. Then, $\beta o(hof) = \beta o(\alpha oq) = (\beta o\alpha)oq = 0 oq = 0$ (as the lower row is semi exact i.e. $\beta o\alpha = 0$).

 $\implies \beta o(hof) = 0 \implies (\beta oh)of = 0 \implies \operatorname{Im}(f) \subseteq \ker(\beta oh).$ Since the sequence $A \xrightarrow{f} B \xrightarrow{g} C \longrightarrow 0$ is exact $\implies \ker(g) \subseteq \ker(\beta oh) \text{ and } g \text{ is an epimorphism, thus there exists a unique morphism } \theta : C \to Z \text{ such that the diagram}$

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} A & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & B & \stackrel{g}{\longrightarrow} & C & \longrightarrow 0 \\ \downarrow q & & \downarrow h & & \downarrow \theta \\ X & \stackrel{\alpha}{\longrightarrow} & Y & \stackrel{\beta}{\longrightarrow} & Z \end{array}$$

is commutative.

References

- [1] Iseki, K.: An algebra related with a propositional caculus, Proc. Japan Acad. 42 (1966) 26-29.
- [2] Iseki, K. : On BCI-algebras, Math. Sem.Notes, Kobe Univ. 8 (1980) 125-130.
- [3] Zaidi, S.M.A. and Khan, S. : A note on the category of BCK-algebras with regular morphisms, Proc. of the International Conference on Algebra and its Applications (Eds: Tariq Rizvi, M.A. Quadri and M. Ashraf), A.M.U. Aligarh (2001) 305-315.

- [4] Iseki, K. and Tanaka, S. : An introduction to the theory of BCK-algebras, Math. Japonica 23 No.1 (1978) 1-26.
- [5] Hoo, C.S.: Injectives in the category of BCI-algebras, Math.Japonica 33(1988) 237-246.
- [6] Chaudhry, M.A. and Bhatti, S.A. : On the Category of BCI-algebras, Punjab University Journal of Math. 21 (1988) 34-39.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

A GENERALIZATION CONCEPT OF RIGHT ADJOINTNESS IN FUNCTORS

S.M.A. Zaidi

Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh-202002, India E-mail:zaidimath@rediffmail.com

(Received April 8, 2006)

Abstract. This article is devoted to the generalization of the Kan [5] right adjoint functor. We have constructed right adjoint systems, characterized them and applied to projective structures [7].

1. Introduction

The whole article divided into the five sections. Section 1 deals with characterization of right adjoint systems, Section 2 concern with the study of regularity of right adjoint system and right adjoint functor. In Section 3, we have introduced the product of right adjoint systems and obtained that it is also a right adjoint systems. In section 4, we induced the projective structure by right adjoint systems and obtained the existence of an exact projective structure. Lastly, in Section 5, we have constructed an example of a regular right adjoint systems. The development of this article mainly depends on the material given in Blyth[1], Eilenberg and Maclane[2], kan[5], Zaidi[6] etc.

2. Right adjoint systems

In this section, we have defined the right adjoint system of a functor and have obtained its characterization with the help of Hom functor [Theorems 2.1,2.2]. Theorem 2.3 deals with the equivalent conditions of right adjoint functor obtained through right adjoint system.

Definition 2.1. Let $S: C \to C'$ be a functor. A function $T: obC' \to obC$ together with a family of morphisms

$$\eta: \{\eta_{A'}: ST(A') \to A'\}_{A' \in C'}$$

will be called a right adjoint system of S if and only if for each morphism $f: S(A) \to A'$ there exists a morphism $g: A \to T(A')$ such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} S(A) & \xrightarrow{S(g)} & ST(A') \\ f & & \downarrow \eta_{A'} \\ & & \downarrow^{A'} \end{array}$$

is commutative i.e., $\eta_{A'}S(g) = f$. We shall denote it as $R_S(T,\eta)$. **Theorem 2.1.** For every right adjoint system $R_S(T,\eta)$ of a functor $S: C \to C'$ there exists a natural transformation between the functors

$$Hom_C(-, T(B')), Hom_{C'}(S-, B'): C^* \to Ens$$

for every object $B' \in C'$.

Proof. Suppose $R_S(T,\eta)$ is a right adjoint system of the functor $S: C \to C'$. Let $A \in C$ and $B' \in C'$ be arbitrary objects. Define a function

 $\alpha_{AB'}: Hom_C(A, T(B')) \to Hom_{C'}(S(A), B')$

Keywords and phrases : Functor, natural transformation, right adjoint functor, projective structure, regular projective structure.

AMS Subject Classification : 18A20, 18D05, 06F35.

by taking $\alpha_{AB'}(g) = \eta_{B'}S(g)$ for all $g \in Hom(A, T(B'))$.

By definition of right adjoint system it is clear that each function $\alpha_{AB'}$ is surjective. Consider the family of functions $\alpha_{B'} = {\alpha_{AB'}}_{A \in C}$. Now we will show that $\alpha_{B'}$ is required natural transformation. Let $f : A \to B$ be an arbitrary morphism in C. Then the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(B,T(B')) & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{BB'}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(S(B),B') \\ & & & & & \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(f,T(B')) \downarrow & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(A,T(B')) & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{AB'}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(S(A),B') \end{array}$$

is commutative.

For any morphism $g \in Hom_{C}(B, T(B'))$, we have $Hom_{C'}(S(f), B')\alpha_{BB'}(g) = Hom_{C'}(S(f), B')(\eta_{B'}S(g)) = (\eta_{B'}S(g))S(f) = \eta_{B'}(S(g)S(f)) = \eta_{B'}S(gf) = \alpha_{AB'}(gf) = \alpha_{AB'}(Hom_{C}(f, T(B'))(g)).$

This gives that above diagram is commutative. Hence,

$$\alpha_{B'}: Hom_C(-, T(B')) \to Hom_{C'}(S-, B')$$

is natural transformation.

Remark 2.1. It is obvious that each $\eta_{B'} = \alpha_{T(B')B'}(I_{T(B')})$. **Theorem 2.2.** Let $S: C \to C'$ be a functor. For any function $T: obC' \to obC$ and natural transformations

$$\alpha_{B'}: Hom_C(-, T(B')) \to Hom_{C'}(S-, B')$$

for all $B' \in C'$, with surjective $\alpha_{B'}(A)$ for all $A \in C$, there exists a right adjoint system of S. **Proof.** Suppose $T : obC' \to obC$ is a function and for each object $B' \in C'$

$$\alpha_{B'}: Hom_C(-, T(B')) \to Hom_{C'}(S-, B')$$

is a natural transformation such that

$$\alpha_{B'}(A) = \alpha_{AB'} : Hom_C(A, T(B')) \to Hom_{C'}(S(A), B')$$

is surjective for all $A \in C$. For each object $B' \in C'$, we set

$$\eta_{B'} = \alpha_{T(B')B'}(I_{T(B')}) : ST(B') \to B'.$$

Consider the family of morphisms

$$\eta = \{\eta_{B'} : ST(B') \to B'\}_{B' \in C'}.$$

Now, we show that T and η gives a right adjoint system of S. Let $f \in Hom_{C'}(S(A), B')$ be an arbitrary morphism. Since $\alpha_{AB'}$ is surjective, there exists a morphism $g \in Hom_C(A, T(B'))$ such that $\alpha_{AB'}(g) = f$. By the commutativity of the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(T(B'), T(B')) & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{T(B')B'}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(ST(B'), B') \\ \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(g, T(B')) & & & \downarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(S(g), B') \\ \\ \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(A, T(B')) & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{AB'}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(S(A), B') \end{array}$$

A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors

we deduce that

$$Hom_{C'}(S(g), B')(\alpha_{T(B')B'}(I_{T(B')})) = Hom_{C'}(S(g), B')(\eta_{B'}) = \eta_{B'}S(g)$$

$$\alpha_{AB'}(Hom_C(g, T(B'))I_{T(B')}) = \alpha_{AB'}(g) = f$$

i.e.,

$$\eta_{B'}S(g) = f$$

This completes the proof of theorem.

Remark 2.2. The Theorem 2.2 is a converse of the Theorem 2.1.

Theorem 2.3. Let $T: C' \to C$ and $S: C \to C'$ be functors. If $R_S(obT, \eta)$ be a right adjoint system of S and for each object $B' \in C'$, $\alpha_{B'}$ be the natural transformation described in Theorem 2.1, then the following statements are equivalent:

(i) η is a natural transformation from ST to $I_{C'}$.

(ii) $\alpha = {\alpha_{B'}}_{B' \in C'}$ is a natural transformation between functors.

$$Hom_C(-, T-), Hom_{C'}(S-, -): C' \times C' \to Ens.$$

Proof. $(i) \to (ii)$ Suppose $\eta : ST \to I_{C'}$, is a natural transformation. Let $f : A' \to B'$ be an arbitrary morphism in C'. Since, η is a natural transformation, we get a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{ST}(A') & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{ST}(f)} & \operatorname{ST}(B') \\ \eta_{A'} & & & & \downarrow \eta_{B'} \\ A' & \xrightarrow{f} & B' \end{array}$$

For an arbitrary object $A \in C$, consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(A, T(A')) & \xrightarrow{\alpha_{AA'}} & \operatorname{Hom}_{C'}(S(A), A') \\ \\ \operatorname{Hom}(A, T(f)) & & & \downarrow \operatorname{Hom}(S(A), f) \\ & & & & \downarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{C}(S(A), B') \end{array}$$

For any morphism $g \in Hom_C(A, T(A'))$, we have $[Hom(S(A), f)\alpha_{AA'}](g) = Hom(S(A), f)\eta_{A'}S(g) = f(\eta_{A'}S(g)) = f(\eta_{A'})S(g) = (\eta_{B'}ST(f))S(g) = \eta_{B'}S(T(f))$ i.e., $[\alpha_{AB'}Hom(A, T(f))](g) = \alpha_{AB'}(T(f)g) = \eta_{B'}S(T(f)g))$ $\implies [Hom(S(A), f)\alpha_{AA'}](g) = [\alpha_{AB'}Hom(A, T(f))](g).$

Since, $g \in Hom_C(A, T(A'))$ is arbitrary, this shows above considered diagram is commutative. Hence α is a natural transformation.

 $(ii) \implies (i)$ Conversely, suppose that α is a natural transformation. Let $f : A' \to B'$ be an arbitrary morphism in C'. From the commutativity of the diagram

we deduce that $[Hom(ST(A'), f)\alpha_{T(A')A'}](I_{T(A')}) = Hom(ST(A'), f)(\alpha_{T(A')A'}(I_{T(A')}))$ $= Hom(ST(A'), f)(\eta'_{A}) = f\eta'_{A}$ $[\alpha_{T(A')B'}Hom(T(A'), T(f)](I_{T(A')}) = \alpha_{T(A')B'}(T(f)) = \eta_{B'}ST(f)$ i.e., $f\eta_{A'} = \eta_{B'}ST(f).$ $\Longrightarrow \text{ the diagram}$



is commutative.

Since f is arbitrary in C', hence $\eta: ST \to I_{C'}$ is a natural transformation.

Remark 2.3. When these conditions are satisfied we say that η or α defines T as a right adjoint functor of S.

3. Regular right adjoint systems

In this section, we have introduced the regularity in right adjoint system leading to regular right adjoint functor. Theorem 3.1 obtains the existence of right adjoint functor. In Theorem 3.2, we have shown that the regular right adjoint functor is unique up to equivalence.

Definition 3.1. Let $S: C \to C'$ be a functor. A right adjoint system $R_S(T, \eta)$ will be called regular if and only if for each morphism $f: S(A) \to A'$ there exists a unique morphism $g: A \to T(A')$ such that

$$\eta'_A S(g) = f.$$

Remark 3.1. $R_S(T,\eta)$ is regural, if for each object $B' \in C'$ the natural transformation $\alpha_{B'}$ defined in Theorem 2.1 is composed of biunique and surjective functions.

Definition 3.2. Let $T : C' \to C$ be a right adjoint of $S : C \to C'$ and $\eta : ST \to I_{C'}$ be a natural transformation, we will call T is a regular right adjoint of S and defined by η if $R_S(obT, \eta)$ is a regular right adjoint system of S.

Theorem 3.1. Let $S: C \to C'$ be a functor. For any right adjoint system of S, there exists a unique right adjoint of S.

Proof. Suppose $R_S(T,\eta)$ is a regular right adjoint system of S. For any morphism $f: A' \to B'$ in C', consider the following morphism

$$f\eta_{A'}: S(T(A')) \to B'.$$

By definition of regular adjoint system, there exists a unique morphism say $T(f): T(A') \to T(B')$ in C such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{ST}(A') & \xrightarrow{ST(f)} & \mathrm{ST}(B') \\ \eta_{A'} & & & & \downarrow \eta_{B'} \\ \mathrm{A}' & \xrightarrow{f} & \mathrm{B}' \end{array}$$

is commutative i.e., $f\eta_{A'} = \eta_{B'}S(T(f))$.

A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors

Let us now show that this effectively defines a functor. For every object $A' \in C'$, since

$$I_{A'}\eta_{A'}=\eta_{A'}S(I_{T(A')})$$

 $\implies T(I_{A'}) = I_{T(A')}.$ If $f: A' \to B'$ and $g: B' \to C'$ are arbitrary composable morphism in C', then

$$f\eta_{A'} = \eta_{B'}S(T(g))$$

and

$$g\eta_{B'} = \eta_{C'}S(T(g))$$

 $\implies \eta_{C'}(S(T(g)T(f))) = \eta_{C'}(S(T(g))S(T(f))) = (\eta_{C'}S(T(g)))S(T(f)) = (g\eta_{C'})S(T(f)) = g(\eta_{C'})S(T(f)) = g(f\eta_{A'}) = (gf)\eta_{A'}.$ Again by definition of regular, we get

$$T(gf) = T(g)T(f).$$

This gives that $T: C' \to C$ is a functor and $\eta: ST \to I_{C'}$ is a nutural transformation. Hence T, is a right adjoint of S defining by η .

Theorem 3.2. Any two regular right adjoints of a functor are equivalent.

Proof. Let $S: C \to C'$ be a functor and $T, T': C' \to C$ be regular right adjoints of S. Suppose $\eta: ST \to I_{C'}$ and $\eta': ST' \to I_{C'}$ are natural transformation defining T and T' as regular right adjoint of S. For any object $A' \in C'$, there exists unique morphisms

$$\phi_{A'}: T(A') \to T'(A')$$

and

$$\psi_{A'}:T'(A')\to T(A')$$

such that

$$\eta_{A'} = \eta'_A S(\phi_{A'}), \quad \eta'_{A'} = \eta_{A'} S(\psi_{A'}).$$

This gives

 $\begin{array}{l} \eta_{A'} = (\eta'_{A'}S(\phi_{A'}) = (\eta_{A'}S(\psi_{A'}))S(\phi_{A'}) = \eta_{A'}(S(\psi_{A'})S(\phi_{A'})) = \eta_{A'}S(\psi_{A'}\phi_{A'}) \\ \eta'_{A'} = \eta_{A'}S(\psi_{A'}) = (\eta'_{A'}S(\phi_{A'}))S(\psi_{A'}) = \eta'_{A'}(S(\phi_{A'})S(\psi_{A'})) = \eta'_{A'}S(\phi_{A'}\psi_{A'}) \\ \text{Now by the property of regular adjoint, we get} \end{array}$

$$\psi_{A'}\phi_{A'} = I_{T(A')}$$
 and $\phi_{A'}\psi_{A'} = I_{T'(A')}$.

Thus, $\phi_{A'}$ and $\phi_{A'}$ are isomorphisms and inverse to one another. Now we show that $\phi = {\phi_{A'}}_{A' \in C'}$ is a natural transformation from T to T'. Let $f : A' \to B'$ be an arbitrary morphism in C'. Since the diagrams

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{ST}(A') & \xrightarrow{ST(f)} & \mathrm{ST}(B') \\ \eta_{A'} & & & & \downarrow \eta_{B'} \\ A' & \xrightarrow{f} & B' \end{array}$$

and

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{S}T'(A') & \xrightarrow{ST'(f)} & \mathrm{S}T'(B') \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ \eta'_{A'} \downarrow & & & \downarrow \\ & \mathrm{A}' & \xrightarrow{f} & \mathrm{B}' \end{array}$$

are commutative, we have

 $\eta'_{B'}S(\phi_{B'}T(f)) = \eta'_{B'}(S(\phi_{B'})ST(f)) = (\eta'_{B'}S(\phi_{B'}))ST(f) = \eta_{B'}ST(f) = f\eta_{A'} = f(\eta'_{A'}S(\phi_{A'})) = f(\eta'_{A'}S(\phi_{A'}))$ $(f\eta'_{A'})S(\phi_{A'}) = \eta'_{B'}(ST'(f)S(\phi_{A'})) = \eta'_{B'}S(T'(f)\phi_{A'}).$ Further by regularty, we get

$$\phi_{B'}T(f)=T'(f)\phi_{A'}.$$

This gives that $\phi = {\phi_{A'}}_{A' \in C'}$ is a natural transformation from T to T'. Similarly, we can show that $\psi = \{\psi'_A\}_{A' \in C'}$ is a natural transformation from T' to T. Hence T and T' are equivalent.

4. Product of right adjoint systems

In the following we have defined the product of right adjoint systems and showed that the product is also a right adjoint system. Further, we point out that product of regular right adjoint systems also preserves regularity.

Let $S: C \to C'$ and $S': C' \to C''$ be two functors. If $R_S(T, \eta)$ and $R'_S(T', \eta')$ are right adjoint systems of S and S' respectively, and if for each object $A'' \in C''$ we take $\eta_{A''}'' = \eta_{A''}'S'(\eta_{T'(A'')}: S'STT'(A'') \to A''.$

Theorem 4.1. The pair (TT', η'') is a right adjoint system of the composite functor $S'S: C \to C'$. **Proof.** Let $f: S'S(A) \to A''$ be an arbitrary morphism with $A \in C$ and $A'' \in C''$. Since $R'_S(T', \eta')$ is a right adjoint system of S', there exists a morphism $g: S(A) \to T'(A'')$ such that

$$f = \eta'_{A''}S'(g).$$

Further, since $R_S(T,\eta)$ is a right adjoint system of S, there exists a morphism $h: A \to TT'(A'')$ such that $g = \eta_{T'(A'')} S(h).$

Thus, we have

 $f = \eta'_{A''}S'(\eta_{T'(A'')}S(h)) = \eta'_{A''}(S'\eta_{T'(A'')})S'S(h)) = (\eta'_{A''}S'\eta_{T'(A'')})S'S(h) = \eta''_{A''}S'S(h).$ Hence, $R_{S'S}(TT', \eta'')$ is a right adjoint system of SS'. This right adjoint system will be called the product of the right adjoint system $R_{\mathcal{S}}(T,\eta)$ and $R_{\mathcal{S}'}S(T',\eta')$.

Theorem 4.2. If $\alpha_{B'}$ and $\alpha'_{B''}$ are the natural transformations associated with $R_S(T,\eta)$ and $R_{S'}(T',\eta')$ repectively, then $\alpha'_{B''}\alpha_{T'(B'')}$ is a natural transformation associated with $R_{S'}S(TT',\eta'')$ for every object $B'' \in C''$.

Immediately follows from the construction of η'' and Theorem 3.1.

Now assume that the functors $T: C' \to C$ and $T': C'' \to C'$ are right adjoint of $S: C \to C'$ and $S': C' \to C''$ defined by natural transformation $\eta: ST \to I_{C'}$ and $\eta': S'T' \to I_{C''}$ respectively and let α : $Hom_C(-,T(-)) \rightarrow Hom_{C'}(S(-),-)$ and α' : $Hom_{C'}(-,T'(-)) \rightarrow Hom_{C''}(S'(-),-)$ be a natural transformation corresponding to η and η' respectively. Therefore, we get TT' is a right adjoint system of the functor S'S defined by the natural transformation, $\eta'(S' \star \eta \star T') : S'STT' \to I_{C''}$ which is associated to the natural transformation $\alpha'(\alpha \star T')$: $Hom_C(-,TT'(-)) \to Hom_{C''}(S'S(-),-).$

Theorem 4.3. The product of two regular right adjoint systems(functors) is again regular.

Trivially follows from the definitions of regular and products of right adjoint systems(functors).

5. Applications to projective structures

We mainly exhibit here the relationship between right adjoint system and projective structure. We have found out that, for every projective structure there exists a right adjoint system of the inclusion functor from a full subcategory whose class of objects is the bases of projectives in the projectives structure [Thoerem 4.3]. We show that regular, right adjoint systems induced by a given projective structure are equivalent [Theorem 5.1]. Further, we obtained a criteria for the fineness of a projective structure. Finally, we deduce that projective structure induced by the an epic functor, preserves the exactness. Suppose \bar{P}' is a set of objects of a category C which is a basis of projectives of the projective structure $P(\bar{M}, \bar{P})_C$. Let A denote the full subcategory of C whose objects are the objects in \overline{P}' and $S: \mathcal{A} \to C$ be the inclusion functor.

A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors

Theorem 5.1. The inclusion functor $S: A \to C$ has a right adjoint system.

Proof. For any object $A \in C$ there exists an object $P \in \overline{P}$ and a morphism $f: P \to A$ in \overline{M} . Further, by definition of bases, there exists an object say T(A) in \overline{P}' with a retraction $f': T(A) \to P$ in \overline{M} . This gives a function $T: obC \to obA$ and a morphism

$$\eta_A = ff': T(A) \to A \text{ in } \overline{M}$$

Let $\phi: P' \to A$ be an arbitrary morphsm in C with $P' \in \overline{P}' \subset \overline{P}$. By definition of \overline{M} -projective there exists a morphism $g: p' \to T(A)$ such that $\eta_A g = \phi$.

This shows that the function $T: obC \to obA$ together with the family of morphism $\eta = {\eta_A : T(A) \to A}_{A \in C}$ represents a right adjoint system of S.

Remark 5.1. If the inclusion functor $S : \mathcal{A} \to C$ has a right adjoint T defined be a natural transformation η , we will say that $R_S(T, \eta)$ is a functorial inducement of P.

Remark 5.2. A funtorial inducement of a projective structure is called regular If its corresponding right adjoint system is regular.

Theorem 5.2. Any two regular inducement of a projective structure are equivalent. Follows immediately from Theorem 3.2.

Theorem 5.3. If the projective structures $P(\bar{M}, \bar{P})_C$ and $P'(\bar{M}', \bar{P}')_C$ of C are induced by $R_S(T, \eta)$ and $R_{S'}(T', \eta')$ respectively and if for each object A of C there exists a morphism $\phi_A : T'(A) \to T(A)$ such that $\eta'_A = \eta_A \phi_A$, then P is a finer than P'.

Proof. let $f: A \to B$ be an arbitrary morphism in \overline{M} . Again let $\gamma: P' \to B$ in C with $p' \in \overline{P}'$ be arbitrary. Consider the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} T(B \\ \downarrow \eta_B \\ A \xrightarrow{f} B \end{array}$$

Since, $T(B) \in \overline{P}$, there exists a morphism $g: T(B) \to A$ in C such that $\eta_B = fg$. Further, by hypothesis of the theorem there exists a morphism $\phi_B: T'(B) \to T(B)$ such that $\eta_B \phi_B = \eta'_B$. Again, since $\eta'_B: T'(B) \to B$ is in \overline{M}' and $P' \in \overline{P}'$, there exists a morphism $h: P' \to T'(B)$ in C such that

 $\eta'_B h = \gamma.$

Thus, we have

 $\gamma = \eta'_{\underline{B}}h = (\eta_B\phi_B)h = ((fg)\phi_B)h = f(g\phi_Bh)$ i.e., P' is projective with respect to f. This shows that $\overline{M} \subset \overline{M}'$ and hence P is finer than P'. Now, let $S: C \to C'$ be any functor and assume that it has a right adjoint system $R_S(T,\eta)$. Then by Theorem 3.1 the class of objects $\{S(A)\}_{A\in C}$ is a bases of a projective structure P' of C'. We now generalize this situation. Let $P(\overline{M}, \overline{P})_C$ be a projective structure of C. As above \overline{P} determine a full subcategory A of C and if $S': A \to C$ denotes the inclusion functor of A into C, S' has a right adjoint so that SS' has a right adjoint system which determine a projective structure $P'(\overline{M}', \overline{P}')_{C'}$ of $C', S(\overline{P})$ being a bases of projective of P'. We will say that P' is induced by P through S. **Theorem 5.4.** The class \overline{M}' contains any morphism $f: A' \to B'$ in C' for which there exists a morphism $g: T(A') \to T(B')$ in \overline{M} such that the diagram

 $\begin{array}{ccc} \mathrm{S}T(A') & \xrightarrow{S(g)} & \mathrm{S}T'(B') \\ \eta_{A'} & & & & \downarrow \eta_{B'} \\ \mathrm{A}' & \xrightarrow{f} & \mathrm{B}' \end{array}$

is commutative.

Proof. Let $\phi: S(P) \to B'$ be a morphism in C' withh $P \in \overline{P}$. By definition of right adjoint system there exists a morphism $\psi: P \to T(B')$ in C such that

$$\phi = \eta_{B'} S(\psi).$$

Further, since $g \in \overline{M}$ and $P \in \overline{P}$, there exists a morphism $\gamma: P \to T(A')$ in C such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} T(A') & \xrightarrow{g} & T(B') \\ \gamma & & \downarrow \psi \\ P \end{array}$$

is commutative. Thus we have

 $\phi = \eta_{B'}S(\psi) = \eta_{B'}S(g\gamma) = (\eta_{B'}S(g))S(\gamma) = (f\eta_{A'})S(\gamma) = f(\eta_{A'}S(\gamma))$. Therefore, S(P) is projective with respect to f. But, $P \in \overline{P}$ is arbitrary and $S(\overline{P})$ is the bases of projectives of $P'(\overline{M'}\overline{P'})_{C'}$. This gives that $f \in \overline{M'}$.

Corollary 5.1. If η is a natural transformation defining a right adjoint functor T of S, the $\overline{M}' \subset T^{-1}(\overline{M})$. **Corollary 5.2.** If T is a regular right adjoint of S, then $\overline{M}' = T^{-1}(\overline{M})$.

Proof. Let $f: A' \to B'$ be an arbitrary morphism in \overline{M}' . Take an arbitrary object P from \overline{P} and a morphism $\phi: P \to T(B')$ from C. Now consider the diagram

$$S(P)$$

$$\downarrow S(\phi)$$

$$T(B')$$

$$\downarrow \eta_{B'}$$

$$A' \xrightarrow{f} B'$$

Since $S(P) \in \overline{P}'$, there exists a morphism $\psi: S(P) \to A'$ in C' such that

$$f\psi = \eta_{B'}S(\phi).$$

Further, by definition of right adjoint system there exists a morphism $\gamma : p \to T(A')$ in C such that, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathcal{S}(P) & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}(\gamma)} & \mathcal{S}T(A') \\ \psi & & \downarrow \eta_{A'} \\ \psi & & A' \end{array}$$

is commutative. Thus, we have

 $\eta_{B'}S(\phi) = f\psi = f(\eta_{A'}S(\gamma)) = (f\eta_{A'})S(\gamma) = (\eta_{B'}ST(f))S(\gamma) = \eta_{B'}S(T(f)\gamma).$ Again, since T is a regular right adjoint of S, we get $\phi = T(f)\gamma$ i.e., $T(f) \in \overline{M}$ or, $f \in T^{-1}\overline{M}$ i.e., $\overline{M'} \subseteq T^{-1}(\overline{M}).$ $\overline{M'} \subseteq T^{-1}(\overline{M}).$ Hence, by Corollary 5, we get $\overline{M'} = T^{-1}(\overline{M}).$

Corollary 5.3. If T is an epic functor and $P(\overline{M}, \overline{P})_C$ is the exact projective structure of C, then $P(\overline{M}', \overline{P}')_{C'}$ is the exact projective structure of C.

6. Construction of a regular right adjoint system

In this section, we mainly construct a regular right adjoint system on the categories of modules, which verifies the problem of existence of right adjoint system.

Let R and R' be two commutative rings with unity and $\psi: R' \to R$ be a ring homomorphism which maps unit element onto unit element. Any module $A \in Mod_R$ can be considered as R'-module by the scaler multiplication defined as

 $r'a = \psi(r')a$ for all $r' \in R'$, $a \in A$, and every *R*-homomorphism $f : A \to B$ may be considered as a R'-homomorphism of the corresponding R'-modules. This defines a functor, $S : Mod_R \to Mod_R$, for any R'-module $A' \in Mod_R$, we define $T(A') = Hom_{R'}(R, A')$, the set of all R'-homomorphisms from R into A'. This can be considered as a R-module, as follows:

A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors

If $f \in Hom_{R'}(R, A')$ and $r \in R$, then $rf \in Hom_{R'}(R, A')$ given as $(rf)(r_1) = f(rr_1)$ for all $r_1 \in R$. Further, we define

$$\eta_{A'}: T(A') = Hom_{B'}(R, A') \to A$$

such that $\eta_{A'}(f) = f(1) \in A'$ for all $f \in Hom_{R'}(R, A')$. Now we can show that the pair (T, η) is a regular right adjoint of S. Let $A \in Mod_R$ and $\phi: S(A) \to A'$ be a R'-homomorphism in Mod_R . Define a function $g: A \to T(A') = Hom_{R'}(R, A')$, such that $g(a) = g_a: R \to A'$ and $g_a(r) = \phi(a)$ for all $r \in R$. It is clear that g is a R-homomorphism. Thus, we have $a \to g_a \to \eta_{A'}(g_a) = g_a(1) = \phi(a)$ for any $a \in S(A)$. This gives that the diagram



is commutative. Since by construction, g is unique, this shows that the pair (T, η) represents a regular right adjoint system of S.

Remark 6.1. If $P(\bar{M}, \bar{P})$ is a projective structure of Mod_R , then as we have seen above P induces a projective structure $P'(\bar{M}', \bar{P}')$ of Mod_R , through S, where \bar{M}' is the class of all R'-homomorphisms $f: A' \to B'$ in Mod_R such that $T(f): T(A') \to T(B')$ is in \bar{M} and where P' has basis of projectives consisting of all R-modules in \bar{P} considered as R'-modules.

References

- [1] Blyth, T. S. : Categories, Longman, London New York (1987).
- [2] Eilenberg, S. and MacLane, S. : General theory of natural equivalence, Trans. A.M.S. 58(1945).
- [3] Freyd, P.J. : Functor Theory, Ph.D Dissertation Princeton University, Princeton (1960).
- [4] Isbell, J.R. : Structure of categories, Bull. A.M.S., 72 (1966) .

[5] Kan, D.M. : Adjoint functors, Trans. AMS, 87 (1958).

[6] Zaidi, S.M.A. : Some Problems in category theory, Ph.D. Dissertation A.M.U. Aligarh (1979).

[7] Zaidi, S.M.A. and Khan S. : A generalization of projectivity in categories, East West J. of Mathematics, 6 (2004).
The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

ON (γ, γ') -SEMI-OPEN SETS AND γ -SEMI-COMPACT SPACES

G. Sai Sundara Krishnan¹ and K. Balachandran²

¹Department of Mathematics, PSG College of Technology, Coimbatore 641 004, India

²Department of Mathematics, Bharathiar University, Coimbatore 641 046, India

(Received April 10, 2006)

Abstract. In this paper we introduce the concept of (γ, γ') -semi-open sets in a topological space together with its $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -semi-closure and $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -semi-interior operators. Also we introduce (γ, γ') -semi- T_i spaces (i = 0, 1/2, 1, 2) and study the relationship between them. Further we introduce the notion of (γ, γ') - T_d and (γ, γ') - T_b spaces using the concept of (γ, γ') -semi-generalized closed sets in a topological space. Finally, we introduce the notion of γ -semi-compactness on a topological space and study some of its properties.

1. Introduction

Kasahara [1] unified several unknown characterization of compact spaces and H - closed spaces by introducing certain operation on a topology. Umehara [7] introduced some new separation axioms using the notion of (γ, γ') -open sets and investigated their relationships. Sai Sundara Krishnan and Balachandran [5] introduced the concept of γ -semi-open sets by using γ -open sets in topological space [3].

In this paper, in Section 2 we introduce the notion of $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -SO(X) using (γ,γ') -semi- open sets in a topological space. Also, we introduce the notion of $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -semi-closure and $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -semi-interior operators and study some of their properties.

In Section 3 we introduce the notion of (γ, γ') -semi- $T_i(i = 0, 1/2, 1, 2)$ spaces and characterize (γ, γ') -semi- T_i spaces using (γ, γ') -semi-open sets or (γ, γ') -semi-closed sets and study the relationship between them.

In Section 4 we introduce the concept of (γ, γ') -semi- T_b , (γ, γ') - T_d space using the notion of (γ, γ') -generalized-semi-closed sets and study the topological properties on them.

In Section 5 we introduce the notion of γ -semi-compact spaces using γ -semi-open sets and study some of its properties.

2. (γ, γ') -Semi-Open Sets

Definition 2.1 [3]. Let (X, τ) be a topological space. Then an operation γ on the topology τ is a mapping from τ onto power set P(X) of X such that $V \subseteq V^{\gamma}$ for each $V \in \tau$, where V^{γ} denotes the value of γ at V. It is denoted by $\gamma: \tau \to P(X)$.

Definition 2.2 [7]. (i) Let (X, τ) be a topological space, A be a subset X and γ, γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then A is said to be a (γ, γ') -open set if for each $x \in A$ there exists open neighborhoods U, V of x such that $U^{\gamma} \cup V^{\gamma'} \subseteq A$. $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ denotes set of all (γ, γ') -open sets in (X, τ) .

Keywords and phrases : (γ, γ') -semi-open sets, $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -int (A), (γ, γ') -semi- T_i spaces, (i = 0, 1/2, 1, 2). AMS Subject Classification : 54A05, 54A10, 54D10.

(ii) Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ , γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then for a subset A of X, $cl_{(\gamma,\gamma')}(A)$ is defined as $cl_{(\gamma,\gamma')}(A) = \{x \in X : U^{\gamma} \cup V^{\gamma'} \neq \phi \text{ holds for every open sets U and V containing } x\}$.

(iii) Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then for a subset A of X, $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -cl (A) = $\cap \{ F: A \subseteq F, X - F \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')} \}$.

(iv) Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be a (γ,γ') -generalized-closed if $cl_{(\gamma,\gamma')}(A) \subseteq U$ whenever $A \subseteq U$ and U is (γ,γ') -open in (X,τ) .

Definition 2.3. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be (γ,γ') -semi-open set if and only if there exists a (γ,γ') -open set U such that $U \subseteq A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -cl(U). The family of all (γ,γ') -semi-open sets in (X,τ) is denoted by $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -SO(X).

Example 2.4. Let X = {a,b,c}, $\tau = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{c\}, \{a,c\}, \{a,b\}\}$. Let γ, γ' are the operations defined on τ such that $A^{\gamma} = A \cup \{a\}$ and $A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } A = \{a\} \\ A \cup \{c\} & \text{if } A \neq \{a\} \end{cases}$. Then $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')} = SO(X) = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{a,b\}, \{a,c\}\}.$

Definition 2.5. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ are the operations on τ . Then for a subset A of X, $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -interior of A is defined as union of all (γ,γ) -open sets contained in A. It is denoted by $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int(A).

That is $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int(A) = $\cup \{G : G \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -SO(X) and $G \subseteq A\}$.

Remark 2.6. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ and A be a subset of X. Then

- (i) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int (A) is a (γ,γ) -open set contained in A.
- (ii) A is (γ, γ') -open set if and only if $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int (A) = A.
- (iii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -int (A) $\subseteq \tau_{\gamma'}$ int (A).

Proof. Proof of (i) follows from the Definition 2.5 and Proposition 2.2(iii) of [7]. Proof of (ii) follows from the Definition 2.5 and (i). Proof of (iii) follows from the Definition 2.5 and Proposition 2.2(iii).

Remark 2.7. If (X,τ) is a (γ,γ) -regular space and A be a subset of X, then $int(A) = \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}-int(A) = \tau_{\gamma}$ int (A).

Proof. Proof follows from the Definition 2.5 and Proposition 2.6(i) and (ii) of [7].

Theorem 2.8. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A and B are the subsets of X and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ .

- (i) $A \subseteq B$ implies $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -int $(A) \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -int (B)
- (ii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ int(A) $\cup \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ int (B) $\subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ int(A \cup B)
- (iii) If γ and γ' are the regular operations on τ , then $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int(A) $\cap \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int(B) = $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int(A \cap B).

On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces

Proof. Proof of (i) and (ii) are follows from the Definition 2.5. Proof of (iii) follows from (i) and Proposition 2.7(i) of [7].

Theorem 2.9. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . If $\{A_i : i \in J\}$ is a collection of (γ,γ') -semi-open sets in (X,τ) , then $\sum_{i \in J} A_i$ is also a (γ,γ') -semi-open set.

Proof. Since each A_i , $i \in J$, is a (γ, γ') -semi-open set, implies there exists a (γ, γ') - open set U_i such that $U_i \subseteq A_i \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl (U_i) . Hence $\sum_{i \in J} U_i \subseteq \sum_{i \in J} A_i \subseteq \sum_{i \in J} \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl $(U_i) \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl $(\sum_{i \in J} U_i)$. By Proposition 2.2(iii) of [7] $\sum_{i \in J} U_i$ is a (γ, γ') -open set in (X, τ) . Therefore $\sum_{i \in J} A_i$ is a (γ, γ') -semi-open set in (X, τ) .

Remark 2.10. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then the following example shows that, if A and B are two (γ,γ') -semi-open sets in (X,τ) , then $A \cap B$ need not be a (γ,γ') -semi-open set.

Let $X = \{a,b,c\}, \tau = \{\phi,X,\{a\},\{b\},\{a,b\}\}$ and γ,γ' are the operations on τ such that $A^{\gamma} = A$ and $A^{\gamma} = int(cl(A))$. If $A = \{a,c\}$ and $B = \{b,c\}$, then A and B are (γ,γ') -semi-open sets but $A \cap B = \{c\}$ is not a (γ,γ') -semi-open set in (X,τ) .

Theorem 2.11. A subset A of (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -semi-open set if and only if $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -cl $(\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int (A)).

Proof. Let $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -cl($\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -int(A)). Take U= $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int (A) then by Remark 2.6(i) we have $U \subseteq A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -cl(U). Hence A is a (γ,γ') -semi-open set.

Conversely, A is a (γ, γ') -semi-open set, then there exists a (γ, γ') -open set U such that $U \subseteq A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl(U). Since $U \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -int (A), hence we have $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl(U) $\subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl($\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -int (A)). Therefore $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -cl($\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -int (A)).

Theorem 2.12. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . If a subset A of X is (γ,γ') -open set in (X,τ) , then A is (γ,γ') -semi-open set.

Proof. Given A is a (γ, γ) -open set in (X, τ) , therefore by Remark 2.6(ii) we have $A = \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int (A). Since $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -cl(A), implies $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -cl($\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -int (A)). Hence by the Theorem 2.11, A is a (γ, γ) -semi-open set.

Remark 2.13. Converse of the Theorem 2.12 need not be true.

In Example 2.4 {a,b} is a (γ, γ') -semi-open but not a (γ, γ') -open.

Remark 2.14. By Theorem 2.12 and Remark 2.13 we have $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')} \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')} = SO(X)$.

Theorem 2.15. If (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -regular space then every (γ,γ) -semi-open set in (X,τ) is a semi-open set.

Proof. Proof follows from Proposition 2.6(i) and 3.11(ii) of [7].

Remark 2.16. In the previous Theorem 2.15 the condition (X,τ) is (γ,γ') -regular is necessary. If we remove that condition then the concept of semi-open sets and (γ,γ') -semi-open set becomes independent.

Let X= {a,b,c}, $\tau = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a,b\}\}$ and γ, γ' are the operations defined on τ such that $A^{\gamma} = cl(A)$ and $A^{\gamma'} = int(cl(A))$ for every $A \in \tau$, then {a} is semi-open but not (γ, γ') -semi-open.

Let $X = \{a,b,c\}, \tau = \{\phi,X, \{a\}, \{c\}, \{a,b\}, \{a,c\}\}$ and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ such that $A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } A = \{a\} \\ A \cup \{c\} & \text{if } A \neq \{a\} \end{cases}$ and $A^{\gamma'} = A$, for every A in τ . Then $\{b,c\}$ is (γ,γ') –semi-open but not a semi-open set.

Definition 2.17. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be a (γ,γ') -semi-closed set if and only if X - A is (γ,γ') -semi-open.

Definition 2.18. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A be a subset of X and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -semi-closure of A is defined as intersection of all (γ,γ') -semi-closed sets containing A. It is denoted by $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A).

That is $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) = $\cap \{F: X - F \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -SO(X) and A $\subseteq F \}$.

Remark 2.19. $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) is a (γ,γ') -semi-closed set containing A.

Proof. Proof follows from the Definition 2.17 and Theorem 2.9.

Theorem 2.20. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations of τ . Then

(i) a point $x \in X$, $x \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) if and only if $V \cap A \neq \phi$ for every (γ,γ) -semi-open set V containing x.

(ii) A is (γ, γ) -semi-closed if and only if $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(A) = A.

Proof. (i)Let F_0 be the set of all $y \in X$ such that $V \cap A \neq \phi$ for every $V \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -SO(X) and $y \in V$. Now to prove this theorem it is enough to prove that $F_0 = \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A). Let $x \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A). Let us assume that $x \notin F_0$. Then there exists a (γ,γ') -open set U of x such that $U \cap A = \phi$. This implies $A \subseteq X$ -U and so $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ scl(A) $\subseteq X$ -U. Therefore $x \notin \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A). This is a contradiction. Hence $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) $\subseteq F_0$. Conversely, Let F be set such that $A \subseteq F$ and X-F $\in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -SO(X). Let $x \notin F$. Then we have $x \in X$ -F and (X-F) $\cap A = \phi$. This implies $x \notin F_0$. Therefore $F_0 \subseteq F$. Hence $F_0 \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A). Therefore $F_0 = \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A). (ii) Proof follows from the Definition 2.18 and Remark 2.19.

Remark 2.21. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then from the Definition 3.2 of [7], Remark 2.14 and Definition 2.19 we have for any subset A of X. $A \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')} - \operatorname{scl}(A) \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')} - \operatorname{cl}(A)$.

Definition 2.22. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A be a subset of X and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -semi-interior of A is defined as union of all (γ,γ') -semi-open sets contained in A.

That is $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(A) = $\cup \{ G : A \subseteq G \text{ and } G \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -SO(X) $\}$.

On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces

Theorem 2.23. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then for any subset A of X, the following hold good:

(i) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(A) is a (γ,γ) -semi-open set contained in A. (ii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(A) = A if and only if A is a (γ,γ) -semi-open set. (iii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(A) = X - $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(X - A). (iv) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) = X - $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(X - A). (v) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -int(A) $\subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(A).

Proof. Proof of (i) follows from the Definition 2.22 and Theorem 2.9.
Proof of (ii) follows from (i) and Definition 2.22.
Proof of (iii) and (iv) follows from 2.22 and 2.17 and 2.18.
Proof of (v) follows from Theorem 2.12 and Definition 2.22.

Theorem 2.24. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then for any subsets A and B of X the following hold good:

(i) If $A \subseteq B$, then $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint $(A) \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(B). (ii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint $(A \cup B) = \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint $(A) \cup \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(B). (iii) $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint $(A \cap B) \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint $(A) \cap \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -sint(B).

Proof. Proof of (i) follows from the Definition 2.22. Proof of (ii) follows from (i) and Theorem 2.9. Proof of (iii) follows from (i).

3. (γ, γ) -Semi-T_i Spaces

Definition 3.1. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations defined on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be a (γ,γ') -semi-generalized closed (written as (γ,γ') -sg.closed) if $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) $\subseteq U$ whenever A $\subseteq U$ and U is a (γ,γ') -semi-open set in (X,τ) .

Definition 3.2. A space (X,τ) is said to be a (γ,γ) -semi-T_{1/2} space if for every (γ,γ) -sg.closed set in (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -semi-closed.

Theorem 3.3. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then a subset A of X is (γ,γ') -sg.closed if and only if $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl $(\{x\}) \cap A \neq \phi$ for every $x \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A).

Proof. Let U be (γ,γ) -semi-open set such that $A \subseteq U$. Let $x \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A). Then by assumption there exists a $z \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl($\{x\}$) and $z \in A \subseteq U$. It follows from Theorem 2.20(i) that $U \cap \{x\} \neq \phi$, implies $x \in U$. Hence $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) $\subseteq U$. Therefore A is a (γ,γ') -sg.closed set.

Conversely, suppose $x \in \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) such that $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl($\{x\}$) $\cap A = \phi$, then $A \subseteq X \cdot \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl($\{x\}$). By Remark 2.19 and assumption it follows that $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) $\subseteq X \cdot \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl($\{x\}$). This implies that $x \notin \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A). This is a contradiction.

Theorem 3.4. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A be a subset of X and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . If A is (γ,γ') -sg.closed in (X,τ) , then $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) – A does not contain a non empty (γ,γ') -semi-closed set.

39

Proof. Suppose there exists a (γ, γ') -semi-closed set F such that $F \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ - scl(A) – A. Let $x \in F$. Then $x \in \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -scl(A) holds hence it follows from the Theorem 2.20(i) and (iii) that $F \cap A = \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(F) $\cap A \supseteq \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -scl($\{x\}$) $\cap A \neq \phi$. Hence $F \cap A \neq \phi$. This is a contradiction.

Theorem 3.5. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then for each point $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ,γ') -semi-closed or X- $\{x\}$ is (γ,γ') -sg.closed.

Proof. Suppose $\{x\}$ is not (γ, γ) -semi-closed, then X- $\{x\}$ is not (γ, γ) -semi-open set. This implies X is the only (γ, γ) -semi-open set containing X- $\{x\}$. Hence X- $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -sg.closed.

Theorem 3.6. A space (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -semi-T_{1/2} space if and only if for each $x \in X, \{x\}$ is (γ,γ) -semiopen or (γ,γ) -semi-closed.

Proof. Suppose for $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ not a (γ, γ) -semi-closed, then by Theorem 3.5 and assumption we have $X-\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-closed and so $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open.

Conversely, Let A be (γ, γ') -sg.closed set. Then to prove that $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ - scl(A) = A. Let $x \in \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ - scl(A) then by assumption $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -semi-open or semi-closed.

Case(i). Suppose $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open. It follows from the Theorem 2.20(i) that $\{x\} \cap A \neq \phi$. This implies that $x \in A$.

Case(ii). Suppose $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -semi-closed. Then by Theorem 3.4 $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma')}$ -scl(A) – A does not contain $\{x\}$. This implies $x \in A$.

Definition 3.7. A space (X,τ) is said to be a (γ,γ) -semi-T₂ space if for each distinct points $x, y \in X$, there exists (γ,γ) -semi-open sets U and V containing x and y respectively such that $U \cap V = \phi$.

Definition 3.8. A space (X,τ) is said to be (γ,γ') -semi-T₁ space if for each distinct points $x, y \in X$, there exists (γ,γ') -semi-open sets U and V containing x and y respectively such that $y \notin U$ and $x \notin V$.

Definition 3.9. A space (X,τ) is said to be (γ,γ) -semi-T₀ space if for each distinct points $x,y \in X$, there exists (γ,γ) -semi-open set U such that $x \in U$ and $y \notin U$ or $x \notin U$ and $y \in U$.

Theorem 3.10. (i) If a space (X,τ) is (γ,γ') -semi-T₂, then it is (γ,γ') -semi-T₁. (ii) If a space (X,τ) is (γ,γ') -semi-T_{1/2} then it is (γ,γ') -semi-T₀.

Proof. (i) Proof follows from the Definition 3.7 and 3.8.

(ii) Let x and y be two distinct points of X. Then $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open or (γ, γ) -semi-closed by Theorem 3.6.

Case (i). If $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open then $y \notin \{x\}$, then this implies (X, τ) is (γ, γ) -semi-T₀.

Case (ii). If $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') –semi-closed, then U= X- $\{x\}$ is a (γ, γ') –semi-closed set such that $x \notin U$ and $y \in U$. This implies that (X, τ) is (γ, γ') –semi-T₀ space.

On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces

Remark 3.11. (i) Let X= {a,b,c}, $\tau = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a,c\}\}\)$ and γ, γ' are the operations defined on τ such that $A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } b \in A \\ cl(A) & \text{if } b \notin A \end{cases}$ and $A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A \cup \{c\} & \text{if } A = \{a\} \text{ or } \{b\} \\ A \cup \{a\} & \text{if } A = \{c\} \\ A & \text{if } A \neq \{a\}, \{b\} \text{ or } \{c\}. \end{cases}$ Then (X,τ) is a (γ,γ') -semi-T₀ space but not a (γ,γ') -semi-T_{1/2} space. (ii) Let X= {a,b,c}, $\tau = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a,c\}\}\)$ and γ, γ' are the operations define on τ such that $T = \{A, B, C\}, \tau = \{\phi, X, \{a\}, \{b\}, \{a,c\}\}\)$ and γ, γ' are the operations define on τ such that

 $A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } b \in A \\ cl(A) & \text{if } b \notin A \end{cases} \text{ and } A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } b \notin A \\ cl(A) & \text{if } b \notin A \end{cases} \text{ Then } (X,\tau) \text{ is } (\gamma,\gamma) \text{-semi-T}_{1/2} \text{ but not a } (\gamma,\gamma') \text{-semi-T}_{1.} \end{cases}$ (iii) Let X= {a,b,c}, $\tau = \{\phi, X.\{a\}, \{b\}\{a,b\}, \{a,c\}\} \text{ and } \gamma, \gamma' \text{ are the operations defined on } \tau \text{ such that } A^{\gamma} = \begin{cases} A & \text{if } b \notin A \\ cl(A) & \text{if } b \notin A \end{cases} \text{ and } A^{\gamma} = A \cup \{a\}. \text{ Then } (X,\tau) \text{ is a } (\gamma,\gamma') \text{-semi-T}_{1}\text{ space but not a } (\gamma,\gamma') \text{-semi-T}_{1/2} \text{ space.} \end{cases}$

Remark 3.12. By Theorem 3.10 and Remark 3.11 we have the following diagram implications:

$$(\gamma,\gamma')$$
-semi-T₂ (γ,γ') -semi-T₁ (γ,γ') - semi-T_{1/2} (γ,γ') - semi-T₀

where $A \longrightarrow B$ represents A imply B and A $\longrightarrow B$ represents A does not imply B.

4. (γ, γ) - Generalized-Semi-Open Sets

Definition 4.1. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be a (γ,γ') -generalized-semi-open sets (written as (γ,γ') -gs.open set) if $F \subseteq \tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -sint(A) whenever $F \subseteq A$ and F is (γ,γ') -closed in(X, τ).

Definition 4.2. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then a subset A of X is said to be (γ,γ') -gs.closed if and only if X –A is (γ,γ') -gs.open in (X,τ) .

Theorem 4.3. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then a subset A of X is (γ,γ') -gs.closed if and only if $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) $\subseteq U$ whenever A $\subseteq U$ and U is (γ,γ') -open in (X,τ) .

Proof. Proof follows from the Definition 4.2 and Theorem 2.23 (iii) and (iv).

Remark 4.4. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then from Theorem 2.12, 4.3 and the Definition 3.1 we have the following diagram implications:

 (γ,γ) -closed \longrightarrow (γ,γ) -semi-closed \longrightarrow (γ,γ) -sg.closed \longrightarrow (γ,γ) -gs.closed. Where A \longrightarrow B denotes A implies B.

Theorem 4.5. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A be a subset of X and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . If A is (γ,γ') -open and (γ,γ') -gs.closed, then A is (γ,γ') -semi-closed.

Proof. Since A is (γ, γ) -open and (γ, γ) -gs.closed, $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(A) \subseteq A. This implies that A is (γ, γ) -semiclosed.

Theorem 4.6. Let (X,τ) be a topological space, A be a subset of X and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . If A is (γ,γ') -gs.closed, then $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma')}$ -scl(A) – A dose not contain any nonempty (γ,γ') -closed set.

Proof. Let F be a (γ,γ) -closed subset of $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) – A. This implies that A \subseteq (X – F). Therefore by assumption $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A) \subseteq (X – F) hence F \subseteq (X – $\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A)) \cap ($\tau_{(\gamma,\gamma)}$ -scl(A)) = ϕ . This implies that F = ϕ .

Theorem 4.7. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then for $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ,γ') -closed of $X - \{x\}$ is (γ,γ') -gs.closed.

Proof. Suppose $\{x\}$ is not (γ, γ) -closed. Then X- $\{x\}$ is not a (γ, γ) -open set. Therefore X is the only (γ, γ) -open set containing X- $\{x\}$. Hence X- $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -gs.closed.

Theorem 4.8. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then the following are equivalent:

(i) Every (γ, γ) -gs.closed set of (X, τ) is (γ, γ) -semi-closed.

(ii) For each $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -closed or (γ, γ') -semi open.

- (iii) For each $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -closed or (γ, γ) -open.
- (iv) (X,τ) is (γ,γ') -T $_{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Proof. (i) \rightarrow (ii) Suppose that {x} is not (γ, γ) -closed. Then by Theorem 4.7 X - {x} is a (γ, γ) -gs.closed. Therefore, by assumption X-{x} is (γ, γ) -semi-closed and hence {x} is (γ, γ) -semi-open. (ii) \rightarrow (iii) It is shown that {x} is (γ, γ) -semi-open if and only if {x} is (γ, γ) -open.

 $(1) \rightarrow (11)$ It is shown that $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open it and only if $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -ope

(iii) \rightarrow (iv) The proof follows from (iii) and Proposition 4.11 [7].

(iv) \rightarrow (i) Let A be a (γ, γ') -gs.closed set. Now to prove that A is (γ, γ') - semi-closed set in (X, τ) . That is to prove that $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(A) =A. Let $x \in \tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(A). Then by assumption $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -open or (γ, γ') -closed.

Case(i). Suppose that $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -open, then $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ) -semi-open. This implies $\{x\} \cap A \neq \phi$. Hence, $x \in A$.

Case(ii). Suppose that $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -closed, then it follows from Theorem 4.6 that $\{x\}$ does not contain in $\tau_{(\gamma, \gamma)}$ -scl(A) – A. This implies that $x \in A$.

Hence A is a (γ, γ') -semi-closed set in (X, τ) .

Definition 4.9. A topological space (X,τ) is said to be a (γ,γ') -T_b space (respectively (γ,γ') -T_d space) if every (γ,γ') -g.closed set is (γ,γ') -closed (respectively (γ,γ') -g.closed).

Theorem 4.10. (i) If (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -T_b, then for each $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ,γ) -semi-closed or (γ,γ) -open. (ii) If (X,τ) is (γ,γ) -T_d, then for each $x \in X$, $\{x\}$ is (γ,γ) -closed or (γ,γ) -g.open.

Proof. (i) Suppose for $x \in X, \{x\}$ is not (γ, γ') -closed. Then by Theorem 3.5 and Remark 4.4 we have $X-\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -gs.closed. Therefore, by assumption we have $\{x\}$ is (γ, γ') -open. (ii) Proof of (ii) is similar as (i).

Remark 4.11. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ,γ' are the operations on τ . Then every (γ,γ') -T_b space is (γ,γ') -T_d and (γ,γ') -T $_{4}$ space.

Proof. Proof follows from the Definition 4.9 and Theorem 4.8.

On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces

5. y - Semi-Compact Spaces

Definition 5.1. A collection \Im of subsets of X is said to be a γ -semi-open cover of X if the union of elements of \Im is equal to X and its element are γ -semi-open sets.

Definition 5.2. A topological space (X,τ) is said to be a γ -semi-compact spaces if for every γ -semiopen covering of \Im of X contains a finite sub collection that also covers X.

Definition 5.3. Let (X,τ) be a topological space and γ be an operation on τ . A subset K of X is said to be γ -semi-compact set if for every γ -semi-open cover \Im of X there exists a finite sub family of

 $\{G_1, G_2, G_3, \dots, G_n\}$ of \mathfrak{I} such that $K \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^n G_i$.

Remark 5.4. If (X,τ) is a (γ,γ') -regular space then semi-compactness and γ -semi-compactness coincide.

Proof. Proof follows from the Theorem 3.11of [6]

Remark 5.5. If (X,τ) is γ -compact then it is γ -semi-compact.

Proof. Proof is follows from the Theorem 3.8 of [6].

Remark 5.6. If (X,τ) is a γ -regular and compact then it is γ - semi-compact.

Proof. Proof follows from Remark 5.5 and Proposition 2.4 of [3].

Theorem 5.7. Every γ -semi-closed subset of a γ -semi-compact space is γ -semi- compact.

Proof. Let C be a γ -semi-closed subset of γ -semi-compact space K and $\{G_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in J}$ be an γ -semi-open cover for C. Then $\{G_{\alpha} \cup (X - C)\}_{\alpha \in J}$ forms an γ -semi-open cover for K. Since K is γ -semi-compact, this open cover has a finite subcover. If that finite subcover contains X-C discard it otherwise leave the subcollection alone, then this remaining subcollection forms a finite subcover for C. This implies C is γ -semi-compact.

Theorem 5.8. Let f: $(X,\tau) \rightarrow (Y,\sigma)$ be a (γ,β) -semi-continuous map and if X is a γ -semi-compact then f(X) is β -semi-compact.

Proof. Let $\{G_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in J}$ be the collection of β -semi-open covers for f(X). Let $x \in X$ then $f(x) \in f(X)$, implies $f(x) \in Gi$ for some $i \in J$. Since f is (γ, β) -semi-continuous, there exists γ -semi-open set U_i containing x such that $f(U_i) \subseteq G_i$ and this true for every $x \in X$. Therefore, $\{U_i\}$ forms a γ -semi-open cover for X. Since X is γ -semi-compact, there exists a finite subcollection such that $X \subseteq \prod_{i=1}^{n} U_i$, implies $f(X) \subseteq f(\prod_{i=1}^{n} U_i) \subseteq \prod_{i=1}^{n} f(U_i) \subseteq \prod_{i=1}^{n} G_i$. Hence f(X) is β -semi-compact.

References

- [1] Kasahara, S. : Operation Compact Spaces, Math. Japonica, 24 (1979) 97-105.
- [2] Levine, N.: Semi-open sets and Semi-continuity in topological spaces, Amer. Math. Monthly, 70 (1963) 36-41.
- [3] Ogata, H.: Operation on topological spaces and associated topology, Math. Japonica, 36 (1991) 175-184.
- [4] Ogata, H.: Remarks on operation-compact spaces, Mem. Fac. Sci. Kochi Univ. Ser A, Math., 12 (1991) 23-31.
- [5] Sai Sundara Krishnan, G., Ganster, M. and Balachandran, K. : Operation approaches on semi-open sets and applications (Communicated).
- [6] Sai Sundara Krishnan, G. and Balachandran, K. : On *y-semi-open sets in topological spaces* (Communicated)
- [7] Umehara, J., Maki, H. and Noiri, T.: Bi-operation on topological spaces and some separation axioms, Mem. Fac. Sci. Kochi Univ. Ser A, Math., 13 (1992) 45 -59.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

SOME RESULTS ON K-ALGEBRAS

Pramod K. Sharma

School of Mathematics, Vigyan Bhawan, Khandwa Road, Indore–452017, India E-mail: pksharma1944@yahoo.com

(Received April 10, 2006; Revised April 16, 2007)

Abstract. We give a new proof of the classical result due to Rodney Y. Sharp and Peter Vamos on the dimension of tensor product of a finite number of field extensions of a given field.

1. Introduction

Let K be a field. In this note, we prove some results on K-algebras. All rings and algebras are commutative with identity $\neq 0$. By the dimension of a ring A we mean the Krull dimension and denote it by dim A. The transcendence degree of a field extension L/K shall be denoted by $trdeg_KL$. The results in this note grew while trying to understand the classical result on dimension of the tensor product of two field extensions proved in [6]. We first prove [Theorem 1] : Let $R \subset A$ be rings where R is an integral domain with its field of fraction K. Then (1) If $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$ are algebraically independent over A and A contains $t_1, t_2, ...t_n$ algebraically independent over R then for $L = K(X_1, ..., X_n)$, $dim(L\bigotimes_R A) \geq n + dim S^{-1}A$ where S is the multiplicatively closed subset $R[t_1, ..., t_n] - \{0\}$ of A, and (2) If $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n, ...$ are algebraically independent over A and A contains $t_1, t_2, ...t_n$, ... algebraically independent over R then for $L = K(X_1, ..., X_n, ...)$, $dim(L\bigotimes_R A) = \infty$. In Corollary 2.3, it is shown that equality holds in Theorem 1 under certain conditions. These results are used to find the dimension of the tensor product of a finite number of field extensions of a given field proved in [7]. Further, we give [Theorem 2.7] an alternative proof of the well known result that for an affine K-algebra A over a field K, for any non-zero-divisor $f \in A$, dimA = dimA[1/f].

2. Main Results

Before we prove that main results, let us recollect :

(i) [5, Theorems 7.3 and 9.5]: If B is a faithfully flat A-algebra then $dimB \ge dimA$.

(ii) [5, Exercise 9.2] If a ring B is an integral extension of a ring A then dimA = dimB.

We shall use these facts, whenever required, without further mention.

Theorem 2.1. Let $R \subset A$ be rings where R is an integral domain. Let K be the field of fractions of R. Then

(1) If X_1, \dots, X_n are algebraically independent over A and A contains $t_i, i = 1, \dots, n$ algebraically independent over R, then

$$\dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_R A \ge n + \dim S^{-1}A$$

where $S = R[t_1, \dots, t_n] - \{0\}$. Further, if A is Noetherian, then

 $\dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_R A \leq \dim A + n.$

⁰ Keywords and phrases : Tensor product, field extensions, algebraically independent localization.

⁰ AMS Subject Classification : .

(2) If X_1, \dots, X_n, \dots are algebraically independent over A and A contains $t_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, n \dots$ algebraically independent over R, then

$$\dim K(X_1,\cdots,X_n,\cdots)\otimes_R A=\infty.$$

Proof. (1) Let $P'_0 \subsetneq P'_1 \subsetneq P'_2 \rightleftharpoons \cdots \smile P'_m$ be a chain of prime ideals in $S^{-1}A$. Then there exist prime ideals $P_0 \subsetneq P_1 \subsetneq P_2 \gneqq \cdots \smile P_m$ in A such that $P_i \cap S = \phi$ and $S^{-1}P_i = P'_i$. Note that

$$P_0 \subsetneqq P_1 \subsetneqq P_2 \subsetneqq \cdots \subsetneqq P_m \gneqq (P_m, X_1 - t_1) \subsetneqq \cdots \subsetneqq (P_m, X_1 - t_1, \cdots, X_n - t_n)$$

is a chain of prime ideals in $A[X_1, \dots, X_n]$. If for $T = R[X_1, \dots, X_n] - \{0\}$, $T \cap (P_m, X_1 - t_1, \dots, X_n - t_n) \neq \phi$, then there exist $f(X_1, \dots, X_n) (\neq 0) \in R[X_1, \dots, X_n]$ such that

$$f(X_1, \dots, X_n) = g(X_1, \dots, X_n) + \sum (X_i - t_i)h_i(X_1, \dots, X_n)$$

where $h_i \in A[X_1, \dots, X_n]$ and $g(X_1, \dots, X_n) \in P_m[X_1, \dots, X_n]$. This implies that $f(t_1, \dots, t_n) = g(t_1, \dots, t_n) \in P_m$. Since t_i 's are algebraically independent over R, $f(t_1, \dots, t_n) \neq 0 \in P_m \cap S$. This contradicts our assumption on P_i 's. Therefore $T \cap (P_m, X_1 - t_1, \dots, X_n - t_n) = \phi$, and

$$\dim T^{-1}(A[X_1,\cdots,X_n]) \ge n + \dim S^{-1}A$$

where $T = R[X_1, \dots, X_n] - \{0\}$. Now, note that

$$R[X_1, \cdots, X_n] \otimes_R A \cong A[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$$

as $R[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$ -algebras. Hence

$$K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_{R[X_1, \cdots, X_n]} A[X_1, \cdots, X_n] \cong T^{-1}A[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$$

$$\Rightarrow \dim(K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_R A) \ge n + \dim S^{-1}A.$$

The final part of the statement is immediate since $K(X_1, ..., X_n) \otimes_R A$ is a localization of $R[X_1, \cdots, X_n] \otimes_R A$ which is isomorphic to $A[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$.

Further, as A is Noetherian, $dim A[X_1, \dots, X_n] = dim A + n$ [5, Theorem 15.4] (2) Let us note that

$$K(X_1,\cdots,X_n,\cdots)\otimes_{K(X_1,\cdots,X_n)} (K(X_1,\cdots,X_n)\otimes_R A) \cong K(X_1,\cdots,X_n,\cdots)\otimes_R A$$

Hence $K(X_1, \dots, X_n, \dots) \otimes_R A$ is faithfully flat $K(X_1, \dots, X_n) \otimes_R A$ - algebra. Therefore

$$dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n, \cdots) \otimes_R A \ge dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_R A$$
$$\ge n \qquad (use(1))$$
$$\Rightarrow dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n, \cdots) \otimes_R A = \infty.$$

Remark 2.2. In above Theorem, if B is any $K(X_1, \dots, X_n)$ -algebra, then

$$dim B \otimes_R A \ge dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_R A$$

$$\geq n + \dim S^{-1}A$$

Further, if B is $K(X_1, \dots, X_n, \dots)$ – algebra, then

$$dimB\otimes_R A = \infty.$$

These observations are immediate since $B \otimes_R A$ is faithfully flat $K(X_1, \dots, X_n) \otimes_R A(K(X_1, \dots, X_n, \dots) \otimes_R A) - algebra.$

Corollary 2.3. Let K be a field and A be a K-algebra. If X_1, \dots, X_n are algebraically independent over A and A contains a field extension of K of transcendental degree $\geq n$, then

$$dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A \ge n + dim A.$$

Further, if A is Noetherian, then

$$dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A = n + dim A.$$

Proof. By assumption on A, there exist t_1, \dots, t_n algebraically independent over K such that $K(t_1, \dots, t_n) \subset A$. Hence for $S = K[t_1, \dots, t_n] - 0, S^{-1}A = A$. Therefore, by the Theorem 1,

$$dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A \ge n + dim A.$$

Further, let A be Noetherian. Then as

$$K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A \cong T^{-1}A[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$$

where $T = [X_1, \dots, X_n] - 0$, it is immediate that

$$dimK(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A \le dimA[X_1, \cdots, X_n]$$

= $n + dimA$

Consequently

$$n + dim A = dim K(X_1, \cdots, X_n) \otimes_K A$$

Theorem 2.4. Let $L_i, i = 1, \dots, n$ be a field extension of a given field K and let $trgdeg_K L_i = t_i$. Assume $t_1 \leq t_2 \cdots \leq t_{n-1} \leq t_n$. If $t_{n-1} < \infty$ then

$$\dim(L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n) = t_i + t_2 + \cdots + t_{n-1},$$

otherwise

$$dim(L_1\otimes_K\dots\otimes_K L_n)=\infty$$
 .

Proof. We shall consider the two cases separately.

Case 1. $t_1 \leq t_2 \leq \cdots \leq t_{n-1} < \infty$.

Let $B_k = \{x_{k_1}, x_{k_2}, \dots, x_{kt_k}\}$ be a transcendental basis of L_k over K for $k = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$. Put $E_k = K(x_{k_1}, x_{k_2}, \dots, x_{kt_k})$. Then E_k/K is purely transcendental field extension of transcendental degree t_k and L_k/E_k is algebraic. Hence

$$E_1 \otimes_K E_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K E_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n \stackrel{i_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes i_{n-1} \otimes Id}{\hookrightarrow} L_1 \otimes_k L_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n,$$

where $i_k : E_k \hookrightarrow L_k$ is inclusion map for $k = 1, \dots, n-1$ and Id is identity map, is an integral extension. Therefore

$$dim(L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n) = dim(E_1 \otimes_K E_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K E_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n).$$

Let $Y_{11}, Y_{12}, \dots, Y_{1t_1}, Y_{21}, \dots, Y_{2t_2}, \dots, Y_{(n-1)1}, \dots, Y_{(n-1)t_{(n-1)}}$ be algebraically independent elements over K. Then for $F_k = K(Y_{11}, \dots, Y_{1t_k}), k = 1, \dots, n-1$, we have

$$F_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n \cong E_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K E_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n$$

Therefore

$$\dim(F_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n) = \dim(L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n)$$

Let us note that $F_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n$ is a localization of

$$L_n[Y_{21}\cdots Y_{2t_2},\cdots,Y_{n-1,1},\cdots,Y_{(n-1)t_{(n-1)}}]$$

over a multiplicatively closed subset, hence is a Noetherian ring. Therefore by Corollary 2.3,

$$dim(F_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n) = t_1 + dim(F_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n).$$

By successive application of the Corollary 2.3 or by induction it is immediate that

$$dim F_2 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes F_{n-1} \otimes_K L_n = t_2 + \cdots + t_{n-1}$$

Hence in this case the result follows. Case 2. $t_{n-1} = t_n = \infty$. First of all, note that for any $\sigma \in S_n$

$$L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n \cong L_{\sigma(1)} \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_{\sigma(n)}$$

Therefore

$$L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n \cong L_n \otimes_K L_{n-1} \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_2 \otimes_K L_1.$$

Put $B = L_{n-1} \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_2 \otimes_K L_1$. Then

$$\dim(L_1\otimes_K\cdots\otimes_K L_n)=\dim L_n\otimes_K B.$$

By assumption B contains infinite algebraically independent elements over K. Hence the result is immediate from Theorem 1(2).

Remark 2.5. If $A_i, i = 1, \dots, n$ denote integral extension of L_i , then

 $dim A_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K A_n = dim L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n.$

Further, if A_i is any $L_i - algebra$, then

$$dim A_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K A_n \ge dim (L_1 \otimes_K \cdots \otimes_K L_n).$$

Lemma 2.6. Let $K[X_1, \dots, X_n] = K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}]$ be a polynomial ring in *n*-variables $X_i, i = 1, \dots, n$ over a field K. Then for any $f(\neq 0) \in K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}], dim K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}, 1/f] = n$.

Proof. Let \overline{K} be the algebraic closure of K. Then, since $\overline{K}[\underline{X}, 1/f]$ is integral over $K[\underline{X}, 1/f]$, we have

$$dim\overline{K}[\underline{\mathbf{X}}, 1/f] = dimK[\underline{\mathbf{X}}, 1/f].$$

Hence, to prove the result, we can assume that K is algebraically closed. Note that $\dim K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}] = n$ and for the multiplicatively closed subset $S = \{f^t | t \ge 0\}, S^{-1}K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}] = K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}, 1/f]$. Since $f \ne 0, f$ does not vanish on K^n . Thus, if for $\underline{\lambda} = \lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_n$ in $K^n, f(\underline{\lambda}) \ne 0$, then for the maximal ideal $M = (X_1 - \lambda, \dots, X_n - \lambda_n)$ in $K[\underline{X}], M \cap S = \phi$. Therefore $S^{-1}M$ is a maximal ideal in $S^{-1}K[\underline{X}]$. Clearly, height of M, i.e. $htM = n = htS^{-1}M$. Therefore $\dim K[\underline{\mathbf{X}}, 1/f] = n$.

Theorem 2.4. Let A be an affine algebra over a field K. Then for any non-zero-divisor f in A, dimA[1/f] = dimA.

Proof. Let $A = \frac{K[X_1, \dots, X_n]}{I}$. Since f is a non-zero-divisor in A, f lies in no prime ideal associated to I in $K[X_1, \dots, X_n]$. Let p be an associated prime ideal of I in $K[X_1, \dots, X_n]$ such that

$$dimA = dim \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n]}{p}$$

Then \overline{f} , image of f in $\frac{K[X_1, \dots, X_n]}{p}$, is non-zero. Note that $dimA[/f] \leq dimA$. Further, as $\frac{K[X_1, \dots, X_n]}{p} \cdot [1/\overline{f}]]$ is a quotient ring of A[1/f] in a natural way,

$$dim A[1/f] \ge dim \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n]}{p} [1/\overline{f}].$$

Thus to prove Theorem, it is sufficient to show that

$$dim\frac{K[X_1,\cdots,X_n]}{p} = dim\frac{K[X_1,\cdots,X_n]}{p}[1/\overline{f}]$$

Let us observe that

$$\theta: \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n][Y]}{(p, fY - 1)} \to \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n]}{p} [1/\overline{f}]$$
$$Y \mapsto 1/\overline{f}$$

is $\frac{K[X_1, \dots, X_n]}{p}$ algebra isomorphism. Therefore

$$dim\frac{K[X_1,\cdots,X_n]}{p}[1/\overline{f}] = dim\frac{K[X_1,\cdots,X_n][Y]}{(p,fY-1)}.$$

We note that $fY - 1 \notin p[Y]$. As A $\frac{K[X_1, \dots, X_n]}{p}[1/\overline{f}]$ is an integral domain, the ideal (p, fY - 1) is prime in $K[X_1, \dots, X_n, Y]$. Now, note that $K[X_1, \dots, X_n, Y]$ is a Cohen-Macaulay ring of dimension n + 1. By [4,Ex. 19,page 104], ht(p, fY - 1) = htp + 1. Therefore

$$dim \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n][Y]}{(p, fY - 1)} = (n+1) - (htp + 1)$$
$$= n - htp$$
$$= dim \frac{K[X_1, \cdots, X_n]}{p}.$$

Thus dim A = dim A [1/f].

We, now, deduce the following well known result:

Corollary 2.8. Let A be an affine algebra over a field K which is an integral domain. Then $dimA = trdeg_K L$ where L is the field of fractions of A.

Proof. Let $\{y_1, \dots, y_s\}$ be a maximal algebraically independent set of elements in A over K. Then every $a \in A$ is algebraic over $K[y_1, \dots, y_s]$. Since A is an affine algebra over $K, A = K[a_1, \dots, a_t]$ for some $a_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, t$. Since each a_i is algebraic over $K[y_1, \dots, y_s]$ there exists an element $f(\neq 0) \in K[y_1, \dots, y_s]$ such that A[1/f] is integral over $K[y_1, \dots, y_s][1/f]$. Thus

$$dimA[1/f] = dimK[y_1, \cdots, y_s][1/f]$$
$$= s \qquad (Lemma 2.6)$$

Therefore by Theorem, it is immediate that $dimA = trdeg_K L$.

Acknowledgement

The author is very thankful to R.Y. Sharp for sending reprints of his articles.

References

- [1] Atiyah, M.F., Macdonald, I.G.: Introduction to Commutative Algebra, Addison-Wesley Publ.Co., 1969.
- [2] Eisenbud, David : Commutative Algebra with a view Toward Algebraic Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York, Inc., 1995.

- [3] Essen, Arno van den : *Polynomial automorphims and the Jacobian conjecture*, Progress in Mathematics, Vol 190, Birkhäuser, 2000.
- [4] Kaplansky, Irving: Commutative Rings, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1974.
- [5] Matsumura, Hideyuki : Commutative Ring Theory, Cambridge University Press, 1986.
- [6] Sharp, Rodney Y.: Dimension of the tensor product of two field extensions, Bulletin London Math. Soc. 9 (1977) 42-48.
- Sharp, Rodney Y. and Vamos, Peter: The dimension of the tensor product of a finite number of field extensions, J. of Pure and Applied Algebra, 10 (1977) 249-252.

ON SOME CENTRAL DIFFERENTIAL IDENTITIES IN PRIME RINGS

L. Carini and V. De Filippis

Dipartimento di Matematica, Universitá di Messina, Salita Sperone 31, 98166, Messina, Italy Email : lcarini@dipmat.unime.it , defilippis@unime.it

(Received April 12, 2006)

Abstract. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1,..,x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non-commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of R, $m \ge 1$ a fixed integer, ϱ a non-zero right ideal of R. We prove that if $f(x_1,..,x_n) (d(f(x_1,..,x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for ϱ then either $[f(x_1,..,x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2}$ is an identity for ϱ or $d(\varrho)\varrho = 0$. Moreover if there exist $y_1,..,y_n \in \varrho$ such that $f(y_1,..,y_n) (d(f(y_1,..,y_n)))^m \ne 0$ and $f(x_1,..,x_n) (d(f(x_1,..,x_n)))^m$ is a central differential identity for ϱ , then either $f(x_1,..,x_n)x_{n+1}$ is an identity for ϱ or $f(x_1,..,x_n)$ is central valued on R.

1. Introduction

Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R), extended centroid C and Martindale quotient ring Q. Recall that an additive mapping d of R into itself is a derivation if d(xy) = d(x)y + xd(y), for all $x, y \in R$. In [3] M. Bresar proved that if R is a semiprime ring, d a nonzero derivation of R and $a \in R$ such that $ad(x)^m = 0$, for all $x \in R$, where m is a fixed integer, then ad(R) = 0 when R is (m-1)!-torsion free. In [16] T.K. Lee and J.S. Lin proved Bresar's result without the (m-1)!-torsion free assumption on R. They studied the Lie ideal case and, for the prime case, they showed that if R is a prime ring with a derivation $d \neq 0$, L a Lie ideal of R, $a \in R$ such that $ad(u)^m = 0$, for all $u \in L$, where m is fixed, then ad(L) = 0unless the case when char(R) = 2 and $dim_C RC = 4$. In addition, if $[L, L] \neq 0$, then ad(R) = 0.

Later in [5] C.M. Chang and T.K. Lee established a unified version of the previous results for prime rings. More precisely they proved the following theorem: Let R be a prime ring, ρ a nonzero right ideal of R, d a nonzero derivation of R, $a \in R$ such that $ad([x, y])^m \in Z(R)$ and $(d([x, y])^m a \in Z(R))$, for any $x, y \in \rho$. If $[\rho, \rho]\rho \neq 0$ and $dim_C RC > 4$, then either $ad(\rho) = 0$ (a=0 resp.) or d is the inner derivation induced by some $q \in Q$ such that $q\rho = 0$.

Recently, in [8], the properties of a subset S of R related to its left annihilator $Ann_R(S) = \{x \in R : xS = (0)\}$ were studied. More precisely it was considered the case when $S = \{d(f(x_1, ..., x_n))^m : x_1, ..., x_n \in R\}$, where $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is a non-central multilinear polynomial in n non-commuting variables and m is a fixed integer and it was proved that if $a (d(f(r_1, ..., r_n)))^m = 0$, for any $r_1, ..., r_n \in R$, then a = 0. By a differential polynomial $g(x_1, ..., x_n, d(x_1), ..., d(x_n))$ we mean a generalized polynomial with coefficients in Q and with variables acted by d, that is

$$g(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n)$$

is a generalized polynomial in variables $x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n$ and with coefficients in Q. A differential polynomial $g(x_i, d(x_i))$ is called a differential identity for a subset S of R, if $g(a_1, ..., a_n, d(a_1), ..., d(a_n)) = 0$ for all $a_1, ..., a_n \in S$. Also $g(x_i, d(x_i))$ is called a central differential identity for S if

$$g(a_1, ..., a_n, d(a_1), ..., d(a_n)) \in C$$

for all $a_1, ..., a_n \in S$, but $f(b_1, ..., b_n, d(b_1), ..., d(b_n)) \neq 0$, for some $b_1, ..., b_n \in S$.

⁰ Keywords and phrases : Prime rings, derivations, left Utumi quotient rings, two-sided Martindale quotient ring, differential identities.

⁰ AMS Subject Classification : 16N60, 16W25.

In light of these definitions, in this paper we wish to continue the above line of investigation and show the following:

Theorem 1. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of R, $m \ge 1$ a fixed integer, ρ a non-zero right ideal of R. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for ρ then either $[f(x_1, ..., x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2}$ is an identity for ρ or $d(\rho)\rho = 0$.

Theorem 2. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of R, $m \ge 1$ a fixed integer, ρ a non-zero right ideal of R. If there exist $y_1, ..., y_n \in \rho$ such that $f(y_1, ..., y_n) (d(f(y_1, ..., y_n)))^m \neq 0$ and $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a central differential identity for ρ , then either $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1}$ is an identity for ρ or $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central valued on R, unless when R satisfies the standard identity S_4 .

To prove these theorems we need some notations concerning quotient rings. As stated above, we denote by Q the two-sided Martindale quotient ring of R and by C the center of Q, which is called the extended centroid of R. Note that Q is also a prime ring with C a field. We will make a frequent use of the following notation:

$$f(x_1, ..., x_n) = x_1 \cdot x_2 \cdot \dots \cdot x_n + \sum_{\sigma \in S_n} \alpha_{\sigma} x_{\sigma(1)} \cdot \dots \cdot x_{\sigma(n)}$$

for some $\alpha_{\sigma} \in C$ and we denote by $f^d(x_1, ..., x_n)$ the polynomial obtained from $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ by replacing each coefficient α_{σ} with $d(\alpha_{\sigma} \cdot 1)$.

Thus we write $d(f(r_1, ..., r_n)) = f^d(r_1, ..., r_n) + \sum_i f(r_1, ..., d(r_i), ..., r_n)$, for all $r_1, ..., r_n \in R$. We recall that any derivation of R can be uniquely extended to a derivation of Q, moreover by [15] any two-sided ideal I and Q satisfy the same differential identities. For this reason whenever R satisfies a differential identity, by replacing R by Q we will assume, without loss of generality, R = Q, C = Z(R) and R will be a C-algebra centrally closed.

To obtain the conclusions required we will also make use of the following result: ([11]) Let R be a prime ring, d a non-zero derivation of R and I a non-zero two-sided ideal of R. Let $G(x_1, ..., x_n, d(x_1), ..., d(x_n))$ a differential identity in I, that is

$$G(r_1, ..., r_n, d(r_1), ..., d(r_n)) = 0 \quad \forall r_1, ..., r_n \in I.$$

Then one of the following holds:

1) either d is an inner derivation in Q, in the sense that there exists $q \in Q$ such that d = ad(q) and d(x) = ad(q)(x) = [q, x], for all $x \in R$, and I satisfies the generalized polynomial identity

$$G(x_1, ..., x_n, [q, x_1], ..., [q, x_n]);$$

2) or I satisfies the generalized polynomial identity

$$G(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n).$$

2. The results

Lamma 1. If $f(r_1, ..., r_n) (d(f(r_1, ..., r_n)))^m = 0$, for any $r_1, ..., r_n \in \rho$, then R is a GPI-ring unless when $d(\rho)\rho = 0$.

Proof. Assume R is not commutative and $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is not central in R, otherwise we conclude trivially that R is a GPI-ring. Suppose that d is a inner derivation, d = ad(b), for some $b \in Q$, d(x) = [b, x], for all $x \in Q$. Since $d(\varrho)\varrho \neq 0$, there exists $r \in \varrho$ such that $\{br, r\}$ are linearly C-independent. Then

$$f(rx_1, ..., rx_n) \left([b, f(rx_1, ..., rx_n)] \right)^m = f(rx_1, ..., rx_n) \left([b, f(rx_1, ..., rx_n)] \right)^m$$

is a non-trivial GPI for R.

Let now d an outer derivation of R. If for all $r \in \rho$, $d(r) \in RC$, then [d(r), r] = 0, that is R is commutative (see [2]). Therefore there exists $r \in \rho$ such that $d(r) \notin RC$. Write

$$d(f(rx_1, ..., rx_n)) = f^d(rx_1, ..., rx_n) + \sum_i f(rx_1, ..., d(r)x_i + rd(x_i), ..., rx_n)$$

Thus

$$f(rx_1, ..., rx_n) \left(f^d(rx_1, ..., rx_n) + \sum_i f(rx_1, ..., d(r)x_i + rd(x_i), ..., rx_n) \right)^m$$

is a generalized differential identity for R. In particular, by Kharchenko's theorem in [11] (see Claim 1), since $d(r) \notin RC$, we have that

$$f(rx_1, ..., rx_n) \left(f^d(rx_1, ..., rx_n) + \sum_i f(rx_1, ..., d(r)x_i, ..., rx_n) \right)^m$$

is a non-trivial GPI for R.

Lamma 2. Let $R = M_k(F)$ be the ring of $k \times k$ matrices over the field F, with $k \ge 2$, d a non-zero derivation of R, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a multilinear polynomial in R. Assume d the inner derivation or R induced by the element $A \in R$, that is d(x) = [A, x], for all $x \in R$. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a central differential identity for R then $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central valued on R.

Proof. Suppose $k \ge 2$. Let e_{ij} the usual matrix unit with 1 in (i,j)-entry and zero elsewhere. By the assumption

$$[f(r_1, ..., r_n) ([A, f(r_1, ..., r_n)])^m, r_{n+1}] = 0 \quad \forall r_1, r_2, ..., r_{n+1} \in R$$

If assume $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ not central in R, by [18, Lemma 2, proof of Lemma 3] there exist $r_1, ..., r_n \in R$ such that $f(r_1, ..., r_n) = ae_{ij}$, with $0 \neq a \in F$ and $i \neq j$. Since the subset $\{f(r_1, ..., r_n) : r_1, ..., r_n \in R\}$ is invariant under any F-automorphism, then for any $i \neq j$ there exist $t_1, ..., t_n \in R$ such that $f(t_1, ..., t_n) = ae_{ij}$. Thus, for any $i \neq j$,

$$ae_{ij}([A, ae_{ij}])^m \in F$$

that is

$$ae_{ij} (Aae_{ij})^m \in F$$

It follows that the (j,i)-entry of the matrix A is zero, for all $i \neq j$ and this means that the A is diagonal, that is $A = \sum_t \alpha_t e_{tt}$, with $\alpha_t \in F$. Now denote d the inner derivation induced by A. If χ is a F-automorphism of R, then the derivation $d_{\chi} = \chi^{-1} d\chi$ satisfies the same condition of d, that is

$$f(r_1, ..., r_n) (d_{\chi}(f(r_1, ..., r_n)))^m \in F \text{ for any } r_1, ..., r_n \in R.$$

Since the derivation d_{χ} is the one induced by the element $\chi(A) = \chi^{-1}A\chi$, then $\chi(A)$ is a diagonal matrix, according to the above argument. Fix now $i \neq j$ and $\chi(x) = (1 + e_{ij})x(1 - e_{ij})$, for all $x \in R$. Since $\chi(A) = (1 + e_{ij})A(1 - e_{ij})$ must be diagonal then

$$\sum_{t} \alpha_t e_{tt} - \alpha_i e_{ij} + \alpha_j e_{ij} \quad \text{is diagonal}$$

that is $\alpha_i = \alpha_j$ and we get the contradiction that A is a central matrix. Therefore $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ must be central in R.

Lamma 3. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of $R, m \ge 1$

a fixed integer. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a central differential identity for R then $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central valued on R. **Proof.** Let

 $G(r_1 - r_2 - d(r_1) - d(r_2)) = f(r_1 - r_2) (d(f(r_1 - r_2)))$

$$\begin{split} f(x_1,..,x_n,d(x_1),..,d(x_n)) &= f(x_1,..,x_n) \left(d(f(x_1,..,x_n)) \right)^m = \\ f(x_1,..,x_n) \left(f^d(x_1,..,x_n) + \sum_i f(x_1,..,d(x_i),..,x_n) \right)^m. \end{split}$$

If d is not inner then, by Claim 1, R satisfies the differential identity

$$[G(x_1, ..., x_n, y_1, ..., y_n), x_{n+1}] =$$

$$= \left[f(x_1, ..., x_n) \left(f^d(x_1, ..., x_n) + \sum_i f(x_1, ..., y_i, ..., x_n) \right)^m, x_{n+1} \right].$$

In particular, the blended component $[f^{m+1}(x_1,..,x_n),x_{n+1}]$ is an identity for R, that is $f(x_1,..,x_n)^{m+1}$ is central valued in R. In this case since R satisfies a polynomial identity, there exists a suitable field Fsuch that R and $M_k(F)$ satisfy the same polynomial identities. In particular $Z(R) \neq 0$. Let $\alpha \in Z(R)$ and $a \in R - Z(R)$. Since

$$f(x_1, ..., x_n) \left(f^d(x_1, ..., x_n) + \sum_i f(x_1, ..., y_i, ..., x_n) \right)^m \in Z(R)$$

we have

$$f(x_1, ..., x_n) \left(f^d(x_1, ..., x_n) + \alpha[a, f(x_1, ..., x_n)] \right)^m =$$
$$f(x_1, ..., x_n) \left(f^d(x_1, ..., x_n) + \sum_{i=1}^n f(x_1, ..., [\alpha a, x_i], ..., x_n)] \right)^{m+1} \in Z(R).$$

By a Vandermonde argument, we get $f(x_1, ..., x_n)[a, f(x_1, ..., x_n)]^m \in Z(R)$. By Lemma 2, since $a \notin Z(R)$, we have that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central in R.

Now let d be an inner derivation induced by an element $A \in Q$. Then, for any $r_1, r_2, ..., r_n \in R$, $[f(r_1, ..., r_n)([A, f(r_1, ..., r_n)])^m, r_{n+1}] = 0$. Since by [1] (see also [6]) R and Q satisfy the same generalized polynomial identities, we have $[f(r_1, ..., r_n)([A, f(r_1, ..., r_n)])^m, r_{n+1}] = 0$, for any $r_1, r_2, ..., r_{n+1} \in Q$. Moreover, since Q remains prime by the primeness of R, replacing R by Q we may assume that $A \in R$ and C = Z(Q) is just the center of R. In the present situation R is a centrally closed prime C-algebra [9], i.e. RC = R and $H = soc(R) \neq 0$. By Martindale's theorem in [19], RC = R is a primitive ring which is isomorphic to a dense ring of linear transformations of a vector space V over a division ring D. Since R is primitive then there exist a vector space V and the division ring D such that R is dense of D-linear transformations over V.

Assume first that $dim_D V = \infty$. By Lemma 2 in [20], since R satisfies the generalized polynomial identity $[f(x_1,..,x_n)([A,f(x_1,..,x_n)])^m,x_{n+1}], R$ also satisfies $[x([A,x])^m,y]$. Let e,g be orthogonal idempotent elements of H, i.e. eg = 0. Thus, for all $r \in H$,

$$0 = [erg([A, erg])^m, e] = -erg(Aerg)^m$$

which implies that $(rgAe)^{m+1} = 0$. By [10] it follows rgAe = 0 and since r is arbitrary in H, we get gAe = 0.

In particular for any idempotent $e \in H$, (1-e)Ae = eA(1-e) = 0, that is ed(1-e) = d(1-e)e = 0. From this we have

$$ed(e) = 0$$
 and $d(e)e = 0$

and so $d(e) = d(e^2) = ed(e) + d(e)e = 0$. Therefore for any $t \in E$, the additive subgroup generated by the idempotent elements in H, d(t) = 0, i.e. d(E) = 0. Since E is a Lie ideal of H, d must be zero in H and so in R, a contradiction.

Therefore $\dim_D V$ must be a finite positive integer. In this case R is a simple GPI ring with 1, and so it is a central simple algebra finite dimensional over its center. From Lemma 2 in [12] it follows that there exists a suitable field F such that $R \subseteq M_k(F)$, the ring of all $k \times k$ matrices over F, and moreover $M_k(F)$ satisfies the generalized polynomial identity $[f(x_1, ..., x_n)([A, f(x_1, ..., x_n)])^m, x_{n+1}]$. As in Lemma 2 we conclude that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central-valued in R.

Remark 1. In all that follows we prefer to write the polynomial $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ by using the following notation:

$$f(x_1,..,x_n) = \sum_i g_i(x_1,..,x_{i-1},x_{i+1},..,x_n)x_i$$

where any g_i is a multilinear polynomial of degree n-1 and x_i never appears in any monomial of g_i . Note that if there exists an idempotent $e \in H = Soc(Q)$ such that any g_i is a polynomial identity for eHe, then we get the conclusion that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is a polynomial identity for eHe. Thus we suppose that there exists an index i and $r_1, ..., r_{n-1} \in eHe$ such that $g_i(r_1, ..., r_{n-1}) \neq 0$. Now let $f(x_1, ..., x_n) = g_i(x_1, ..., x_{i+1}, ..., x_n)x_i + h(x_1, ..., x_n)$ where g_i and h are multilinear polynomials, x_i never appears in any monomials of g_i and x_i never appears as last variable in any monomials of h. Without loss of generality we assume i = n, say $g_n(x_1, ..., x_{n-1}) = t(x_1, ..., x_{n-1})$ and so $f(x_1, ..., x_n) = t(x_1, ..., x_{n-1})x_n + h(x_1, ..., x_n)$ where $t(eHe) \neq 0$.

Theorem 1. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of R, $m \ge 1$ a fixed integer, ρ a non-zero right ideal of R. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for ρ then either $[f(x_1, ..., x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2}$ is an identity for ρ or $d(\rho)\rho = 0$.

Proof. If $[f(r_1, ..., r_n), r_{n+1}]r_{n+2} = 0$ for all $r_1, ..., r_{n+2} \in \varrho$, the proof of Theorem 6 of [14, page 17, rows 3-8] shows that there exists an idempotent element $e \in Soc(RC)$ such that $C\varrho = eRC$ and $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is an identity for eRCe.

Suppose by contradiction that $[f(x_1,..,x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2}$ is not an identity for ρ and also $d(\rho)\rho \neq 0$. Since by Lemma 1 R is a GPI ring, so is also Q (see [1] and [6]). By [16] Q is a primitive ring with $H = Soc(Q) \neq 0$, moreover we may assume that $[f(x_1,..,x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2}$ is not an identity for ρH , otherwise by [1] and [4] it should be an identity also for ρQ , which is a contradiction. Let $a, b, a_1, .., a_{n+2} \in \rho H$ such that $[f(a_1,..,a_n), a_{n+1}]a_{n+2} \neq 0$ and $d(a)b \neq 0$. Since H is a regular ring, then for all $a \in H$ there exists $e^2 = e \in H$ such that $eH = aH + bH + a_1H + a_2H + ... + a_{n+2}H$, $e \in eH$, a = ea, b = eb and $a_i = ea_i$ for all i = 1, ..., n+2. Therefore we have $[f(eHe), f(eHe)] \neq 0$. By our assumption and by [15] we also assume that $f(x_1,...,x_n) (d(f(x_1,...,x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for ρQ . In particular $f(x_1,...,x_n) (d(f(x_1,...,x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for $all r_1, ..., r_n \in H$,

$$\begin{split} 0 &= f(er_1,..,er_n) \left(d(ef(er_1,..,er_n)) \right)^m = \\ f(er_1,..,er_n) \left(d(e)f(er_1,..,er_n) + ed(f(er_1,..,er_n)) \right)^m. \end{split}$$

As we said above, write $f(x_1, ..., x_n) = t(x_1, ..., x_{n-1})x_n + h(x_1, ..., x_n)$, where x_n never appears as last variable in any monomials of h. Let $r \in H$ and pick $r_n = r(1 - e)$. Hence we have:

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= t(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})er(1-e)(d(e)t(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})er(1-e) + \\ &ed(t(er_1, ..., er_{n-1}))er(1-e) + et(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})d(e)r(1-e) + \\ &et(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})ed(r)(1-e) + et(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})erd(1-e))^m = \\ &t(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})er(1-e)(d(e)t(er_1, ..., er_{n-1})er(1-e))^m \end{aligned}$$

that is

$$((1-e)d(e)t(er_1,..,er_{n-1})er)^{m+1} = 0$$
$$((1-e)d(e)t(er_1,..,er_{n-1})eH)^{m+1} = 0$$

and, by [10], $(1 - e)d(e)t(er_1, .., er_{n-1})eH = 0$ which implies

$$((1-e)d(e)t(er_1e,..,er_{n-1}e) = 0.$$

Since eHe is a simple artinian ring and $t(eHe) \neq 0$ is invariant under the action of all inner automorphisms of eHe, by [7, Lemma 2], (1-e)d(e) = 0 and so $d(e) = ed(e) \in eH$. Thus $d(eH) \subseteq d(e)H + ed(H) \subseteq eH \subseteq \varrho H$ and $d(a) = d(ea) \in d(eH) \subseteq eH$. If denote I = eH, this means that $d(I) \subseteq I$. Therefore the derivation d induces another one δ , which is defined in the prime ring $\overline{I} = \frac{I}{I \cap l_H(I)}$, where $l_H(I)$ is the left annihilator in H of I, and $\delta(\overline{x}) = \overline{d(x)}$, for all $x \in I$. Moreover we obviously have that $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a differential identity for \overline{I} . So, by Lemma 3, one of the following holds: either $\delta = \overline{0}$, or $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central in \overline{I} .

If $\delta = \overline{0}$, we have d(I)I = 0 which contradicts with $d(a)b = d(ea)eb \neq 0$; on the other hand if $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central in \overline{I} , it follows that I satisfies

$$[f(x_1, ..., x_n), x_{n+1}]x_{n+2} = 0$$

which contradicts with

$$[f(a_1, ..., a_n), a_{n+1}]a_{n+2} = [f(ea_1, ..., ea_n), ea_{n+1}]ea_{n+2} \neq 0$$

Finally we study the central-case. We need to premit the following:

Lemma 4. Let R be a prime ring, ρ a non-zero right ideal of R and m a fixed integer $m \geq 1$. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is a multilinear polynomial over C such that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m \in Z(R)$ for all $x_1, ..., x_n \in \rho$, then either $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1} = 0$ for all $x_1, ..., x_n \in \rho$ or $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m$ is central valued on R.

Proof. Since $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m \in Z(R)$ for any $x_1, ..., x_n \in \varrho$, R satisfies the non-trivial generalized polynomial identity $[f(ax_1, ..., ax_n)^m, x_{n+1}]$, for a suitable $a \in \varrho - C$. Suppose by contradiction that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1}$ is not an identity for ϱ . Say $f(a_1, ..., a_n)a_{n+1} \neq 0$, for $a_1, ..., a_{n+1} \in \varrho$. As remarked above, there exists an idempotent $e \in H$, such that $eH = a_1H + a_2H + ... + a_{n+1}H$, $e \in eH$ and $a_i = ea_i$ for all i = 1, ..., n + 1. Thus, for any $r_1, ..., r_{n+1} \in R$,

$$0 = [f(er_1, ..., er_n)^m, r_{n+1}(1-e)] = f(er_1, ..., er_n)^m r_{n+1}(1-e)$$

and, thanks to the primeness of R, either (1 - e) = 0 or $f(er_1, ..., er_n)^m = 0$. In the first case e = 1 and H satisfies $[f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m, x_{n+1}]$, that is $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m$ is central valued on H as well as on R.

In the other case, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m$ is an identity for eH, and by main theorem in [7] we have that $f(ex_1, ..., ex_n)ex_{n+1}$ is an identity for H. This last conclusion contradicts with $f(a_1, ..., a_n)a_{n+1} = f(ea_1, ..., ea_n)ea_{n+1} \neq 0$.

Theorem 2. Let R be an associative prime ring with center Z(R) and extended centroid C, $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ a non-zero multilinear polynomial over C in n non commuting variables, d a non-zero derivation of R, $m \ge 1$ a fixed integer, ρ a non-zero right ideal of R. If there exist $y_1, ..., y_n \in \rho$ such that $f(y_1, ..., y_n) (d(f(y_1, ..., y_n)))^m \neq 0$ and $f(x_1, ..., x_n) (d(f(x_1, ..., x_n)))^m$ is a central differential identity for ρ , then either $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1}$ is an identity for ρ or $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is central valued on R.

Proof. Since ρ satisfies the central differential identity

$$f(x_1, ..., x_n)(d(f(x_1, ..., x_n))^n)$$

by Theorem 1 in [5] R is a PI-ring and so RC is a finite dimensional central simple C-algebra. By Wedderburn-Artin theorem $RC \cong M_k(D)$ for some $k \ge 1$ and D a finite-dimensional central division C-algebra. By Theorem 2 in [13] $f(x_1, ..., x_n)(d(f(x_1, ..., x_n))^m \in C$ for all $x_1, ..., x_n \in \rho C$. Without loss of generality we may replace R with RC and assume that $R = M_k(D)$. For any $x_1, ..., x_n \in \rho$ and $r \in R$:

$$f(x_1r, x_2, .., x_n) \left(f^d(x_1r, x_2, .., x_n) + f(d(x_1)r + x_1d(r), x_2, .., x_n) + \sum_{i \ge 2} f(x_1r, .., d(x_i), .., x_n) \right)^m \in C.$$

If d is an outer derivation, fix d(r) = y, r = 0 and obtain

$$f(x_1y, x_2, ..., x_n)^m \in C$$
, for all $x_1, ..., x_n \in \varrho$, $y \in R$.

By Lemma 4 either $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1} = 0$ or $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m$ is central valued on R. In this last case, if $f(x_1, ..., x_n)^m = 0$ for all $x_1, ..., x_n \in \rho$, as reduction of main theorem in [7], it follows that $f(x_1, ..., x_n)x_{n+1} = 0$. In the either case there exists $b_1, ..., b_n \in \rho$ such that $0 \neq f(b_1, ..., b_n)^m \in C$, that is ρ contains an invertible element of R, and so $\rho = R$. Hence we conclude by Lemma 3.

Suppose now that d is an inner derivation, say d(x) = [q, x] = qx - xq. Let F be a maximal subfield of D, so that $M_k(D) \otimes_C F \cong M_t(F)$ where $t = k \cdot [F : C]$. Hence the derivation d can be extended to $M_k(D) \otimes_C F$ and $f(x_1, ..., x_n)(d(f(x_1, ..., x_n))^m \in Z(M_t(F)))$, for any $x_1, ..., x_n \in \varrho \otimes F$ (Lemma 2 in [13] and proposition in [17]). Therefore we may assume that $R \cong M_t(F)$ and $\varrho = eR = (e_{11}R + ... + e_{ll}R)$, where $t \ge 2$ and $l \le t$.

Suppose that $t \ge 2$, otherwise we are done and denote $q = \sum_{r,s} q_{rs} e_{rs}$, for $q_{rs} \in F$. If $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ is not an identity for ϱ , then by Lemma 3 in [4], for any $i \le l, j > l$, the element e_{ij} falls in the additive subgroup of *RC* generated by all valuations of $f(x_1, ..., x_n)$ in ϱ . Since the matrix $e_{ij}(qe_{ij} - e_{ij}q)^m$ has rank 1, then it is not central. Therefore $e_{ij}(qe_{ij} - e_{ij}q)^m = 0$, i.e. $e_{ij}(qe_{ij})^m = 0$. This means that $q_{ji} = 0$ for any $i \le l$ and for any j > l, that is $q\varrho \subseteq \varrho$. This implies that $d(\varrho) \subseteq \varrho$. Since $0 \ne f(y_1, ..., y_n)(d(f(y_1, ..., y_n))^m \in \varrho \cap F)$, it is invertible and $\varrho = R$. Thus we conclude again by Lemma 3.

References

- [1] Beidar, K.I.: Rings with generalized identities III, Moscow Univ. Math. Bull. 33 (4), (1978).
- [2] Bell, H.E. and Martindale III, W.S. : Centralizing mappings of semiprime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 30 (1987) 92-101.
- [3] Bresar, M. : A note on derivations, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 32 (1990) 83-88.
- [4] Chang, C.M. : Power central values of derivations on multilinear polynomials, Taiwanese J. Math. vol.2 (2003) 329-338.
- [5] Chang, C.M. and Lee, T.K. : Annihilators of power values of derivations in prime rings, Comm. in Algebra, 26 (7) (1998) 2091-2113.
- [6] Chuang, C.L.: GPI's having coefficients in Utumi quotient rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 103 No.3 (1988) 723-728.
- [7] Chuang, C.L. and Lee, T.K. : Rings with annihilator conditions on multilinear polynomials, Chinese J. Math. 24 No. 2 (1996) 177-185.
- [8] De Filippis, V. : Prime rings with annihilator condition on power values of derivations on multilinear polynomials, Taiwanese J. Math. vol. 5 No. 4 (2001) 725-730.
- [9] Erickson, J.S.; Martindale III, W.S. and Osborn, J.M. : Prime nonassociative algebras, Pacific J. Math. 60 (1975) 49-63.
- [10] Felzenszwalb, B.: On a result of Levitzki, Canad. Math. Bull. 21 (1978) 241-242.
- [11] Kharchenko, V.K.: Differential identities of prime rings, Algebra and Logic 17 (1978) 155-168.
- [12] Lanski, C. : An Engel condition with derivation, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 118 No.3 (1993) 731-734.
- [13] Lee, T.K.: Left annihilators characterized by GPIs, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 347 (1995) 3159-3165.
- [14] Lee, T.K.: Power reduction property for generalized identities of one-sided ideals, Algebra Coll. 3 (1996) 19-24.
- [15] Lee, T.K. : Semiprime rings with differential identities, Bull. Inst. Math. Acad. Sinica vol.20, N0.1 (1992) 27-38.

- [16] Lee, T.K. and Lin, J.S. : A result on derivations, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 124 No.6 (1996) 1687-1691.
- [17] Lee, T.K. and Wong, T.L. : Derivations centralizing Lie ideals, Bull. Inst. Math. Acad. Sinica (1995) 1-5.
- [18] Leron: Nil and power central polynomials in rings, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 202 (1975) 97-103.
- [19] Martindale III, W.S.: Prime rings satisfying a generalized polynomial identity, J. Algebra 12 (1969) 576-584.
- [20] Wong, T.L.: Derivations with power central values on multilinear polynomials, Algebra Coll. 3:4 (1996) 369-378.

OPERATORS OF COMPOSITION BETWEEN ORLICZ SPACES¹²

B.S. Komal, Shally Gupta and Tejinder Kour

Department of Mathematics, University of Jammu, Jammu-180 006, India E-Mail : bskomal2@yahoo.co.in

(Received April 28, 2006; Revised January 5, 2007)

Abstract. A study of composition operators between Orlicz spaces is made in this paper. It is shown that if ϕ_1 is not stronger than ϕ_2 , then no composition operator exists from $L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$ into $L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$.

1. Introduction

Let X and Y be two non-empty sets and let F(X) and F(Y) be topological vector spaces of complex valued functions on X and Y respectively. Suppose $T: Y \to X$ is a mapping such that $f \circ T \in F(Y)$ whenever $f \in F(X)$. Then we can define a composition transformation $C_T: F(X) \to F(Y)$ by $C_T f = f \circ T$ for every $f \in F(X)$. In case C_T in continuous we call it a composition operator induced by T. These operators received considerable attention over past several decades especially on L^p -spaces and they played an important role in the study of operators on Hilbert spaces. For more details about these operators we refer to Carlson [1], Cowen [2], Feldman [3], Halmos [4], Komal and Shally[5], Rao and Zen [6], Singh([7],[8],[9]), Singh and Komal [10], Takagi and Yokouchi [11], Whitley [12].

The main purpose of this paper is to study composition operators between Orlicz spaces.

2. Preliminaries

Let $\phi: R \to R_+$ be such that (I) $\phi(x) = 0$ iff x = 0 (II) $\lim_{x \to 0} \phi(x) = 0$ (III) $\lim_{x \to \infty} \phi(x) = \infty$

Such a function ϕ is known as N-function. The N-function ϕ_1 is called stronger than the N-function ϕ_2 if $\phi_2(x) \leq \phi_1(ax)$ for all $x \in R_+$ and for some a > 0. In this case we write $\phi_1 > \phi_2$ or $\phi_2 < \phi_1$. If $\phi_1 < \phi_2$ and $\phi_2 < \phi_1$ then ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are called equivalent functions and we denote it by $\phi_1 \approx \phi_2$. Let (X, S, μ) be a non atomic sigma finite measure space. Define $L^{\phi}(\mu) = \{f | f : X \to R \text{ is measurable and } \int_X \phi(\in |f|)d\mu < \infty$ for some $\epsilon > 0\}$. It is well known that $L^{\phi}(\mu)$ is a Banach space under norm $||f||_{\phi} = \inf_X \{\epsilon > 0 : \int_X \phi[\frac{|f|}{\epsilon}]d\mu \leq 1\}$. If we take $\phi(x) = x^p, 1 , then <math>L^{\varphi}(X, S, \mu)$ becomes L^p -space.

A measurable transformation $T: X \to X$ is called non singular if $\mu(E) = 0 \Rightarrow \mu T^{-1}(E) = 0$. The Radon Nikodym derivative of the measure μT^{-1} with respect to the measure μ is denoted by f_0 . For more information concerning Orlicz spaces we refer to Rao and Zen [6].

3. Bounded Composition Operators Between Orlicz Spaces

In this section we characterize bounded composition operators between Orlicz spaces.

Theorem 3.1. Let $T : X \to X$ be a non singular measurable transformation. Then $C_T : L^{\phi_1}(\mu) \to L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ is continuous if and only if there exists M > 0 such that

¹ Keywords and phrases : Composition operator, Fredholm operator, Young function, Orlicz space.

² AMS Subject Classification : 47B38, 47B99.

$$f_0(x)\phi_2(y) \le \phi_1(My)$$
, for almost all $x \in X$ and $y \in R$. (3.1.1)

Proof. Assume first that condition (3.1.1) is satisfied. Take $f \in L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$. Then $\int_X \phi_1(\alpha f) d\mu < \infty$ for some $\alpha > 0$. For $\beta = \alpha/M$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_X \phi_2(\beta C_T f) d\mu &= \int_X f_0 \phi_2(\beta f) d\mu \\ &\leq \int_X \phi_1(\alpha f) d\mu. \end{split}$$

This proves that $C_T f \in L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ and C_T is continuous.

Conversely, assume that C_T is continuous. If the condition (3.1.1) is false, then for each $n \in N$, there exists $y_n \in R$ and a set F_n of positive measure such that

$$f_0(x)\phi_2(y_n) > \phi_1(2^n n^2 y_n)$$
 for all $x \in F_n$.

Since μ is non atomic, we can choose a sequence of disjoint measurable sets $\{E_n\}$ such that for every $n \in N, E_n \subset F_n$ and

$$\mu(E_n) = \frac{\phi_1(y_1)}{2^n \phi_1(n^2 y_n)}$$

Take $f = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} 2^n y_n \chi_{E_n}$. It is easy to check that $f \in L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$ but $C_T f \notin L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$. This contradicts our assumption. Hence condition (3.1.1) must hold.

Theorem 3.2. Suppose $\phi_2 < \phi_1$. Then the following are equivalent:

(I) $C_T: L^{\phi_1}(\mu) \to L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ is a bounded operator.

(II) f_0 is a essentially bounded measurable function.

(III) There exist M > 0 such that $\mu(T^{-1}(E)) \le M\mu(E)$ for every $E \in S$.

Proof. (I) \Rightarrow (II): Suppose C_T is a bounded operator. Taking y = 1 in the inequality (3.1.1), we find that f_{\circ} is essentially bounded.

(II) \Rightarrow (III): If f_0 is essentially bounded, then

$$\mu(T^{-1}(E)) = \int_E f_0(x) d\mu \le ||f_0||_{\infty} \mu(E)$$

where $||f_0||_{\infty}$ is the essential supremum of f_0 . This proves the inequality III.

(III) \Rightarrow (I): Since $\phi_2(y) \leq \phi_1(ay)$ for some a > 0 and for all $y \geq 0$. Now from the given condition $\mu(T^{-1}(E)) \leq M\mu(E)$ for all $E \in S$, we have $f_0(x) \leq M$ for almost all $x \in X$ and for some $M \geq 1$. Hence

$$egin{aligned} f_0(x)\phi_2(y) &\leq M\phi_1(ay) \ &\leq \phi_1(May) \ &\leq \phi_1(by) \end{aligned}$$

for almost all $x \in X$ and all $y \in R$. The continuity of C_T now follows from Theorem 3.1.

Theorem 3.3. If $\phi_2 \not< \phi_1$ then there does not exist any bounded composition operator from $L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$ into $L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$.

Proof. Assume the contrary. Let $C_T : L^{\phi_1}(\mu) \to L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ be a bounded composition operator. Then we can find some positive integer n such that the set $G = \{x \in X : |f_0(x)| \ge 1/n\}$ has positive measure. Let E be a measurable subset of G such that $0 < \mu(E) < \infty$. Now ϕ_2 is not stronger that ϕ_1 . Therefore we can find a sequence $\{x_n\}$ in X such that $\phi_2(x_n) > \phi_1(2^n n^2 x_n)$ and $x_n \uparrow \infty$. Choose a sequence $\{E_n\}$ of disjoint

shows that $f \in L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$. But

$$\int_X \phi_2(C_T f) d\mu = \int_X f_0 \phi_2(f) d\mu$$

$$\geq \int_X \frac{1}{n_0} \phi_1(f) d\mu > \sum_{n=n_0} \phi_2(x_n) \mu(E_n) = \infty$$

which is a contradiction . This completes the proof.

4. Fredholm and invertible composition operators between Orlicz spaces

This section studies Fredholm and invertible compositon operators between Orlicz spaces.

Theorem 4.1. Let $C_T : L^{\phi_1}(\mu) \to L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ be a bounded operator, where ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are two Orlicz functions. Then C_T has closed range if and only if there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $f_0(x)\phi_2(y) \ge \phi_1(\delta y)$ for each $y \in R$ and for μ - almost all $x \in \text{supp } f_0 = \{x \in X : f_0(x) \ne 0\} = (X_0 \text{ say}).$ **Proof.** Assume first that the condition of the theorem is satisfed. For $f \in L^{\phi_1}(\mu)$, consider

$$\int \phi_1 \Big[\frac{\delta f}{||C_T f||_{\phi_2}} \Big] d\mu \le \int_S f_0(x) \phi_2 \Big[\frac{f}{||C_T f||_{\phi_2}} \Big] d\mu$$

$$= \int_{S} \phi_2 \Big[\frac{C_T f}{||C_T f||_{\phi_2}} \Big] d\mu \le 1.$$

Therefore

$$\delta ||f||_{\phi_1} \le ||C_T f||_{\phi_2}, \text{ for every } f \in L^{\phi_1}(S).$$
(4.1.1)

Since Ker $C_T = L^{\phi_1}(X|S)$, it follows from (4.1.1) that C_T has closed range. Conversely suppose, C_T has closed range. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

$$||C_T||_{\phi_2} \ge \delta ||f||_{\phi_1}$$
, for every $f \in L^{\phi_1}(S)$ (4.1.2)

For each $n \in H$, define

$$H_n = \{x \in S : \phi_1 \Big[\frac{|y|}{(n+1)^2} \Big] \le f_0(x)\phi_2(y) \le \phi_1 \Big[\frac{|y|}{n^2} \Big] \text{for } y \in R\}$$

Set $H = \{n : \mu(H_n) > 0\}$. Let $f = \sum_{n \in H} \phi_1^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(H_n)}\right) C_T \chi_{H_n}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{X} \phi_{2}(f) d\mu &= \sum_{n \in H} \int_{X} \phi_{2} \Big[\phi_{1}^{-1} \Big(\frac{1}{\mu(H_{n})} \Big) C_{T} \chi_{H_{n}} \Big] d\mu \\ &= \sum_{n \in H} \int_{H_{n}} f_{0} \phi_{2} \Big[\phi_{1}^{-1} \Big(\frac{1}{\mu(H_{n})} \Big) \Big] d\mu \\ &\leq \sum_{n \in H} \int_{H_{n}} \phi_{1} \Big[\frac{1}{n^{2}} \Big(\phi_{1}^{-1} \frac{1}{\mu(H_{n})} \Big) \Big] d\mu \\ &\leq \sum_{n \in H} \frac{1}{n^{2}} \int_{H_{n}} \phi_{1} \Big[\phi_{1}^{-1} \Big(\frac{1}{\mu(H_{n})} \Big) \Big] d\mu \\ &\leq \sum_{n \in H} \frac{1}{n^{2}} \int_{H_{n}} \frac{1}{\mu(H_{n})} d\mu \\ &= \sum_{n \in H} \frac{1}{n^{2}} < \infty \end{split}$$

Using (4.1.2) we infer that $f_1 \in L^{\phi_1}(S)$, where $f_1 = \sum_{n \in H} \phi_1^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(H_n)} \chi_{H_n} \right)$. But $\int_X \phi_1(f_1) d\mu = \sum_{n \in H} \int_X \phi_1 \left[\phi_1^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(H_n)} \chi_{H_n} \right) \right] d\mu$ $= \sum_{n \in H} \int_{H_n} \frac{1}{\mu(H_n)} d\mu = \sum_{n \in H} 1 = \infty,$

if H is an infinite set. Hence H must be a finite set. In other words, there exists n_0 such that $\mu(H_n) = 0$ for $n \ge n_0$. This implies that

$$f_0(x)\phi_2(y) \ge \phi_1[rac{1}{n_0^2}y] = \phi_1(\delta y)$$
say

This proves the theorem.

Corollary 4.2. Suppose $\phi_1 \approx \phi_2$. Then $C_T : L^{\phi_1}(\mu) \to L^{\phi_2}(\mu)$ is Fredholm if and only if C_T is invertible.

References

- Carlson, J.W.: Weighted composition operators on l², Dissertation, Purdue University, West Lafayette, Indiana, (1985).
- [2] Cowen, C.C: Composition operators on Hilbert spaces of analytic functions, a status report, operator theory: Operator algebra and applications, part I (Durham, N.H. 1988) 131-145, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 51, Part I, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, R.I., 1990.
- [3] Feldman, W. : Compact weighted composition operators on Banach Lattices, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 108 (1990) 95-99.
- [4] Halmos, P.R.: A Hilbert space problem book, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1974.
- [5] Komal, B.S. and Gupta, Shally: Multiplication operators between Orlicz spaces, Integral equations and Operator Theory, 41 (2001) 324-330.
- [6] Rao, M.M. and Ren, Z.D.: Theory of Orlicz spaces, Marcel Dekker, Inc. New York, Basel and Hong Kong, 1991.
- [7] Singh, R.K.: Compact and quasinormal composition operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 45 (1974) 80-82.

- [8] Singh, R.K.: Normal and Hermitian composition operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 47 (1975) 348-350.
- [9] Singh, R.K.: Composition operators induced by rational functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 59 (1976) 329-333.
- [10] Singh, R.K. and Komal, B.S. : Composition operators on ℓ_p and its adjoint, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 70 (1978) 21-25.
- [11] Takagi, H. and Yokouchi, K. : Multiplication and composition operators between L^p- spaces, Contemporary Mathematics, 232 (1999) 321-338.
- [12] Whitley, R.: Normal and quasinormal composition operators, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 70 (1978) 114-118.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

RING HULLS OF GENERALIZED TRIANGULAR MATRIX RINGS

Gary F. Birkenmeier¹, Jae Keol Park² and S. Tariq Rizvi³

¹Department of Mathematics, University of Louisiana at Lafayette, Lafayette, LA 70504-1010, U.S. A. E-mail : gfb1127@louisiana.edu

²Department of Mathematics, Busan National University, Busan 609-735, South Korea E-mail : jkpark@pusan.ac.kr

³Department of Mathematics, Ohio State University, Lima, OH 45804-3576, U. S. A. E-mail : rizvi.1@osu.edu

Dedicated to the memory of Professor M. A. Kazim

(Received May 20, 2006)

Abstract. We study FI-extending ring and FI-extending pseudo ring hulls for a class of generalized 2×2 upper triangular matrix rings. We construct an example of a ring which has three distinct right FI-extending ring hulls with properties and behavior that can be quite different from each other. It is also shown that the intersection of two right FI-extending ring hulls is not necessarily right FI-extending. The example illustrates various properties of ring hulls and pseudo ring hulls for a certain type of generalized triangular matrix ring.

1. Introduction

Throughout this paper, rings are associative with identity and all modules are assumed to be unitary.

Since the useful discovery of injective hulls in 1953 [15], for a given ring R, "hulls" or "minimal" overlying structures having certain properties, have been of wide interest. Although the injective hull, E(M), of a module M is a maximal essential extension of M, there may not be a rich transfer of information between Mand E(M). For example, take $M = \mathbb{Z}_p \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{p^3}$ (\mathbb{Z}_p and \mathbb{Z}_{p^3} denote the integers modulo p and p^3 , respectively, where p is a prime). Then as a \mathbb{Z} -module, $E(M) = \mathbb{Z}_{p^{\infty}} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{p^{\infty}}$. Observe that M is finite, but E(M)is not even finitely generated. This provides motivation to look for "hulls" satisfying conditions weaker than injectivity which may then be "closer" to the base module M and thus afford a better information exchange between these hulls and the base module. Among the various generalizations of the injective hull of a module, the quasi-injective hull [17], the continuous hull [19], [22], and the quasi-continuous hull [16] have been defined and investigated. Thus for $M = \mathbb{Z}_p \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{p^3}$ (as above), the quasi-injective hull $H_{q\mathcal{I}}(M)$, continuous hull $H_{\mathfrak{Con}}(M) = \mathbb{Z}_{p^3} \oplus \mathbb{Z}_{p^3}$).

In [9], [10], and [11], we have initiated a detailed study of ring and pseudo ring hulls which belong to an arbitrary class of rings. In our work we have found that certain classes of rings are closed under essential extensions. For example, the classes of right FI-extending and extending rings are closed under right essential overrings and right rings of quotients, respectively. Recall that a ring R is right (FI-) extending if every (ideal) right ideal is essential in a direct summand of R. Observe that injective \Rightarrow quasi-injective \Rightarrow continuous \Rightarrow quasi-continuous \Rightarrow extending \Rightarrow FI-extending. Classes with the type of closure property

Keywords and phrases : (quasi-) Baer, essential overring, (FI)-extending, (pseudo-) ring hull, triangulating dimension AMS Subject Classification : 16S50, 16S90, 16D50, 16D99.

mentioned, highlight the usefulness of the hull concept in obtaining a description of all essential overrings from these classes for a given ring R. See [12], [14] for details on right extending rings and also see [5], [6] for details on right FI-extending rings.

In this paper, we describe ring hulls and pseudo ring hulls from the class of right FI-extending rings for various generalized triangular matrix rings. Motivation for this study is Osofsky's well known example [20] of the generalized 2×2 upper triangular matrix ring

$$R = \left(egin{array}{cc} \mathbb{Z}_4 & 2\mathbb{Z}_4 \ 0 & \mathbb{Z}_4 \end{array}
ight),$$

whose injective hull has no possible ring multiplication extending its R-module scalar multiplication over R. Among other results, we provide details of proofs of various properties of an example which exhibits three distinct right FI-extending ring hulls of a generalized triangular matrix ring R having different behaviors. This shows that the intersection of right FI-extending ring hulls of a ring R is, in general, not a right FI-extending absolute ring hull of R. Our results provide a step toward the characterization of the right FI-extending ring or pseudo ring hulls for the class of generalized 2×2 triangular matrix rings.

A ring R is called *quasi-Baer* if the right annihilator of every nonempty subset of R is generated by an idempotent. See [4], [13], and [21] for details on quasi-Baer rings. Next, a ring R is called right *strongly FI-extending* if every ideal is essential as a right ideal in an ideal generated by a central idempotent in R.

An overring T of a ring R is called a right essential overring of R if R_R is essential in T_R . For a module M, we use $A_R \leq ^{\text{ess}} M_R$ and $A_R \leq M_R$ (or simply $A \leq M$) to denote that A is an essential submodule and a fully invariant submodule of M, respectively. If M = R, then $A \leq_r^{\text{ess}} R$ (resp. $A \leq_t^{\text{ess}} R$, $A \leq_t^{\text{ess}} R$)) denotes that A is right ideal (resp. left ideal, ideal) essential in R. For a module M, E(M), and Z(M) are used to denote the injective hull, and the singular submodule of M, respectively.

For a ring R, we let $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ denote $\operatorname{End}(E(R_R))$. Also, for a ring R, $\operatorname{Cen}(R)$, $\mathbf{I}(R)$, and $\mathbf{B}(R)$ denote the center, the set of all idempotents, and the set of all central idempotents, respectively. Also for a ring R, Q(R) denotes the maximal right ring of quotients of R. Recall from [1, p.569], an idempotent $e \in R$ is left (resp. right) semicentral in R if Re = eRe (resp. eR = eRe). We use $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(R)$ and $\mathbf{S}_r(R)$ for the set of all left and right semicentral idempotents, respectively. Note that $\mathbf{B}(R) = \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(R) \cap \mathbf{S}_r(R)$ and if R is semiprime, then $\mathbf{B}(R) = \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(R) = \mathbf{S}_r(R)$ [1]. For a ring R and a positive integer n, $\operatorname{Mat}_n(R)$ and $T_n(R)$ denote the $n \times n$ matrix ring and the $n \times n$ upper triangular matrix ring over R, respectively. For a nonempty subset X of a ring R, $\ell_R(X)$ and $r_R(X)$ denote the left and right annihilators of X in R, respectively. The symbols \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{Z}_n with a positive integer n > 1 are used to denote the ring of integers and the ring of integers modulo n, respectively.

We use \mathfrak{E} , \mathfrak{FI} , \mathfrak{GFI} , \mathfrak{qB} , and \mathfrak{qCon} to denote the classes of right extending, right FI-extending, right strongly FI-extending, quasi-Baer, and right quasi-continuous rings, respectively. Ideals without adjectives "right" or "left" mean two-sided ideals.

2. Triangular matrix rings

In this section, we study FI-extending ring and FI-extending pseudo ring hulls for a class of generalized 2×2 upper triangular matrix rings. We assume that all right essential overrings of R are in a fixed injective hull $E(R_R)$ of R_R and all right rings of quotients of R are subrings of a fixed maximal right ring of quotients Q(R) of R.

Definition 2.1. ([10, Definition 2.1]) Let \mathfrak{K} denote a class of rings. For a ring R, let S be a right essential overring of R and T an overring of R. Consider the following conditions.

(i) $S \in \mathfrak{K}$.

(ii) If $T \in \mathfrak{K}$ and T is a subring of S, then T = S.

(iii) If S and T are subrings of a ring V and $T \in \mathfrak{K}$, then S is a subring of T.

(iv) If $T \in \mathfrak{K}$ and T is a right essential overring of R, then S is a subring of T.

Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

If S satisfies (i) and (ii), then we say S is a \mathfrak{K} right ring hull of R, denoted by $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$. If S satisfies (i) and (iii), then we say S is the \Re absolute to V right ring hull of R, denoted by $Q_{\Re}^{V}(R)$; for the \Re absolute to Q(R) right ring hull, we use the notation $\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$. If S satisfies (i) and (iv), then we say S is the \mathfrak{K} absolute right ring hull of R, denoted by $Q_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$. Thus when $Q_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$ exists it is the intersection of all right essential overrings of R in \mathfrak{K} . Observe that if $Q(R) = E(R_R)$, then $\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R) = Q_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$. Left sided versions can be defined similarly.

Definition 2.2. ([10, Definition 1.6]) Let \mathfrak{R} be a class of rings, \mathfrak{K} a subclass of \mathfrak{R} , and \mathfrak{X} a class containing all subsets of every ring. We say that A is a class determined by a property on right ideals if there exist an assignment $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{K}}: \mathfrak{R} \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R) \subseteq \{ \text{right ideals of } R \}$ and a property P such that $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)$ has Pif and only if $R \in \mathfrak{K}$.

If \mathfrak{K} is such a class where P is the property that a right ideal is essential in an idempotent generated right ideal, then we say that \mathfrak{K} is a \mathfrak{D} - \mathfrak{E} class and use \mathfrak{C} to designate a \mathfrak{D} - \mathfrak{E} class.

Some examples illustrating Definition 2.2 are:

(1) \mathfrak{K} is the class of right Noetherian rings, $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R) = \{$ right ideals of $R\}$, and P is the property that a right ideal is finitely generated;

(2) \mathfrak{K} is the class of regular rings, $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R) = \{ \text{principal right ideals of } R \}$, and P is the property that a right ideal is generated by an idempotent as a right ideal;

(3) $\mathfrak{K} = \mathfrak{qB}, \mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{qB}}(R) = \{r_R(X) \mid \emptyset \neq X \leq R\}$, and P is the property that a right ideal is generated by an idempotent;

(4) $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{E}$ (resp., $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{FI}$), $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{E}}(R) = \{I \mid I_R \leq R_R\}$ (resp., $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R) = \{I \mid I \leq R\}$).

Next, we consider generating a right essential overring in a class $\mathfrak K$ from a base ring R and some subset of $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$. By using equivalence relations, we can effectively reduce the size of the subsets of $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ needed to generate a right essential overring of R in \mathfrak{K} .

Definition 2.3. ([10]) Let \mathfrak{R} denote a class of rings and \mathfrak{X} a class of subsets of rings such that for each $R \in \mathfrak{R}$ all subsets of $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ are contained in \mathfrak{X} . Let \mathfrak{C} be a \mathfrak{D} - \mathfrak{C} subclass of \mathfrak{R} such that there exists an assignment $\delta_{\mathfrak{C}}:\mathfrak{R} \to \mathfrak{X} \text{ such that } \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R) \subseteq \mathbf{I}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}) \text{ and } \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \subseteq R \text{ implies } R \in \mathfrak{C}, \text{ where } \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) = \{h(1) \in E(R_R) \mid 1 \leq k \}$ $h \in \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)$. Let S be a right essential overring of R and ρ an equivalence relation on $\delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)$.

(i) If $\delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \subseteq S$ and $\langle R \cup \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \rangle_S \in \mathfrak{C}$, then we call $\langle R \cup \delta_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \rangle_S$ the \mathfrak{C} pseudo right ring hull of R with respect to S and denote it by $R(\mathfrak{C}, S)$. If $S = R(\mathfrak{C}, S)$, then we say that S is a \mathfrak{C} pseudo right ring hull of R.

(ii) If $\delta^{\rho}_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \subseteq S$ and $\langle R \cup \delta^{\rho}_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \rangle_{S} \in \mathfrak{C}$, then we call $\langle R \cup \delta^{\rho}_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)(1) \rangle_{S}$ a $\mathfrak{C} \rho$ pseudo right ring hull of R with respect to S and denote it by $R(\mathfrak{C},\rho,S)$, where $\delta_{\mathfrak{C}}^{\rho}(R)$ is a set of representatives of all equivalence classes of ρ and $\delta^{\rho}_{\mathfrak{K}}(R)(1) = \{h(1) \in E(R_R) \mid h \in \delta^{\rho}_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)\}$. If $S = R(\mathfrak{C}, \rho, S)$, then we say that S is a $\mathfrak{C} \rho$ pseudo right ring hull of R.

Note that if $Q(R) = E(R_R)$ and we take $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{E}$, then by [16] $\delta_{\mathfrak{E}}(R) = \mathbf{I}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}})$ and $\langle R \cup \delta_{\mathfrak{E}}(R)(1) \rangle_{Q(R)} = \mathcal{I}(R)$ $Q_{\mathfrak{gCon}}(R).$

The independence of Definition 2.1 and Definition 2.3 will be illustrated in Example 2.10.

The next equivalence relation is particularly important to our study.

Definition 2.4. ([10, Definition 2.14(i)]) (i) Let A be a ring and let $\delta \subseteq I(A)$. We define an equivalence relation α on δ by $e \alpha c$ if and only if ce = e and ec = c.

For a semiprime ring R, it was shown in [11] that the subring $R\mathbf{B}(Q(R))$ of Q(R) generated by R and $\mathbf{B}(Q(R))$ is a right FI-extending and a quasi-Baer absolute to Q(R) right ring hull as well as the right FI-extending pseudo right ring hull of R as stated below.

Theorem 2.5. For a semiprime ring R, $R\mathbf{B}(Q(R)) = \widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R) = \widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{qB}}(R) = R(\mathfrak{FI}, Q(R)).$

One of the important aspects of the study of ring hulls is the availability of transfer of useful information between the base ring R and a \mathfrak{K} right ring hull. Our next result exhibits this information transfer between R and $\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{qB}}(R)$.

Theorem 2.6. ([11, Lemma 3.1, Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 4.12]) Let R be a semiprime ring. Then we have the following.

(i) Lying Over, Going Up and Incomparability hold between R and $\hat{Q}_{q\mathfrak{B}}(R)$; consequently kdim (R) =kdim $(\hat{Q}_{q\mathfrak{B}}(R))$, where kdim (-) denotes the classical Krull dimension of a ring.

(ii) $\rho(R) = \rho(\widehat{Q}_{q\mathcal{B}}(R)) \cap R$, where ρ is a special radical.

(iii) R is right π -regular if and only if $\widehat{Q}_{q\mathfrak{B}}(R)$ is right π -regular.

(iv) R is von Neumann regular if and only if $\widehat{Q}_{\mathfrak{PR}}(R)$ is von Neumann regular.

(v) R is bounded index of nilpotency at most n if and if $\hat{Q}_{qB}(R)$ is bounded index of nilpotency at most n. In particular, R is reduced if and only if $\hat{Q}_{qB}(R)$ is reduced.

A ring is called right Utumi [23] if it right nonsingular and right cononsingular.

Proposition 2.7. ([11, Corollary 4.14]) A reduced ring R is right Utumi if and only if $RB(Q(R)) = Q_{qCon}(R)$.

Let $\mathcal{K}_R = \{k \in \mathcal{E}_R \mid k(R) \subseteq R\}$ (note that \mathcal{K}_R is a subring of \mathcal{E}_R) and $\mathbb{S}_R = \{e \in \mathbf{I}(\mathcal{E}_R) \mid eke = ke \text{ for all } k \in \mathcal{K}_R\}$. We use $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}^R(T)$ to denote $\{e \in \mathbf{I}(T) \mid Re = eRe\}$, where T is an overring of R. Subsets of this set appear in several of our results. For example, let $R = T_2(\mathbb{Z})$, then $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}^R(Q(R)) = \left\{0, \begin{pmatrix}1 & 0\\ 0 & 1\end{pmatrix}\right\} \cup \left\{\begin{pmatrix}1 & q\\ 0 & 0\end{pmatrix} \mid q \in \mathbb{Q}\right\}$ and $\langle R \cup \mathbf{S}_{\ell}^R(Q(R)) \rangle_{Q(R)} = \begin{pmatrix}\mathbb{Z} & \mathbb{Q}\\ 0 & \mathbb{Z}\end{pmatrix} = \widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{E}}(R)$ (see [10, Corollary 3.9 (ii)]), where \mathbb{Q} is the field of rational numbers. Note that $E(R_R) = Q(R) = \operatorname{Mat}_2(\mathbb{Q})$ is a simple Artinian ring. Hence there is virtually no exchange of information relative to the ideal structures of R and $Q(R) = E(R_R)$. However there is a fruitful exchange between R and $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{C}}(R)$ relative to their ideal structures.

The following result relates several subsets of $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ which are important in the sequel.

Proposition 2.8. (i) $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}) \subseteq \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}) \subseteq \mathbb{S}_{\mathcal{R}} \subseteq \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(\mathcal{R}).$

(ii) If $Z(R_R) = 0$, then $S_R = \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$; hence $e \in \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ if and only if ae(1) = e(1)ae(1) for each $a \in R$. (iii) Let T be a right essential overring of R and $e \in S^R_{\ell}(T)$. If $t \in T$, then there exists $L_R \leq ^{\text{ess}} R_R$ such that (et - te)Le = (et - t)Le = 0. Hence $[e(et - te)L]^2 = 0$.

(iv) Assume that R is semiprime and T is a right ring of quotients of R. Then $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}^{R}(T) = \mathbf{B}(T)$. In particular, $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}^{R}(Q(R)) = \mathbf{B}(Q(R))$.

Proof. (i) Clearly, $\mathbf{B}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}) \subseteq \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}) \subseteq \mathbf{S}_{\mathcal{R}}$. Let $e \in \mathbf{S}_{R}$. Take $a \in R$ and let $a_{\ell} : R_{R} \to R_{R}$ with $a_{\ell}(r) = ar$ for $r \in R$. Then there is $f \in \mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}}$ such that $f|_{R} = a_{\ell}$. So $f \in \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{R}}$. Let $e(x) \in eR \cap R$ with $x \in R$. Then

$$a(e(x)) = a_{\ell}(e(x)) = (fe)(x) = (efe)(x) = e(ae(x)) \in eR \cap R$$

Thus $eR \cap R \leq R$ and $(eR \cap R)_R \leq ess eR_R$. Hence $e \in \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$.

(ii) Let $e \in \delta_{3\mathfrak{I}}(R)$. Then there exists $X \leq R$ such that $X_R \leq^{ess} eR_R$. Let $J = \{r \in R \mid e(r) \in X\}$. Then $J_R \leq^{ess} R_R$. Take $k \in \mathcal{K}_R$. We can see that $((1-e)ke)(J) = (1-e)k(e(J)) \subseteq ((1-e)k)(X) = (1-e)(k(X)) = (1-e)(k(1)X) \subseteq (1-e)(X) = 0$. Since $Z(R_R) = 0$, $Z(Q(R_R) = 0$. So (1-e)ke = 0. Consequently, $e \in S_R$ and $\delta_{3\mathfrak{I}}(R) \subseteq S_R$. By part (i), $S_R = \delta_{3\mathfrak{I}}(R)$. Take $f \in \mathcal{E}_R$ such that $f|_R = a_\ell$ as in part (i). From the fact that $Q(R) = E(R_R)$ and [10, Lemma 2.16(iii)], ae(1) = fe(1) = efe(1) = e(ae(1)) = e(1ae(1)) = e(1ae(1)).

(iii) First assume that et - te = 0. Let $x \in R$. Then 0 = (et - te)xe = etxe - texe = etxe - txe = (et - t)xe. Thus the result holds for L = R. Now assume that $et - te \neq 0$. There exists $X_R \leq^{ess} R_R$ such that $0 \neq (et - te)X \subseteq R$. Let $x \in X$. Then (et - te)xe = e(et - te)xe = etxe - etxe = etxe - etxe = 0. Also (et - t)xe = etxe - txe = etxe - texe = (et - te)xe = 0. So the result holds for L = X.

(iv) Let $e \in S_{\ell}(T)$. Since T is a right ring of quotients of R, the L_R in part (iii) can be taken to be dense in R_R . Then, by part (iii), e(et - te) = 0. So $e \in S_r(T)$. Since T is semiprime, $S_r(T) = B(T)$. Thus $S_{\ell}^R(T) \subseteq B(T)$. Clearly, $B(T) \subseteq S_{\ell}^R(T)$. Therefore $S_{\ell}^R(T) = B(T)$.

Proposition 2.8(ii) is useful in calculating $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ for a nonsingular ring R, as in Example 2.10.

68

Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

Recall from [3] that an ordered set $\{b_1, \ldots, b_n\}$ of nonzero distinct idempotents in a ring R is called a set of left triangulating idempotents of R if all of the following conditions hold:

(i) $1 = b_1 + \cdots + b_n$;

(ii) $b_1 \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(R)$; and

(iii) $b_{k+1} \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(c_k R c_k)$, where $c_k = 1 - (b_1 + \dots + b_k)$ for 1 < k < n - 1.

Similarly we define a set of right triangulating idempotents of R using condition (i), $b_1 \in \mathbf{S}_r(R)$, and $b_{k+1} \in \mathbf{S}_r(c_k R c_k)$. From part (iii) of the above definition, a set of left (right) triangulating idempotents is a set of pairwise orthogonal idempotents. A set $\{b_1, \ldots, b_n\}$ of left (right) triangulating idempotents is said to be complete if each b_i is also semicentral reduced. Note that if R is Abelian, then a complete set of left triangulating idempotents is a complete set of primitive idempotents.

Observe from [3, Corollary 1.7 and Theorem 2.10] that the number of elements in a complete set of left triangulating idempotents is unique for a given ring R (which has such a set). This is also the number of elements in any complete set of right triangulating idempotents of R. This motivates the following definition: R has triangulating dimension n, written \mathcal{T} dim (R) = n, if R has a complete set of left triangulating idempotents with exactly n elements. Note that R is semicentral reduced if and only if $\mathcal{T} \dim (R) = 1$. If R has no complete set of left triangulating idempotents, then we say R has infinite triangulating dimension, denoted $\mathcal{T} \dim (R) = \infty$.

Also from [3], a ring R has a generalized triangular matrix representation if there exists a ring isomorphism

	(R_1)	R_{12}	• • •	R_{1n}	١
$R \cong$	0	R_2	•••	R_{2n}	
	1	÷	۰.	:	,
	0	0	•••	R_n	/

where each R_i is a ring and each R_{ij} is an (R_i, R_j) -bimodule and the matrices obey the usual rules for matrix addition and multiplication. The generalized triangular matrix representation is called *complete* if each R_i is semicentral reduced. By [3, Proposition 1.3], R has a (complete) set of left triangulating idempotents if and only if R has a (complete) generalized triangular matrix representation. From [3, Proposition 2.14] one can see that most of the standard finiteness conditions imply finite triangulating dimension.

In the remainder of the paper we focus on the classes $q\mathfrak{B},\mathfrak{FI}$, and \mathfrak{SFI} and on generalized triangular matrices of the form $\begin{pmatrix} A & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where A is a ring and M is an (A, A)-bimodule.

Proposition 2.9. ([10, Proposition 3.15]) Let $A \in \mathfrak{FI}$, $M = W = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} A_i, A_i = A$ for each *i*, and *S* a subring of *W* containing $D = \{(a_1, \ldots, a_n) \in W \mid \text{ for some } a \in A, a_i = a \text{ for all } i = 1, \ldots, n\}$. Then the ring $H = \begin{pmatrix} W & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right FI-extending right ring hull of $R = \begin{pmatrix} S & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$.

The next example illustrates Proposition 2.9 as well as various properties of ring and pseudo ring hulls for a type of generalized triangular matrix rings of the form on which we focus in this paper. The example was mentioned in [10] but for brevity many details and supporting calculations were omitted. We now present additional properties of this example with supporting calculations for the new properties as well as those mentioned in the aforementioned earlier papers [10] and [11].

Example 2.10. Let A be a ring and $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & A \oplus A \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$. (i) Using [8, Corollary 1.6 and Theorem 3.2], we have that R is not right FI-extending for any choice

of A; however if A is quasi-Baer then R is quasi-Baer.

(ii) From Proposition 2.9, if A is right FI-extending, then we can see that $H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} A \oplus A & A \oplus A \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right FI-extending right ring hull of R, where we identify A in the (1, 1)-position of R with the subring of $A \oplus A$ whose elements are of the form (a, a) for $a \in A$. Again, by [8, Theorem 3.2], if A is quasi-Baer (but not necessarily right FI-extending), then H_1 is quasi-Baer. Hence if A is right FI-extending ring which is also quasi-Baer (e.g., A is right FI-extending and either semiprime or right nonsingular, see [10, Propositions 1.2 and 1.3]), then $R = Q_{q\mathfrak{B}}(R) \subsetneq \widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{F}}(R) = H_1$. In particular, if A is a simple domain which is not a division ring, then R is right and left nonsingular and quasi-Baer; but R is neither Baer, nor right FI-extending, nor left FI-extending [5, Example 4.11].

(iii) We have the following ring isomorphisms:

$$(1) \phi: R \to \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & x \\ 0 & a & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \mid a, c, x, y \in A \right\} \text{ defined by } \phi \left[\begin{pmatrix} a & (x, y) \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right] = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & x \\ 0 & a & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix}; \text{ and}$$

 $\phi_1: H_1 \to \begin{pmatrix} A & 0 & A \\ 0 & A & A \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{pmatrix} \text{ defined by } \phi_1 \left[\begin{pmatrix} (a,b) & (x,y) \\ 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right] = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & x \\ 0 & b & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix}; \text{ henceforth we identify } R$

with $\phi(R)$ and H_1 with $\phi_1(H_1)$.

(2)
$$\phi_2 : H_1 \to H_2$$
 defined by $\phi_2 \left[\begin{pmatrix} a & 0 & x \\ 0 & b & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \right] = \begin{pmatrix} a & a-b & x-y \\ 0 & b & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix},$

where $H_2 = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a+b & a & x \\ 0 & b & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \mid a, b, c, x, y \in A \right\}$. Note that $Mat_3(A)$ is a right essential overring of

R. So when A is right FI-extending, H_1 and H_2 are distinct right FI-extending right ring hulls of R such that $R = H_1 \cap H_2$. Thus, in general, the intersection of right FI-extending right ring hulls is not a right FI-extending absolute right ring hull.

We use E_{ij} to denote the matrix in Mat₃(A) with 1 in the (i, j)-position and 0 elsewhere.

(iv) Note that $H_1 = R + E_{11} \cdot R$. Since $E_{11} \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(H_1) \cap \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)(1)$, H_1 is generated as a ring by R and a subset of $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(H_1)$. From [10, Lemma 2.22], taking $\delta = \{E_{11}\}$, there exists an equivalence relation ρ on $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ such that H_1 is a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull of R.

(v) Now assume that A is a division ring. Note that $Q(R) = Mat_3(A)$.

(1) Using Proposition 2.8(ii) we can show that the nontrivial elements of $\delta_{\mathfrak{FT}}(R)(1)$ have the following form:

$$s_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & b \\ 0 & 1 & c \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, s_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & d \\ e & 0 & ed \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, s_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ f & 1 & g \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} s_{4} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & h & k \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$s_{5} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & m & mn \\ 0 & 1 & n \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, s_{6} = \begin{pmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & a_{13} \\ a_{12}^{-1}(1 - a_{11})a_{11} & 1 - a_{11} & a_{12}^{-1}(1 - a_{11})a_{13} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with $b, c, d, f, g, h, k, n \in A$; $e, m, a_{12}^{-1}(1 - a_{11}) \in Cen(A)$; $h \neq 0, m \neq 0, a_{12} \neq 0$, and $a_{11} - a_{11}^2 \neq 0$.

(2) We see that $\mathcal{E}_{\mathcal{R}} \cong \mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{R})$ (ring isomorphic) since $Z(R_R) = 0$. Hence we identify $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ with $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)(1)$. Using Definition 2.4 and part (1) we calculate:

$$s_1 \alpha \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; s_3 \alpha \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}; s_4 \alpha \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \alpha \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix};$$

if e = 0 in s_2 , then $s_2 \alpha s_4$; if $e \neq 0$ in s_2 , then $s_2 \alpha s_5$ if and only if $e = m^{-1}$; and $s_5 \alpha s_6$ if and only if $a_{12}^{-1}(1 - a_{11}) = m^{-1}$.

(3) Note that
$$R(\mathfrak{FI}, Q(R)) = \begin{pmatrix} A & A & A \\ A & A & A \\ 0 & 0 & A \end{pmatrix} \neq \operatorname{Mat}_3(A) = Q_{q\mathfrak{C}}(R) = E(R_R).$$

Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

(4) Using (1) and (2), it can be seen that H_1 and H_2 are properly contained in $T_3(A) = \bigcap_{\alpha} R(\mathfrak{FI}, \alpha, Q(R))$. Thus, we have right FI-extending right ring hulls properly contained in the intersection of all right FI-extending α pseudo right ring hulls.

(5) Since $\{E_{11} + E_{22}, E_{33}\}$ and $\{E_{11}, E_{22}, E_{33}\}$ are complete sets of left triangulating idempotents for R and H_1 , respectively, it follows that $\mathcal{T} \dim (R) = 2 < 3 = \mathcal{T} \dim (H_1)$.

(6) Note that $R \cdot E_{11} \cap R = 0$ and $E_{11} \in H_1 \subseteq Mat_3(A)$. So both H_1 and $Mat_3(A)$ are not left rings of quotients of R. Hence even when R is left and right nonsingular, R may have quasi-Baer right rings of quotients which are not left rings of quotients.

(vi) Next assume that A is a field. Let

$$H_3 = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{ccc} a+b & b & x \\ b & a & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{array} \right) \mid a, b, c, x, y \in A \right\}.$$

We will show that under certain conditions on A, H_3 can be a right FI-extending right ring hull of R such that H_3 is not generated by R and any subset of $\delta_{\mathfrak{FT}}(R)(1)$, and $\mathcal{T} \dim (H_3) = 2$. However, under certain other conditions on A, H_3 has behavior similar to H_1 .

(1) If T is an intermediate ring between R and H_3 , then R = T or $T = H_3$. In fact, assume that $\begin{pmatrix} a+b & b & x \end{pmatrix}$

$$\begin{array}{c} R \neq T. \text{ Then there exists} \\ \begin{pmatrix} b & a & y \\ 0 & 0 & c \end{pmatrix} \in T \text{ such that } b \neq 0. \\ \text{Thus } \begin{pmatrix} b & b & 0 \\ b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in T. \text{ Let } \begin{pmatrix} c+d & d & v \\ d & c & w \\ 0 & 0 & z \end{pmatrix} \in H_3. \text{ Hence } \begin{pmatrix} c+d & d & v \\ d & c & w \\ 0 & 0 & z \end{pmatrix} = \\ \begin{pmatrix} c & 0 & v \\ 0 & c & w \\ 0 & 0 & z \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} b & b & 0 \\ b & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} b^{-1}d & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & b^{-1}d & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in T. \text{ Therefore } T = H_3. \end{array}$$

(2) From parts (v)(1) and (v)(2), it can be seen that s_6 is the only possible type of element from $\delta_{37}(R)(1)$ which is not in R that can possibly be in H_3 . We see that $s_6 \in H_3$ if and only if $a_{12} + (1-a_{11}) = a_{11}$ and $a_{12}^{-1}(1-a_{11})a_{11} = a_{12}$ if and only if $a_{12} = 2a_{11} - 1$ and $(1-a_{11})a_{11} = a_{12}^2$ if and only if all the solutions of the equation $5x^2 - 5x + 1 = 0$ are in A.

(3) H_3 can be written by the generalized triangular matrix ring $\begin{pmatrix} B & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where $B = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a+b & b \\ b & a \end{pmatrix} \mid a, b \in A \right\}$ is a ring; and $M = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x \\ y \end{pmatrix} \mid x, y \in A \right\}$ is a (B, A)-bimodule and a 2-dimensional vector space over A and $_BM$ is faithful.

From [8, Corollary 1.6] and part (vi)(1), H_3 is a right FI-extending right ring hull of R if and only if either:

(a) $_{B}M_{A}$ has 0 as its only proper (B, A)-bisubmodule; or

(b) there exist $0 \neq BN_A \leq BM_A$ and $f \in I(B)$ such that N = fM and dim $(N_A) = 1$, where dim $(-)_A$ is the vector space dimension over the field A.

For example, if $A = \mathbb{Z}_2$ then ${}_BM_A$ has 0 as its only proper (B, A)-bisubmodule. Hence H_3 is a right FIextending right ring hull of R. By part (vi)(2) H_3 is not generated by R and any subset of $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)(1)$. Thus H_3 is not a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull of R for any equivalence relation ρ on $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$. Since $\{E_{11} + E_{22}, E_{33}\}$ is a complete set of left triangulating idempotents for H_3 , we have that $\mathcal{T} \dim (H_3) = 2$. Thus H_1 and H_3 are not isomorphic as rings when $A = \mathbb{Z}_2$ because $\mathcal{T} \dim (H_1) = 3$ in part (v)(5).

- (4) Assume that char (A) ≠ 2 and char (A) ≠ 5. Then the following conditions are equivalent:
 (a) √5 ∈ A.
 - (b) H_3 contains an element $e \in \delta_{\mathfrak{FT}}(R)(1)$ such that $e \notin R$.
 - (c) there exists $0 \neq BN_A \leq BM_A$ such that dim $(N_A) = 1$.
Proof of (4). (a) \Rightarrow (b) Assume that $\sqrt{5} \in A$. Using part (2), we take

$$e=\left(egin{array}{cccc} (5+\sqrt{5})/10&\sqrt{5}/5&0\ \sqrt{5}/5&(5-\sqrt{5})/10&0\ 0&0&0\end{array}
ight).$$

Then $e \in H_3 \cap \delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)(1)$ and $e \notin R$.

. (b) \Rightarrow (a) By part (2), the equation $5x^2 - 5x + 1 = 0$ has all solutions in A. Hence the solutions are $(5 + \sqrt{5})/10$ and $(5 - \sqrt{5})/10$. So $\sqrt{5} \in A$.

 $(c)\Rightarrow(a)$ Assume that there exists $0 \neq {}_{B}N_{A} \leq {}_{B}M_{A}$ such that $\dim(N_{A}) = 1$. Let $\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1} \\ \gamma_{2} \end{pmatrix} \right\}$ be a basis for N_{A} and $a, b \in A$. Since N is a (B, A)-bisubmodule of ${}_{B}M_{A}$, there exists $c \in A$ such that $\begin{pmatrix} a+b & b \\ b & a \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1} \\ \gamma_{2} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{1} \\ \gamma_{2} \end{pmatrix} c = \begin{pmatrix} c\gamma_{1} \\ c\gamma_{2} \end{pmatrix}$. Hence $(a+b)\gamma_{1} + b\gamma_{2} = c\gamma_{1}$ and $b\gamma_{1} + a\gamma_{2} = c\gamma_{2}$. Note that the previous equations imply that both γ_{1} and γ_{2} are nonzero. Furthermore by elimination of γ_{2} and cancellation we obtain $c^{2} + (-b-2a)c + (a^{2}+ab-b^{2}) = 0$. Then $c = (b+2a\pm\sqrt{5})/2 = (2a+b(1\pm\sqrt{5}))/2$. From $b\gamma_{1} = (c-a)\beta_{2}$, we have $b\gamma_{1} = ((2a+b(1\pm\sqrt{5})-2a)/2)\beta_{2}$. So $\gamma_{1} = ((1\pm\sqrt{5})/2)\gamma_{2}$. Hence we have that $\begin{pmatrix} (1+\sqrt{5})/2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ or $\begin{pmatrix} (1-\sqrt{5})/2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix}$ is a basis for N_{A} . Therefore $\sqrt{5} \in A$.

(a) \Rightarrow (c) Let $N = \begin{pmatrix} (1+\sqrt{5})/2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} A$. Then a routine argument shows that N is a (B, A)-bisubmodule of $_{B}M_{A}$ and dim $(N_{A}) = 1$.

(5) Assume that char(A) ≠ 2, char(A) ≠ 5, and √5 ∈ A (e.g., Z₁₁, Q[√5], R, etc.). Then:
(a) H₃ is a right FI-extending right ring hull of R.

(b)
$$H_3 = R + eR$$
, where $e = \begin{pmatrix} (5+\sqrt{5})/10 & \sqrt{5}/5 & 0\\ \sqrt{5}/5 & (5-\sqrt{5})/10 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \delta_{\mathfrak{F}}(1).$

(c) $e \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(H_3)$ and $\{e, f, E_{33}\}$ is a complete set of left triangulating idempotents, where $f = \begin{pmatrix} (5 - \sqrt{5})/10 & -\sqrt{5}/5 & 0\\ -\sqrt{5}/5 & (5 + \sqrt{5})/10 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Hence $\mathcal{T}\dim(H_3) = 3$.

Proof of (5). By part (vi)(4), the only nonzero proper (B, A)-bisubmodule of ${}_{B}M_{A}$ are $\begin{pmatrix} (1+\sqrt{5})/2\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}A$ and $\begin{pmatrix} (1-\sqrt{5})/2\\ 1 \end{pmatrix}A$. Take

$$f_1 = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} (5+\sqrt{5})/10 & \sqrt{5}/5 \\ \sqrt{5}/5 & (5-\sqrt{5})/10 \end{array}\right) \text{ and } f_2 = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} (5-\sqrt{5})/10 & -\sqrt{5}/5 \\ -\sqrt{5}/5 & (5+\sqrt{5})/10 \end{array}\right).$$

Then $f_1M = \begin{pmatrix} (1+\sqrt{5})/2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} A$ and $f_2M = \begin{pmatrix} (1-\sqrt{5})/2 \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} A$. From part (vi)(3), H_3 is a right FI-extending right ring hull of R.

(b) and (c) These parts can be verified by routine calculations.

From part (b) and [10, Lemma 2.22], taking $\delta = \{e\}$, there exists an equivalence relation ρ on $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ such that H_3 is a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull of R.

(6) Assume that $\operatorname{char}(A) \neq 2$, $\operatorname{char}(A) \neq 5$, and $\sqrt{5} \notin A$ (e.g., $A = \mathbb{Z}_3$, \mathbb{Z}_7 , \mathbb{Q} , etc.). Then:

(a) H_3 is a right FI-extending right ring hull of R;

(b) H_3 is not generated as a ring by R and a subset of $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)(1)$, hence H_3 is not a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull of R for any equivalence relation ρ on $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$;

(c) $H_3 \subseteq R(\mathfrak{FI}, Q(R))$, but $H_3 \not\subseteq \bigcap_{\alpha} R(\mathfrak{FI}, \alpha, Q(R))$.

(d) $\{E_{11} + E_{22}, E_{33}\}$ is a complete set of left triangulating idempotents for H_3 , hence $\mathcal{T} \dim (H_3) = 2$.

72

Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

Proof of (6). (a) This follows from parts (vi)(3) and (vi)(4).

(b) It is a consequence of part (iv)(4).

(c)-(d) These parts follows from routine calculations.

It is worth noting that the determination of whether or not the right ring of quotients of R, H_3 , in Example 2.10 is a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull of R depends on whether a certain quadratic equation is solvable or not in A.

Theorem 2.11. Let $0 \neq e \in I(A)$, B = eAe, and $X \leq A$ such that $X \subseteq eA$. Take $R = \begin{pmatrix} B & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$.

(i) A is quasi-Baer if and only if R is quasi-Baer (i.e., $R = Q_{q\mathfrak{B}}(R)$).

(ii) Let A be right FI-extending and $X_A \leq^{\text{ess}} eA_A$. Then

(a) R is right FI-extending if and only if $_BX$ is faithful.

(b) If A has DCC on ideals and $eA \leq A$ (e.g., if A is right strongly FI-extending), then $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ exists.

Proof. (i) This part is a direct consequence of [8, Theorem 3.2].

(ii)(a) Assume that R is right FI-extending. By [8, Corollary 1.5], $\ell_B(X) = fB = feAe$ for some $f \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(B)$. In this case $\ell_B(X) = feAe = 0$. For, if $feAe \neq 0$, then $feae \neq 0$ for some $a \in A$. So $0 \neq feaeA = efeaeA$, hence $efeaeA \cap X \neq 0$. Thus there exists $0 \neq x = efeaeb \in X$ with $b \in A$. So 0 = fx = fefeaeb = feaeb = x, a contradiction. Therefore $_{B}X$ is faithful.

Conversely, suppose that ${}_{B}X$ is faithful. Let ${}_{B}N_{A} \leq {}_{B}X_{A}$. Now take $a \in A$. Then $aN = aeN \subseteq X \subseteq A$. eA, so $aN = eaeN \subseteq BN \subseteq N$. Hence $N \trianglelefteq A$. Thus there exists $c = c^2$ such that $N_A \leq ess cA_A$. Take f = ece. Then $(f - f^2)X = (ece - eceece)X = e(c - ceec)eX = (c - cec)X = (c - c^2)X = 0.$ Since $_BX$ is faithful, $f \in I(B)$. Note that $fX = eeeX = ecX = cX \subseteq cA$ and also note that $N = cN \subseteq cX$. Now since $N_A \leq e^{ess} cA_A$, it follows that $N_A \leq e^{ess} cX_A = fX_A$. Thus by [8, Corollary 1.6], R is right FI-extending. (ii)(b) We see that $_{BeA}$ is faithful, hence $\begin{pmatrix} B & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right FI-extending right essential overring

of R. Let $Y_A \leq eA_A$. Then note that $Y \leq A$ if and only if $BY \subseteq Y$. To see this, note that $e \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A)$, hence AY = AeY = eAeY = BY. This part is now a consequence of part (i) and the finiteness condition on $A.\Box$

In our remaining results the ring $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ will play a crucial role. We observe that this is the special case of $\begin{pmatrix} B & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ in Theorem 2.11, where e = 1. Note that from Theorem 2.11(i), $\begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is much been if an interval of A is a special case of $\begin{pmatrix} B & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ in Theorem 2.11, where e = 1. quasi-Baer if and only if A is quasi-Baer

Theorem 2.12. Let A be a right strongly FI-extending ring with DCC on ideals and $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A) = \mathbf{B}(A)$. If $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where $X \leq A$, then $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ exits and is right strongly FI-extending.

Proof. There exists $e \in \mathbf{B}(A)$ such that $X_A \leq e^{\operatorname{ess}} eA_A$. Now $\begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right essential overring of *R.* Also *eA* has DCC on ideals. Now we can see that *eA*, (1-e)A, and $\begin{pmatrix} (1-e)A & 0\\ 0 & (1-e)A \end{pmatrix}$ are right strongly FI-extending rings. Thus $\begin{pmatrix} A & eA\\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} eA & eA\\ 0 & eA \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} (1-e)A & 0\\ 0 & (1-e)A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right strongly FI-extending ring since $\begin{pmatrix} eA & eA\\ 0 & eA \end{pmatrix}$ is a right strongly FI-extending ring by [8, Theorem 2.8]. The result is now a direct concentration of the Gaussian strongly FI-extending ring by [8, Theorem 2.8]. is now a direct consequence of the finiteness condition on e

Examples of right strongly FI-extending rings A with $S_{\ell}(A) = B(A)$ include: (1) right strongly FIextending QF-rings [18, p.421, Exercise 16] (e.g., $Mat_n(\mathbb{Z}_m)$); (2) Abelian right FI-extending rings; and (3) semiprime right FI-extending rings.

From [11, Definition 2.1], a class of rings is an \mathfrak{IC} class if \mathfrak{IC} is the \mathfrak{D} - \mathfrak{C} class with $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{IC}}(R) = \{X \leq R \mid R \leq R \}$ $X \cap \ell_R(X) = 0$ and $\ell_R(X) \cap \ell_R(\ell_R(X)) = 0$.

Proposition 2.13. Let A be a right strongly FI-extending ring and $X \leq A$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $\ell_A(X) = eA$ for some $e \in \mathbf{I}(A)$. (ii) $\ell_A(X) = cA$ for some $c \in \mathbf{B}(A)$. (iii) $\ell_A(X) \cap X = 0$. (iv) $\begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is right FI-extending.
- (v) $X \in \mathfrak{D}_{\gamma\sigma}(A)$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) Assume that $\ell_A(X) = eA$ for some $e \in I(A)$. Since $\ell_A(X) \trianglelefteq A$, it follows that $e \in$ $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A)$. Again since A is right strongly FI-extending, there is $f \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A)$ such that $X_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} fA_A$. Note that $fA \cap (1-e)A = (1-e)fA$ and $(1-e)f \in I(A)$ because $1-e \in S_r(A)$ and $f \in S_\ell(A)$. Thus $X_A \leq^{\text{ess}} (1-e)fA_A \leq^{\text{ess}} fA_A. \text{ So } (1-e)fA = fA \text{ (i.e., } (1-e)A \cap fA = fA). \text{ Therefore } fA \subseteq (1-e)A,$ hence $X \subseteq fA \subseteq (1-e)A$. Thus it follows that $\ell_A((1-e)A) \subseteq \ell_A(fA) \subseteq \ell_A(X)$, so $Ae \subseteq A(1-f) \subseteq eA$. From $Ae \subseteq A(1-f)$, we have that ef = 0. Also from $A(1-f) \subseteq eA$, we have that 1-f = ea for some $a \in A$. Hence 1 - f = e(1 - f) = e - ef. Since ef = 0, it follows that 1 - f = e, so f = 1 - e. Thus $1 - e = f \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A)$, hence $e \in \mathbf{S}_r(A)$. Therefore $e \in \mathbf{B}(A)$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii) It is obvious.

(iii) \Rightarrow (iv) Let $I, N \leq A$ with $N \subseteq X$ and $IX \subseteq N$. Since A is right strongly FI-extending, there exists $b \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A)$ such that $N_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} bA_A$. Also $I = bI \oplus (1-b)I$. By [2, Lemma 2.1], (1-b)A(1-b) is right FI-extending. Hence $(1-b)I_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} cA_A \subseteq (1-b)A$ for some $c \in \mathbf{I}((1-b)A(1-b))$. Let f = b + c. Since bc = cb = 0, $f = f^2$. Also $I \subseteq fA$ and $N \subseteq X \cap (b+c)A = (b+c)X = bX \oplus cX$. Thus $N \subseteq bX$, so $N_A \leq e^{\text{ess}} bX_A$. Now $(1-b)IX \subseteq N \cap (1-b)A = 0$. Thus $(1-b)I \subseteq \ell_A(X)$. Since $\ell_A(X) \cap X = 0$, we have that $0 = [(1-b)I \cap X]_A \leq e^{\text{ess}} (cA \cap X)_A = cX$. So cX = 0. Thus $N_A \leq e^{\text{ess}} bX_A = bX + cX = (b+c)X = fX$. Observe that $b\ell_A(X) = 0$. Otherwise, $0 \neq b\ell_A(X) \cap N \subseteq \ell_A(X) \cap X = 0$. So by the modular law, we have that

$$I \cap \ell_A(X) = [bI \oplus (1-b)I] \cap \ell_A(X) = (1-b)I \oplus [bI \cap \ell_A(X)] \subseteq$$

$$(1-b)I + b\ell_A(X) = (1-b)I.$$

Now $fA \cap \ell_A(X) = (b+c)\ell_A(X) = b\ell_A(X) + c\ell_A(X) = c\ell_A(X) \subseteq cA$. Since $I \cap \ell_A(X) \subseteq fA \cap \ell_A(X) \subseteq cA$ and $(1-b)I_A \leq^{ess} cA_A$, then $[I \cap \ell_A(X)]_A \leq^{ess} [fA \cap \ell_A(X)]_A$. Consequently, [8, Theorem 1.4] yields the result.

(iv) \Rightarrow (i) Using [8, Theorem 1.4(2)], take I = 0 and N = M = X. Then there exists $f \in I(A)$ such that $X_A \leq^{\text{ess}} fX_A$ and $0 = [I \cap \ell_A(X)]_A \leq^{\text{ess}} [fA \cap \ell_A(X)]_A$. Hence $X \cap \ell_A(X) \subseteq fA \cap \ell_A(X) = 0$. Since A is right FI-extending, there exists $e \in I(A)$ such that $\ell_A(X)_A \leq e^{ess} eA_A$. Now take $ea \in eA$ with $a \in A$. If $ea \notin \ell_A(X)$, then $eax \neq 0$ for some $x \in X$. So there exists $r \in A$ such that $0 \neq eaxr \in \ell_A(X)$. But since $eaxr \in X$, we get a contradiction because $\ell_A(X) \cap X = 0$. Therefore $\ell_A(X) = eA$.

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (v) This equivalence follows from (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) and the definition of $\mathfrak{D}_{\mathfrak{IC}}(A)$.

Corollary 2.14. Let A be a semiprime ring and $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where $X \leq A$.

(i) R is right FI-extending if and only if A is right FI-extending.

(ii) Let T denote the idempotent closure of A (i.e., T = AB(Q(A))), and let $S = \begin{pmatrix} T & XT \\ 0 & T \end{pmatrix}$. Then $S = R(\mathfrak{FI}, \alpha, Q(R)).$

Proof. (i) Assume that R is right FI-extending. Then by [8, Theorem 1.4], A is right FI-extending. Conversely, assume that A is right FI-extending. Then R is right FI-extending from [10, Propositions 1.2, 1.3 and Proposition 2.13.

(ii) Since T is a right ring of quotients of A, S is a right ring of quotients of R. The proof that $S = R(\mathfrak{FI}, \alpha, Q(R))$ is similar to the proof of [11, Theorem 5.10(ii)].

Note that Theorem 2.15 and Corollary 2.16 show the generality of Definition 2.1(iii) and that we may get some "absolute" extension of a property to overrings which are beyond right essential overrings since Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

 $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is right essential in $T_2(A)$ if and only if X is right essential in A.

Theorem 2.15. Let A be a right strongly FI-extending ring with a complete set of centrally primitive idempotents $\{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$ and $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A) = \mathbf{B}(A)$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

(i) $\ell_A(M) \neq 0$ for all maximal ideals M of A.

(ii) for each $0 \neq X \leq A$, $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ has a right FI-extending absolute to $T_2(A)$ right ring hull, $Q_{\mathfrak{F}}^{T_2(A)}(R) = \begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where $e = \sum_{j \in J} c_j$ and $J \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $c_j X \neq 0$ for all $j \in J$.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) First note that there is $f \in \mathbf{B}(A)$ with $X_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} fA_A$ because A is right strongly FIextending and $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A) = \mathbf{B}(A)$. Since $X_A \leq eA_A$, $X_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} efA_A$. So ef = f, hence $(\sum_{j \in J} c_j)f = \sum_{j \in J} c_j f = f$. If there is $c_j f = 0$ for some $j \in J$, then $0 = c_j fX = c_j X$, a contradiction. Thus $c_j f \neq 0$ for each $j \in J$. Since c_j is centrally primitive and $0 \neq c_j f \in c_j A$, it follows that $c_j f = c_j$. Thus $f = ef = \sum_{j \in J} c_j f = \sum_{j \in J} c_j = e$. Hence $X_A \leq^{\mathrm{ess}} eA_A$. Therefore $\begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is a right essential overring of R.

If X = A, we are finished by [5, Corollary 2.5]. So assume $X \neq A$. By Proposition 2.13, $\begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is right FI-extending. Let $Y \leq A$ such that $X \subseteq Y$ and $W = \begin{pmatrix} A & Y \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is right FI-extending. First assume

that $Y \subsetneq eA$. Let $c_k Y = Y_k$ and $c_k A = A_k$ for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Note that there exists $i \in J$ such that $0 \neq c_i Y \subsetneq c_i A$. So there is a maximal ideal $M_i \trianglelefteq A_i$ such that $Y_i \subseteq M_i$.

By Proposition 2.13, $\ell_A(Y) = bA = \bigoplus_{k=1}^n \ell_{A_k}(Y_k)$ for some $b \in \mathbf{B}(A)$. So $\ell_{A_i}(Y_i) = b_i A_i$ for some $b_i \in \mathbf{B}(A_i)$. We see that $M_i \oplus (1 - c_i)A$ is a maximal ideal of A. Hence $0 \neq \ell_A(M_i \oplus (1 - c_i)A) = \ell_A(M_i) \cap A_i = \ell_{A_i}(M_i) \subseteq \ell_{A_i}(Y_i)$. Since A_i is indecomposable, $\ell_{A_i}(Y_i) = A_i$. Hence $Y_i = 0$, a contradiction. Therefore $\widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R) = \begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$. Now assume that Y is not necessarily contained in eA. Since $W \in \mathfrak{FI}$, the above argument shows that $W = \widetilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{FI}}(W)$, so Y = yA where $y \in \mathbf{B}(A)$. Then $X_A \leq e^{\mathsf{ess}} eA \cap yA = eyA = yeA = eA \subseteq yA = Y$. Therefore $Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R) = \begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i) Assume that M is a maximal ideal of A such that $\ell_A(M) = 0$. By Proposition 2.13, $\begin{pmatrix} A & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ is right FI-extending. By hypothesis $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & M \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix} = Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R)$. Hence M = eA for some $e \in \mathbf{B}(A)$, a contradiction. Therefore $\ell_A(M) \neq 0$ for all maximal ideals M of A.

Observe that in Theorem 2.15, $Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R) = \left\langle R \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\} \right\rangle_{Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R)}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 1 & e \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbf{S}_{\ell}(Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R)).$

From [10, Lemma 2.22(i)], taking $\delta = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & e \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right\}$, there exists an equivalence relation ρ on $\delta_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$ such that $Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R)$ is a right FI-extending ρ pseudo right ring hull.

Recall from [18, Corollary 8.28], a ring R is right Kasch if the left annihilator of every maximal right ideal of R is nonzero.

Corollary 2.16. Let A be a right strongly FI-extending ring with a complete set of centrally primitive idempotents $\{c_1, \ldots, c_n\}$ and $\mathbf{S}_{\ell}(A) = \mathbf{B}(A)$ (e.g., a local right FI-extending ring). If A is right Kasch and $X \leq A$, then $R = \begin{pmatrix} A & X \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$ has a right FI-extending absolute to $T_2(A)$ right ring hull, $Q_{\mathfrak{FI}}^{T_2(A)}(R) = C_{\mathfrak{FI}}(R)$

 $\begin{pmatrix} A & eA \\ 0 & A \end{pmatrix}$, where $e = \sum_{j \in J} c_j$ and $J \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $c_j X \neq 0$ for all $j \in J$. **Proof.** Let M be a maximal ideal of A. There exists a maximal right ideal Y of A with $M \subset Y$. Hence $0 \neq \ell_A(Y) \subseteq \ell_A(M)$ since A is right Kasch. Now the result follows from Theorem 2.15.

We remark that in Theorem 2.15 and Corollary 2.16, $Q_{33}^{T_2(A)}(R)$ is right strongly FI-extending (see the proof of Theorem 2.12), so it is also a right strongly FI-extending absolute to $T_2(A)$ right ring hull of R.

Acknowledgments

The first author is thankful for the hospitality and support from the Ohio State University, Lima, U.S.A. and Busan National University, Busan, South Korea. The second and third authors are grateful to the Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh, India for the warm hospitality they received during their visits. The partial support received from the Mathematics Research Institute, Columbus, OSU-Lima grants, and Busan National University is appreciated.

References

- [1] Birkenmeier, G.F.: Idempotents and completely semiprime ideals, Comm. Algebra 11 (1983) 567-580.
- [2] Birkenmeier, G.F. : Decompositions of Baer-like rings, Acta Math. Hungar. 59 (1992) 319-326.
- [3] Birkenmeier, G.F., Heatherly, H.E., Kim, J.Y. and Park, J.K. : Triangular matrix representations, J. Algebra 230 (2000) 558-595.
- [4] Birkenmeier, G.F., Kim, J.Y. and Park, J.K. : On quasi-Baer rings, Algebras and Its Applications (D. V. Huynh, S. K. Jain and S. R. López-Permouth (eds.)), Contemp. Math. 259, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence (2000) 67-92.
- [5] Birkenmeier, G.F., Müller, B.J. and Rizvi, S.T. : Modules in which every fully invariant submodule is essential in a direct summand, Comm. Algebra 30 (2002) 1395-1415.
- [6] Birkenmeier, G.F. and Park, J.K.: Triangular matrix representations of ring extensions, J. Algebra 265 (2003) 457-477.
- [7] Birkenmeier, G.F., Park, J.K. and Rizvi, S.T. : Modules with fully invariant submodules essential in fully invariant summands, Comm. Algebra 30 (2002) 1833-1852.
- [8] Birkenmeier, G.F., Park, J.K. and Rizvi, S.T. : Generalized triangular matrix rings and the fully invariant extending property, Rocky Mountain J. Math. 32 (2002) 1299-1319.
- [9] Birkenmeier, G.F., Park, J.K. and Rizvi, S.T. : On ring hulls, in Trends in Theory of Rings and Modules (Rizvi, S.T. and Zaidi, S.M.A. (eds.)), 17-34, Anamaya Publishers, New Delhi, 2005.
- [10] Birkenmeier, G.F., Park, J.K. and Rizvi, S.T. : Ring hulls and applications, J. Algebra 304 (2006) 633-665.
- [11] Birkenmeier, G.F. Park, J.K. and Rizvi, S.T. : Ring hull constructions with applications to C*-algebras, Preprint.
- [12] Chatters, A.W. and Hajarnavis, C.R. : Rings in which every complement right ideal is a direct summand, Quart. J. Math. Oxford 28 (1977) 61-80.
- [13] Clark, W.E.: Twisted matrix units semigroup algebras, Duke Math. J. 34 (1967) 417-424.
- [14] Dung, N.V., Huynh, D.V. Smith, P.F. and Wisbauer, R. : Extending Modules, Longman, Harlow, 1994.
- [15] Eckmann, B. and Schopf, A. : Über injektive Moduln, Arch. Math. 27 (1953) 75-78.
- [16] Goel, V.K. and Jain, S.K. : π -injective modules and rings whose cyclics are π -injective, Comm. Algebra 6 (1978) 59-73.

Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings

- [17] Johnson, R.E. and Wong, E.T.: Quasi-injective modules and irreducible rings, J. London Math. Soc. 36 (1961) 260-268.
- [18] Lam, T.Y. : Lectures on Modules and Rings, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1999.
- [19] Müller, B.J. and Rizvi, S.T. : On the existence of continuous hulls, Comm. Algebra 10 (1982) 1819-1838.
- [20] Osofsky, B.L. : On ring properties of injective hulls, Canad. Math. Bull. 7 (1964) 405-413.
- [21] Pollingher, A. and Zaks, A. : On Baer and quasi-Baer rings, Duke Math. J. 37 (1970) 127-138.
- [22] Rizvi, S.T.: Contributions to the Theory of Continuous Modules, Doctoral Dissertation, McMaster University, 1981.
- [23] Stenström, B. : Rings of Quotients, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1975.

The Aligarh Bull. of Maths. Volume 25, No. 2, 2006

ON DERIVATIONS IN RINGS AND THEIR APPLICATIONS

Mohammad Ashraf¹, Shakir Ali¹ and *Claus Haetinger²

¹Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh-202002, India E-mail: mashraf80@hotmail.com, shakir50@rediffmail.com

²Centro de Ciências Exatas e Tecnológicas, Centro Universitário UNIVATES, 95900-000, Lajeado-RS, Brazil, E-mail : chaet@univates.br, URL http://ensino.univates.br/~chaet

Dedicated to the memory of Professor M. A. Kazim

(Received June 10, 2006)

Abstract. In this survey paper, we present an historical account on derivations, (θ, ϕ) -derivations, Jordan derivations, generalized derivations, generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivations, generalized Jordan derivations and other kinds of derivations in rings, based on the work of several authors. Moreover, recent results as well as some possible directions for future researches on the subject has been discussed in details. Finally, some applications of derivations have been given.

1. Introduction

Ring theory is a showpiece of mathematical unification, bringing together several branches of the subject and creating a powerful machine for the study of problems of considerable historical and mathematical importance. Rings with derivations are not the kind of subject that undergoes tremendous revolutions. However, this has been studied by many authors in the last 50 years, specially the relationships between derivations and the structure of rings.

One of the natural questions which often appeared in algebra and analysis is whether a map can be defined by its "local" properties. For example, the question whether a map, which acts like a derivation on the Lie product of some important Lie subalgebra of prime rings, is induced by an ordinary derivation, was a well-known problem posed by Herstein [112]. The first result in this direction was obtained in unpublished work of Kaplansky (cf. Herstein [112], p. 529), who considered matrix algebras over a field. With the presence of idempotent, this question has been examined by Martindale [168] for primitive rings. Herstein's problem was solved in full generality only after the powerful technique of functional identities was developed (see for example; [25], [27], [30], [54], where further references can be found). In the year 1993, Brešar [48] solved this problem for prime rings. Further, Beidar & Chebotar [28] solved this problem for Lie ideals of prime rings. The problem whether a Lie derivation is induced by an ordinary one related questions were also discussed in analysis viz. Banning & Mathieu [23], Villena [220], where further details can be looked.

This paper is an attempt to present the derivations and its variants in such a light, and in a manner suitable for everybody who have some basic knowledge in ring theory. In order to make the treatment as self-contained as possible, and to bring together all the relevant material in a single paper, we have included several references. Much of the motivation for this paper is historical, and we have taken the opportunity to weave historical comments into the body of the text where it seems appropriate.

⁰ Keywords and phrases : Derivations, (θ, ϕ) -derivations, Jordan derivations, generalized derivations,

generalized Jordan derivations, generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivations.

⁰ AMS Subject Classification : 16W25, 16N60, 16U80.

^{*}Partially supported by Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio Grande do Sul (Fapergs, Brazil).

Throughout the discussion, unless otherwise mentioned, R denotes an associative ring having at least two elements, with extended centroid C and symmetric quotient ring Q (see Beidar, et al. [30]). However, R may not have unity. The symbol Z(R) stand for the center of R. Recall that a ring R is said to be *prime* if the product of any two nonzero ideals of R is nonzero. Equivalently, $aRb = \{0\}$ with $a, b \in R$ implies a = 0 or b = 0. A ring R is called *semiprime* if it has no nonzero nilpotent ideals. Equivalently, $aRa = \{0\}$ with $a \in R$ implies a = 0. For any $x, y \in R$, using its associative product one can induce two new products viz. the *Lie product* [x, y] = xy - yx and the *Jordan product* $x \circ y = xy + yx$. An additive subgroup $U \subset R$ is said to be a *Lie ideal* (resp. *Jordan ideal*) of R if whenever $u \in U$ and $r \in R$, then [u, r] (resp. $(u \circ r)$) is also in U. Let S be a nonempty subset of R. A function $f: R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be a *centralizing function* on S if $[f(x), x] \in Z(R)$, for all $x \in S$. In the special case if [f(x), x] = 0, for all $x \in S$, f is said to be commuting on S.

A map $d: R \longrightarrow R$ is a derivation of a ring R if d is additive and satisfies the Leibnitz' rule; d(ab) = d(a)b + ad(b), for all $a, b \in R$. A simple example is of course the usual derivative on various algebras consisting of differentiable functions. Basic examples in noncommutative rings are quite different. Note that [a, xy] = [a, x]y + x[a, y], for all $a, x, y \in R$. For a fixed $a \in R$, define $d: R \longrightarrow R$ by d(x) = [x, a] for all $x \in R$. The function d so defined can be easily checked to be additive and

$$d(xy) = [xy, a] = x[y, a] + [x, a]y = xd(y) + d(x)y$$
, for all $x, y \in R$.

Thus, d is a derivation which is called *inner derivation* of R associated with a and is generally denoted by I_a . It is obvious to see that every inner derivation on a ring R is a derivation. But one can find plenty of examples of derivations which are not inner.

If R is a commutative ring with identity 1 and d a derivation of R, then a skew polynomial ring R[x;d]is defined as the set S of all polynomials $\sum_{i=0}^{n} r_i x^i$ with usual addition and the multiplication by the rule xr = rx + d(r), for all $r \in R$. A derivation d of R is said to be X-inner if there exists $a \in Q$ such that d(x) = [a, x], for all $x \in R$. Derivations that are not X-inner are called X-outer. Denote by Der(R), the set of all derivations of R and let $Inn(R) = \{d \in Der(R)C \mid d = ad(A), \text{ for some } A \in Q\}$. Elements of Inn(R)are called X-inner derivations and other elements of Der(R) are called outer derivations. Assume that R is an algebra over the rational field Q and d: $R \longrightarrow R$ is a derivation. Then, if we put $d_n(x) = \frac{d^n(x)}{n!}$, for every $n \in IN$, we have that

$$d_n(ab) = \sum_{i+j=n} d_i(a)d_j(b), \text{ for all } a, b \in R \text{ and}, n \ge 1.$$

$$(1.1)$$

So *d* defines a sequence $d_0, d_1, \ldots, d_n, \ldots$ such that $d_0 = id_R, d_1$ is a derivation and equation (1.1) holds. A sequence of additive mappings $D = \{d_0, d_1, \ldots, d_n, \ldots\}$ is said to be a *higher derivation* of *R* if the above relation (1.1) holds ([128], Exerc. 4, p. 540). More precisely, higher derivation in a ring *R* is a sequence of additive mappings $D = (d_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ of *R* satisfying the conditions $d_0 = id_R$ and $d_n(ab) = \sum_{i=0}^n d_i(a)d_{n-i}(b)$ for all $a, b \in R$ and for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. For details study and examples we refer to readers ([00], [01], [104])

 $a, b \in R$ and for all $n \in IN$. For details study and examples we refer to readers ([90], [91], [104]). Many questions on derivations have been considered during the development of the theory. For example:

- powers (or products) of derivations and commutativity of rings (Posner's theorems) were considered in ([1], [20], [37], [67], [79], [84], [123], [133], [148], [149], [152], [154], [171], [172], [196], [208], [224]);
- algebraic derivations were considered in ([3], [21], [32], [40], [56], [72], [86], [142], [143], [147], [148], [150], [153], [164], [170], [194]);
- the relationship between the associative, the Jordan and Lie structure of associative rings (Herstein's question) were considered in ([95], [98], [104], [108], [111], [112], [114], [180]);
- integral derivations were considered in ([3], [87], [94], [95], [190], [202], [203], [204]);
- derivations in many types of rings were considered in ([5], [21], [24], [25], [26], [42], [65], [70], [71], [76], [77], [93], [150], [161], [166], [167], [168], [170], [210], [220], [230], [233], [234]).

They were already generalized in several directions.

Finally, let us say that the historical approach of this paper is partially based on work of several authors, while the most of the sections were strongly based on the authors background and researches. We present some recent applications of derivations, as well as some problems that could be searched. We do not have the pretension to list here all the possible results and problems, neither to affirm that the cited results are the most important. One more time, the interested readers can consult the innumerable references cited here.

2. Historical Note

Following Nowicki [190], the fundamental relations between the operation of differentiation (=derivation) and that of addition and multiplication of functions have been known for a long time as the notion of the derivative itself. The relations were deepended when it was found that the operation of differentiation of functions on the smooth varieties with respect to a given tangent field not only has the formal properties of differentiation but also conversely; the tangent field as fully characterized by such an operation. Therefore, it was possible to define e.g. the tangent bundle in terms of sheaves of functions.

The notion of the ring with derivation is quite old and plays a significant role in the integration of analysis, algebraic geometry and algebra. In the 1940's it was found that the Galois theory of algebraic equations can be transferred to the theory of ordinary linear differential equations (the Picard-Vessiot theory, including Picard-Vessiot theories for differential equations and for difference equations). In the usual sense, "Picard-Vessiot theory" means a Galois theory for linear ordinary differential equations (cf. Van der Put & Singer [217] for details). The filed theory also included the derivations in its inventory of tools. The classical operation of differentiation of forms on varieties led to the notion of differentiation of singular chains on varieties, a fundamental notion of the topological and algebraic theory of homology.

In the 1950's a new part of algebra called differential algebra was initiated by the works of Ritt & Kolchin. In 1950, Ritt [197] and in 1973, Kolchin [143] wrote the well-known books on differential algebra. Kaplansky [139] also wrote an interesting book on this subject in 1976.

3. Chronological Development

The study of derivations in rings though initiated long back, but got impetus only after Posner [195] who in 1957 stablished two very striking results on derivations in prime rings. The result under reference state that; (i). In a 2-torsion-free prime ring, if the iterate of two derivations is a derivation, then one of them must be zero; (ii). A prime ring R admitting a nonzero centralizing derivation d must be commutative. The notion of derivation has also been generalized in various directions such as Jordan derivation, left derivation, (θ, ϕ) -derivation, generalized derivation, generalized Jordan derivation, generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation, higher derivations, generalized higher derivations, etcetera. Also, there has been considerable interest in investigating commutativity of rings, more often that of prime and semiprime rings admitting these mappings which are centralizing or commuting on some appropriate subsets of R. Being important ring theory tools (see for example [37]), these results are one of the sources of the development of such as the theory of differential identities (see [143]), theory of Hopf algebra action on rings (see [179], [213]) and Galois theory for linear ordinary differential equations (cf.; Van der Put & Singer [217]).

3.1. Posner's Theorems

The specific statements of Posner's theorems, to which we shall referer frequently, are the following:

Posner's First Theorem. Let R be a prime ring of characteristic not 2 and d_1, d_2 be derivations on R such that the iterate d_1d_2 be also a derivation, then one at least of d_1, d_2 is zero.

Posner's First Theorem tells us that the composition of two nonzero derivations of a prime ring R can not be a derivation provided that characteristic of R is different from 2. Thereafter, a number of authors have generalized this theorem in several ways (see for example Bergen [37], Chebotar [66], Chuang [68], [69], Hirano et al. [120], Hvala [127], Jensen [133], Krempa [147], Lanski [154], Martindale [170] and Ye et al. [229] where further references can be found).

Generally speaking, a composition of inner derivations can be a nonzero derivation. For example; if e is a nonzero idempotent in R i.e., $e^2 = e \neq 0$, then $(ad(e))^{2k-1} = ad(e)$ for any positive integer k (see in Lanski [155] for more interesting example). If d is any derivation of the prime ring R, then d^p is a derivation of R provided that char(R) = p. However, it was not clear in general whether a composition of derivations could be a nonzero derivation if some of them are inner and some of them are outer. Some progress was achieved by applying result of Kharchenko [143] on independence of outer derivations. The result on composition of three derivations was obtained by Lanski [155] in 1992 as follows:

Theorem 3.1.1. Let R be prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and $d_1, d_2, D \in Der(R)/\{0\}$ so that $d_1d_2D = E \in Der(R)$. Then either $d_1, d_2, D \in Inn(R)$, or else char(R) = 3, d_1 is outer, $d_2 = d_1z_1, D = d_1z_2$ and $(z_1)^{d_1} = 0$, where $z_i \in C$, so $E = d_1^{-3}z_1z_2$.

In the same paper, Lanski posed the question whether a composition of fewer than char(R) derivations, or any product in case char(R) = 0 be a nonzero derivation if some are inner and some are outer. Further, in 1995 Chebotar [66] obtained the necessary condition when the composition of derivations, including both inner and outer ones, could be a derivation (see Beidar et al [30] for more details). However, Lanski [155] question remained open till date. Very recently, Chebotar & Lee [67] present the partial answer of Lanski question by means of following example:

Example 3.1.1. Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let $R = M_2(F[x])$ be the ring of 2×2 matrices over the ring of polynomials in indeterminate x over F. Take $d \in Der(R)$ defined by applying formal differentiation to each entry. Set $d_1 = d_3 = d_5 = ad(e_{12}), d_2 = d + ad(e_{21}), d_4 = d - ad(e_{21})$. Then d_2 and d_4 are outer derivations and $d_1d_2d_3d_4d_5 = ad(-4e_{12})$.

Moreover, Posner's First Theorem was rediscovered by Creedon [79] to semiprime algebras. In fact, he proved that if the product of two derivations in an algebra A is a derivation, then the product maps the algebra into the nil radical nil(A) (the intersection of all prime ideals of A). Thus, if the product of two derivations in a semiprime algebra is a derivation, then the product is zero. Further, Creedon obtained conditions proving that the product of two derivations maps the algebra into the Jacobson radical ([79], Proposition 9).

Many authors have investigated the invariance of certain ideals under derivations. It is known that bounded derivations on Banach algebras leave primitive ideals invariant [208] and derivations on characteristicfree rings leave minimal prime ideals invariant ([84], 3.3.2). Creedon showed that if P is a prime ideal of a ring R, where the characteristic of R/P is not two, such that the product of two derivations leaves Pinvariant, then one of the derivations must leave P invariant. He also proved that, if d is a derivation on a ring R and P is a semiprime ideal of R, such that R/P is characteristic-free and $d^k(P) \subseteq P$, for any fixed positive integer k, then $d(P) \subseteq P$. For more related results see e.g.; Bell [31], Bell & Argaç [32], Hirano et al. [111], Jensen [133], Krempa [148], Lanski [154] and Wang [224].

Posner's Second Theorem Let R be a prime ring. If there is a nonzero centralizing derivation of R, then R is commutative.

This theorem says that the existence of a nonzero centralizing derivation on a prime ring R implies that R is commutative. Considering this theorem from some distance it is not entirely clear to us what was Posner's motivation for proving it and for which reasons he was able to conjecture that the theorem is true. Any how it is a fact that the theorem has been extremely influential and at least indirectly it initiated the study of commuting derivations i.e., the topic arising directly from Posner's Second Theorem. It should be mentioned that Posner in fact proved this theorem under the more general condition that d satisfies $[d(x), x] \in Z(R)$, for every $x \in R$. Maps satisfying this condition are usually called centralizing in the literature. It has turned out that under rather mild assumptions a centralizing map is necessarily commuting (see for example [45], Proposition 3.1).

Remark 3.1.1. It is evident by the following example that Posner's Second Theorem can not be extended

for arbitrary rings. Consider a ring $R = R_1 \times R_2$, where R_1 and R_2 are nonzero rings. If R_1 is a commutative ring having a nonzero derivation d_1 and R_2 is a noncommutative ring, then R is a noncommutative ring and $d(x_1, x_2) = (d_1(x_1), 0)$ is a nonzero commuting derivation on R. However, R is not commutative. This is a trivial example, but it explains well why the assumption of primeness is natural in Posner's Second Theorem.

Over the last 50 years, a lot of work has been done on centralizing and commuting mappings. A number of authors have extended these results by considering mapping which are only assumed to be centralizing on an appropriate subset of the ring. In the year 1973, Awtar [19] considered centralizing derivations on Lie and Jordan ideals. In the Jordan case, he proved that if a prime ring of characteristic not two has a nontrivial derivation which is centralizing on a Jordan ideal, then the ideal must be central. More precisely, he obtained the following results:

Theorem 3.1.2 ([19], Theorem 1). Let R be a prime ring of characteristic different from 2 and 3. Let d be a nonzero derivation of R, and U a Lie ideal of R with $[u, d(u)] \in Z(R)$, for all $u \in U$. Then $U \subset Z(R)$.

Theorem 3.1.3 ([19], Theorem 2). Let R be a prime ring of characteristic 2, and let d be a nonzero derivation of R. Let U a Lie (Jordan) ideal and a subring of R. Suppose that $[u, d(u)] \in Z(R)$, for all $u \in U$. Then R is commutative.

It is to remark that in the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1.3, if we just assume that U is only a Lie (Jordan) ideal or a subring of R, then U may not be commutative. This is shown by the following examples due to Awtar [19].

Example 3.1.1. Let *R* be a prime ring of all 2×2 matrices over a noncommutative prime ring. Consider $U = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & 0 \\ 0 & y \end{pmatrix} \in R \right\}$. It is clear that *U* is a subring, but not a Lie ideal of *R*. Define a mapping *d*: $R \longrightarrow R$ as follows:

$$d\left(\left(\begin{array}{cc}x&y\\z&w\end{array}\right)\right) \ = \ \left(\begin{array}{cc}0&-y\\z&0\end{array}\right).$$

Then, it is easy to verify that d is a nonzero derivation of R with $[u, d(u)] \in Z(R)$, for all $u \in U$. But U is not commutative.

Example 3.1.2. Consider the prime ring R of all 2×2 matrices over GF(2). Let $U = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & x \end{pmatrix} \mid x, y, z \in R \right\}$. It is clear that U is a Lie ideal, but not a subring of R. Let us define a map $d: R \longrightarrow R$ as follows: $d\left(\begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{pmatrix} \right) = \begin{pmatrix} w-z & x-w \\ x-w & y-z \end{pmatrix}$. Then, it is clear that d is a nonzero derivation of R such that $[u, d(u)] \in Z(R)$, for all $u \in U$. However, U is not commutative.

In 1976, Mayne [174] obtained the analogous result for an automorphism which states as follows:

Theorem 3.1.3 ([174], Theorem). If R is a prime ring with a nontrivial centralizing automorphism, then R is a commutative integral domain.

In the year 1982, Mayne [176] extended the above results and established that the underlying automorphism or derivation needs only to be centralizing and invariant on a nonzero ideal in order to ensure the commutativity of a prime ring. It was also shown that if the prime ring is of characteristic different from two, then the mapping needs only to be centralizing and invariant on a nonzero Jordan ideal. Later, in the year 1984, Mayne [175] pointed out that the ideal invariant assumption is unnecessary in the above theorem and he proved that the existence of a nontrivial automorphism or derivation which is centralizing on a nonzero ideal in a prime ring R implies that the ring R must be commutative. Then Mayne using the fact that every nonzero quadratic Jordan ideal contains a nonzero (associative) ideal [178], find that the mapping needs only be centralizing on a nonzero quadratic Jordan ideal. In the derivation case this extends Theorem 3 of Awtar [19] to prime rings of arbitrary characteristic. In 1969, McCrimmon [178] showed that in the automorphism case the results of Mayne (Theorem 2 of [175]) can not be extended to semiprime rings. Recently, Vukman [223] extended Posner's Second Theorem by showing that if d is a derivation of prime ring of characteristic not 2 such that [[d(x), x], x] = 0, for all $x \in R$, then d = 0 or R is commutative. In fact, in the spirits of Posner's theorem, he merely showed that d is commuting. In 1992, the result proved in [175] was further generalized for automorphism or derivation centralizing on a nontrivial Lie ideal.

Theorem 3.1.4 ([174], **Theorem**). Let R be a prime ring of characteristic different from two and T be an automorphism of R which is centralizing and nontrivial on a Lie ideal U of R. Then U is contained in Z(R).

In 1993 Brešar [46] proved that same concrete additive mappings (such as derivation, endomorphism, etc.) can not be centralizing on certain subsets of noncommutative prime (and some other) rings. In the same paper, he also described the structure of an arbitrary additive mapping which is centralizing on a prime ring and proved the following result:

Theorem 3.1.5 ([46], Theorem A). Let R be a prime ring. Suppose an additive mapping F of R into itself is centralizing on R. If either R has a characteristic different from two or F is commuting on R, then F is of the form $F(x) = \lambda x + \zeta(x), x \in R$, where λ is an element from the extended centroid C of R and ζ is an additive mapping of R into C.

The proof of Theorem 3.1.5 depend on the identity d(x) = ag(x) + h(x)b, for all $x \in R$ (see [46], Theorem 2.1) and a, b are some fixed element of R, which gives a description of derivations d, g and h of prime ring R. Brešar in [46] initiated the study of a more general concept than centralizing mapping i.e., he consider the situation when the mappings F and G of a ring R satisfy $F(s)s - sG(s) \in Z(R)$, for all sin some subset S of R. In fact he proved the following theorem:

Theorem 3.1.6 ([46], Theorem B). Let R be a prime ring and U be a nonzero left ideal of R. Suppose derivations d and g of R satisfy $d(u)u - ug(u) \in Z(R)$, for all $u \in U$. If $d \neq 0$ then R is commutative.

This has been inspired by the following observation. Let f be a generalized inner derivation of R, i.e., f(x) = ax + xb, for some $a, b \in R$. Note that the condition that f is centralizing on subset S of R can be written in the form $[a, s]s - s[s, b] \in Z(R)$, for all $s \in S$. Thus, introducing inner derivation d and g by d(x) = [a, x] and g(x) = [x, b], we obtain the same condition as in Theorem 3.1.6, i.e., $d(s)s - sg(s) \in Z(R)$, for all $s \in S$. Generalized inner derivations are extensively studied on operator algebras. Therefore, it might be interesting to investigate these mappings from an algebraical piont of view also.

Numerous conditions concerning additive maps which are more general than f being centralizing, in particular commuting, but usually implying the same conclusion, have been studied by many algebraists. It would occupy too much space to discuss at greater length all of them, so we just refer the reader to some references viz; Awtar [18], [19], [20], Bell [31], Bell & Argaç [32], Bell & Martindale [34], Brešar [46], [47], [48], [51], [52], Brešar & Vukman [61], Hirano et al. [120], Hongan [123], Lanski [154], Luh [165], Mayne [173], [174], [176], [175], McCrimmon [178], Vukman [223] and Wong [224], where further reference can be found, for a state-of-art account and comprehensive bibliography.

3.2. Herstein's Problem

In 1950's, Herstein initiated the study of the relationship between the associative and the Jordan and Lie structure of associative rings. We refer the reader to ([112], [114], [115]), where one can find further references and more detailed explanations concerning the motivation and the background of these researches.

A Jordan derivation d of a ring R is an additive mapping d: $R \longrightarrow R$ such that $d(a^2) = d(a)a + ad(a)$, for every $a \in R$. Every derivation is obviously a Jordan derivation and the converse is in general not true.

Example 3.2.1. Let R be a 2-torsion-free ring and $a \in R$ such that xax = 0 for all $x \in R$, but $xay \neq 0$, for some $(x \neq y) \in R$. Define a map d: $R \longrightarrow R$ as follows: d(x) = ax. Then, it can be verified that d is a Jordan derivation but not a derivation.

One can verify that a Jordan derivation in associative ring R is a derivation on the Jordan ring under the induced Jordan multiplication. Note that the definition of Jordan derivation presented in the work of Herstein is not as the given above. In fact, Herstein constructed, starting from the ring R, a new ring, namely the Jordan ring R, defining the product in this one as being $a \circ b = ab + ba$ for any $a, b \in R$. Clearly, this new product is well-defined and it can be easily verified that $(R, +, \circ)$ is a ring. So, an additive mapping d, from the Jordan ring into itself, is said by Herstein to be a Jordan derivation, if $d(a \circ b) = d(a) \circ b + a \circ d(b)$, for every $a, b \in R$. However, in the year 1957, Herstein proved a classical result in this direction which becomes a jumping point for many workers later. The result to which we refere is namely:

Theorem 3.2.1 ([111], Theorem 3.1). If R is a prime ring of characteristic different from 2, then every Jordan derivation of R is a derivation.

In the year 1988, Brešar & Vukman [58] presented a brief (alternative) proof of this classical result. If one checks the proof given in Theorem 3.2.1 one sees that the assumption that the characteristic of R be different from 2 enters only at two points; in proving d(aba) = d(a)ba + ad(b)a + abd(a), for all $a, b \in R$ and at the very end of the argument just given. If we redefine a *Jordan derivation* by $d(a^2) = d(a)a + ad(a)$ and d(aba) = d(a)ba + ad(b)a + abd(a), then in the ring of characteristic not 2 we have imposed no extra restriction yet in characteristic 2 it allows us to conclude:

Theorem 3.2.2 ([58], Theorem 3.4). If R is a prime ring and d is a Jordan derivation (as newly redefined) of R, then d is a derivation except if R is both commutative (and so an integral domain) and of characteristic 2.

Later on Brešar [49] extended the result to 2-torsion-free semiprime rings. In a subsequent paper, Brešar gave another proof of this result using Jordan triple derivations. An additive mapping d: $R \to R$ is said to be a Jordan triple derivation if d(aba) = d(a)ba + ad(b)a + abd(a), for every $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$. He proved that every Jordan triple derivation of a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring is a derivation ([50], Theorem 4.3). It turns out that every Jordan derivation of a 2-torsion-free ring is a Jordan triple derivation ([116], Lemma 3.5). This gives another proof of the result of Herstein for 2-torsion-free semiprime rings. Further, Awtar extended the Herstein's theorem to Lie ideals ([18], Theorem). He proved that if U is a Lie ideal of a prime ring R of characteristic different of 2 such that $u^2 \in U$, for every $u \in U$, and $d: R \to R$ is an additive mapping such that $d|_U$ is a Jordan derivation of U into R, then $d|_U$ is a derivation of U into R. In 2000, Ashraf & Rehman [14] proved that, if R is a 2-torsion-free prime ring and if U is a Lie ideal of R such that $u^2 \in U$ for all $u \in U$ (square closed) and d: $R \to R$ is an additive map satisfying $d(u^2) = 2ud(u)$ for all $u \in U$, then d(uv) = ud(v) + vd(u), for all $u, v \in U$. An additive mapping d: $R \to R$ is called a Jordan left derivation if it satisfies the above property that is $d(x^2) = 2xd(x)$ for all $x \in R$. In 1990, Brešar & Vukman [60] have proved that the existence of a nonzero Jordan left derivation on a prime ring R of $char(R) \neq 2,3$ forces R to be commutative. Later in 1992, Deng [83] improved the above result, proving that if R is a prime ring of characteristic $\neq 2, X$ is a nonzero left *R*-module that is faithful and prime, and if there exists a nonzero Jordan left derivation $d: R \to X$, then R is commutative.

3.3. (θ, ϕ) -Derivations

Jacobson in his classical book "Structure of Rings" [132] has given a passing reference of (s_1, s_2) -derivation which was latter more commonly referred as (σ, τ) -derivation or (α, β) -derivation by some authors and (θ, ϕ) -derivation by others like Argaç et al. [7], Brešar & Vukman [59], Kaya [141], Yenigül et al [231], to mention a few only. Let θ, ϕ be endomorphisms of R. An additive mapping $d: R \longrightarrow R$ is called a (θ, ϕ) derivation (resp. Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation) on R if $d(xy) = d(x)\theta(x) + \phi(x)d(y)$ holds for all $x, y \in R$ (resp. $d(x^2) = d(x)\theta(x) + \phi(x)d(x)$ holds for all $x \in R$).

A mapping $a \mapsto \theta(a)b - b\phi(a)$, where b is a fixed element in R is a (θ, ϕ) -derivation. Such a (θ, ϕ) -derivation is said to be *inner*. A $(\theta, 1)$ -derivation, where 1 is the identity map on R is called simply a θ -derivation. Of course, 1-derivation is a derivation. An additive mapping $\delta: R \longrightarrow R$ is called a *left* (θ, ϕ) -derivation (resp. *left Jordan* (θ, ϕ) -derivation) if $\delta(xy) = \theta(x)\delta(y) + \phi(y)\delta(x)$, for all $x, y \in R$ (resp. $\delta(x^2) = \theta(x)\delta(x) + \phi(x)d(x)$, for all $x \in R$).

Leroy & Matczuk [164] generalized Herstein's [111] result to Jordan θ -derivations, where θ is an automorphism ([164], Theorem 2.6). Further, in the year 1991 Brešar & Vukman [59] extended Herstein's [111] result to Jordan (θ , ϕ)-derivations and proved the following:

Theorem 3.3.1. Let R be any ring and R' be a noncommutative ring. Let θ and ϕ be homomorphisms of R into R'. Let X be a 2-torsion-free R'-bimodule. Suppose that either θ is onto and xR'a = 0 with $x \in X$, $a \in R'$ implies that x = 0 or a = 0 or that θ is onto and aR'x = 0 with $x \in X$, $a \in R'$ implies that x = 0 or a = 0. In this case every Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation $d: R \longrightarrow X$ is a (θ, ϕ) -derivation.

Theorem 3.3.2. Let R be a commutative prime ring (i.e., a commutative integral domain) of characteristic different from two. If θ and ϕ are any endomorphisms of R, then every Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation d of R is a (θ, ϕ) -derivation. Moreover, if $\theta \neq \phi$, then there exists an element λ in the field of fractions F of R such that $d(a) = \lambda(\phi(a) - \theta(a))$, for all $a \in R$.

If R is a ring with involution \star , then every additive mapping E: $R \to R$ which satisfies $E(x^2) = E(x)x^{\star} + xE(x)$ for all $x \in R$ is called a *Jordan* \star -derivation. Following [233] these mappings are closely connected with a question of representability of quadratic forms by bilinear forms. In Theorem 2.1 of [62], Brešar & Zalar obtained a representation of Jordan \star -derivations in terms of left and right centralizers on the algebra of compact operators on a Hilbert space. In [233], Zalar proved that any left (resp. right) Jordan centralizer on a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring is a left (resp. right) centralizer. Cortes & Haetinger [77] proved this question changing the semiprimality condition on R. The main result of this paper is the following: Let R be a 2-torsion-free ring which has a commutator right (resp. left) nonzero divisor and let G: $R \to R$ be a left (resp. right) Jordan σ -centralizer mapping of R, where σ is an automorphism of R. Then G is a left (resp. right) σ -centralizer mapping of R.

In 2001, Ashraf et al. [15] considered the following problem: Let R be a prime ring, $char(R) \neq 2$, and Ua Lie ideal of R such that $u^2 \in U$ for all $u \in U$. They showed that if d is an additive mapping of R into itself satisfying $d(u^2) = 2ud(u)$, for all $u \in U$, then either $U \subseteq Z(R)$ or d(U) = 0. In 2005, Ashraf [8] proved, with the same assumption on R, θ, φ as above, that if R admits a nonzero left Jordan (θ, φ) -derivation, then R is commutative. Further, as an application of this result it was shown that every left Jordan (θ, φ) -derivation on R is a left (θ, φ) -derivation on R. Finally, in case of an arbitrary prime ring it was proved that if Radmits a left (θ, φ) -derivation which acts also as a homomorphism (resp. anti-homomorphism) on a nonzero ideal of R, then d = 0 on R.

Remark 3.3.1. Since every ideal in a ring R is a Lie ideal of R, conclusion of the above theorem holds even if U is assumed to be an ideal of R. Though the assumption that $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$ seems close to assuming that U is an ideal of the ring, but there exist Lie ideals with this property which are not ideals. For example, let $R = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ 0 & z \end{pmatrix} \mid x, y, z \in Z \right\}$. Then it can be easily seen that $U = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ 0 & x \end{pmatrix} \mid x, y \in Z \right\}$ is a Lie ideal of R satisfying $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$. However, U is not an ideal of R.

Here is a related open problem that awaits solution:

Open Problem 3.3.1. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and U be a nonzero Lie ideal of R. If R admits a left Jordan derivation δ such that $d(u^2) = 2ud(u)$, for all $u \in U$, then either $U \subseteq Z(R)$ or d(U) = 0.

Over the recent years, a number of authors have extended Herstein's theorems for semiprime rings, Lie ideals, superalgebras, local rings, and rings containing some special conditions. Moreover, these problems have been extended to many kinds of derivations viz.,

- Left derivations: ([2], [8], [14], [15], [60], [77], [232]);
- Jordan derivations: ([18], [19], [29], [49], [50], [60], [177]);
- Generalized derivations: ([2], [9], [13], [16], [134], [183], [184], [185]);
- Triple derivations: ([49], [133], [182], [183]);

- Higher derivations: ([90], [91], [104], [133], [146], [186], [229]);
- Super derivations: ([94], [97], [179]), where further references can be found.

3.4. Generalized Derivations

During the last few decades there has been a great deal of work concerning generalized derivation in context of algebras on certain normed spaces (for reference see [127], where further references can be found). By a generalized derivation on an algebra A, one usually means a map of the form $x \mapsto ax + xb$, where a and b are fixed elements in A. We prefer to call such maps generalized inner derivations for the reason they present a generalization of the concept of inner derivations (i.e., the map of the form $x \mapsto ax - xb$). In the theory of operator algebras, they are considered as an important class of the so-called elementary operators, that is, operators where $x \mapsto \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i xb_i$. Now in a ring R, let F be a generalized inner derivation given by F(x) = ax + xb. Notice that $F(xy) = F(x)y + xI_b(y)$ where $I_b(y) = yb - by$ is the inner derivation defined by $b \in R$. Motivated by this observation in the year 1991, Brešar [53] introduced the concept of generalized derivation in rings as follows:

Definition 3.4.1. Let S be a non-empty subset of R. An additive mapping $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be a generalized derivation on S if there exists a derivation d: $R \longrightarrow R$ such that F(xy) = F(x)y + xd(y) holds for all $x, y \in S$.

Recently, Hvala [127] initiated the algebraic study of generalized derivation, a function more general than derivation and extended some results concerning derivations to generalized derivations. In fact, the concept of generalized derivation covers both concept of derivation as well as that of generalized inner derivation. Moreover, generalized derivations with d = 0 covers the concept of left multipliers, that is, an additive map f satisfying f(xy) = f(x)y, for all $x, y \in R$. This has widely been studied in functional analysis and several interesting results are obtained (see, for example; Are & Mathiew [4], Sinclair [208], and Wendel [224], where further references can be found).

Let S be an algebra over a commutative ring R and M an S/R-bimodule. If M and N are S/R-bimodules, a homomorphism $f: M \longrightarrow N$ means a R-module and a two sided S-module map. A R-module map d: $S \longrightarrow M$ is called a derivation or inner derivation if d(st) = d(s)t + sd(t) or if d(s) = ms - sm for some $m \in M$, respectively $(s, t \in S)$. We denote the set of derivations (resp. inner derivations) from S to M by $Der_k(S, M)$ (resp. $Inn_k(S, M)$). $Der_k(S, M)$ is an *R*-module and $Inn_k(S, M)$ is an *R*-submodule of $Der_k(S, M)$. An *R*-module map $f: S \longrightarrow M$ is called a generalized derivation if there exists a derivation $d: S \longrightarrow M$ such that f(st) = f(s)t + sd(t), for all $s, t \in S$ and for $m, n \in M$, a map $f_{m,n}: S \longrightarrow M$ such that $s \mapsto ms + sn \in M$ is called a generalized inner derivation. For an R-module map $f: S \longrightarrow M$ and an element $m \in M$, a pair (f,m) is called a generalized derivation if f(st) = f(s)t + sf(t) + smt, for any $s,t \in S$. And by $f_{m,n}(st) = f_{m,n}(s)t + sf_{n,m}(t) + s(-m-n)t$ is called generalized inner derivation and is denoted by $(f_{m,n}, -m - n)$. Two generalized derivations (f, m) and (g, n) are equal if f = g and m = n. Under some conditions, m is uniquely determined by f. We also denote the set of generalized derivations (resp. generalized inner derivations) from S to M by $gDer_k(S, M)$ (resp. $gInn_k(S, M)$). In 1999, Nakajima [185] gave some elementary properties of generalized derivations defined by Brešar [53], and determined functorial relations between $qDer_k(S, M)$ and $Der_k(S, M)$. Using this result, he gave the universal mapping property of generalized derivations in the above sense. Some more related results can be looked in Komatsu & Nakajima [145], Nakajima [186] and Nakajima & Sapanci [187], where further reference can be found).

In the year 2001, Lee [158] extended the definition of generalized derivation as follows: by a generalized derivation we mean an additive map $F: \rho \longrightarrow U$ such that F(xy) = F(x)y + xd(y) for all $x, y \in \rho$, where ρ is a dense right ideal of R and d is a derivation from ρ into U, right Utumi quotient ring. He proved that every generalized derivation can be uniquely extended to a generalized derivation of U. In fact, there exists $a \in U$ and a derivation d of U such that F(x) = ax + d(x) for all $x \in U$ ([158], Theorem 3). Therefore we may assume without loss of generality that a generalized derivation of R is a map $U \longrightarrow U$. In [143], Kharchenko described identities with derivations and his results are powerful tool for reducing a differential identity to a generalized polynomial identity. Thus, to study identities with generalized derivations, it seems reasonable

to find a corresponding theorem for identies with generalized derivations. In [160], Lee & Shinu proved that if $f(X_i^{\Gamma_j})$ is an identity for R, where the Γ_j 's are distinct regular words in generalized derivations, then $f(Z_{ij})$ is a generalized polynomial identity (GPI) for U. They also obtained some results concerning identities with generalized derivations. In particular, they generalized Theorem 1 and 2 of [127] to prime rings without the characteristic assumption. Further, they prove an analogous theorem for prime rings with involution.

During the last decade, there has been ongoing interest concerning the relationship between the commutativity of a ring and the existence of certain specific types of derivations of R. Recently, many authors viz [32], [35], [45] and [124] have obtained commutativity of prime and semiprime rings with derivations satisfying certain polynomial constraints. In the year 2001, Ashraf & Nadeem [12] established that a prime ring R with a nonzero ideal I must be commutative if it admits a derivation d satisfying $d(xy) + xy \in Z(R)$ or $d(xy) - xy \in Z(R)$ for all $x, y \in I$. Motivated by these observations, Ali in [2] explore the commutativity of a ring R satisfying any one of the properties: (i). $F(xy) - xy \in Z(R)$, (ii). $F(xy) + xy \in$ Z(R), (iii). $F(xy) - yx \in Z(R)$, (iv). $F(xy) + yx \in Z(R)$, (v). $F(x)F(y) - xy \in Z(R)$ and (vi). $F(x)F(y) + xy \in Z(R)$, for all $x, y \in I$.

The following example demonstrates that R to be prime is essential in the hypotheses of the above results.

Example 3.4.1. Consider S as any ring. Let $R = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} | a, b \in S \right\}$ and $I = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 & b \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} | b \in S \right\}$ be a Lie ideal of R. Define $F: R \longrightarrow R$ by $F(x) = 2e_{11}x - xe_{11}$. Then F is a generalized derivation with associated derivation d given by $d(x) = e_{11}x - xe_{11}$. It can be easily seen that R satisfies the properties: (i). $F(xy) - xy \in Z(R)$, (ii). $F(xy) + xy \in Z(R)$, (iii). $F(xy) - yx \in Z(R)$ and (iv). $F(xy) + yx \in Z(R)$ for all $x, y \in I$. However, I is not central.

Bergen et al. [40] proved that if R is a semiprime ring with unity and $d \neq 0$ is a derivation of R such that for every $x \in R$, d(x) is zero or invertible in R, then R must be either a division ring D or $M_2(D)$, the ring of 2×2 matrices over a division ring D. Later, Bergen & Carini [38] extended this result to the case of Lie ideals. More precisely, they prove the following: Let R be a semiprime ring with unity, U a noncentral Lie ideal of R such that $D(U) \neq 0$, and d(x) is either zero or invertible for every $x \in U$. Then R is either a division ring D or $M_2(D)$, for some division ring D. Since a noncentral Lie ideal of a simple ring R contains all the commutators [x, y] with $x, y \in R$ except if R is of characteristic 2 and is 4-dimensional over its center, it is natural to check the case when $d(f(X_1, \dots, X_k))$ is either zero or invertible for $X_i \in R$, where $f(X_1, \dots, X_k)$ is a multilinear polynomial. Indeed, Lee [157] obtained the same conclusion as above by assuming that R is a semiprime ring and $f(X_1, \dots, X_k)$ is not central-valued on R. On the other hand, Bergen [36] proved a result concerning a derivation with invertible or nilpotent values. It is shown that, if R is a ring without nonzero nil one-sided ideal, and d is a nonzero derivation such that d(x) is invertible or nilpotent for all $x \in R$, then R is either a division ring or the ring of 2×2 matrices over a division ring. A full generalization in this vein was proven by Lee & Wong [161]. They showed that if d is a nonzero derivation and $f(X_1, \dots, X_k)$ is a multilinear polynomial such that $d(f(X_1, \dots, X_k))$ is either nilpotent or invertible for all X_i in some nonzero ideal of prime ring R, then R is either a division ring or the ring of 2×2 matrices over division ring, provided that R contains no nonzero nil one-sided ideals and $f(X_1, \dots, X_k)$ is a multilinear polynomial not central-valued on R.

Recently, Komatsu & Nakajima [145] proved the following: Let R be a semiprime ring with unity and g be a generalized derivation of R. If F(x) is zero or invertible for every $x \in R$, and ker(F) contains no nonzero right ideals, then R must be either a division ring D or $M_2(D)$ for some division ring D. Very recently, Lin & Liu [163] extended the above mentioned result in the case generalized derivations. For more related results see for example ([10], [11], [53], [127], [138], [160], [186], [197], [206]).

3.5. Generalized Jordan Derivations

Let S be a non-empty subset of R. An additive mapping $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be a *generalized Jordan* derivation on S if there exists a derivation d: $R \longrightarrow R$ such that $F(x^2) = F(x)x + xd(x)$, holds for all $x, y \in S$.

Clearly every generalized derivation on R is a generalized Jordan derivation. But the converse statement does not hold in general. It is shown in [13] that if R is a ring with a commutator which is not a divisor of zero, then every generalized Jordan derivation on a ring is a generalized derivation. In the year 2002, Ashraf et al. [16] obtained the conditions under which every generalized Jordan derivation on a ring is a generalized derivation. In fact, the result which we refer to states as follows:

Theorem 3.5.1. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and U a nonzero Lie ideal of R such that $u^2 \in U$ for all $u \in U$. If F is an additive mapping of R into itself satisfying $F(u^2) = F(u)u + ud(u)$, for all $u \in U$, then F(uv) = F(u)v + ud(v), for all $u, v \in U$.

Corollary 3.5.1. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and $F: R \longrightarrow R$ be a Jordan generalized derivation. Then F is a generalized derivation on R.

The following example due to Ashraf et al. [9] demonstrates that R to be prime is essential in the hypothesis of the above result.

Example 3.5.1. Let S be a ring such that the square of each element in S is zero, but the product of some elements in S is nonzero. Next, let $R = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} | x, y \in S \right\}$. Define a map $F: R \longrightarrow R$ such that $F \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$. Then with d = 0 and U = R, it can be easily seen that $F(r^2) = F(r)r = F(r)s = 0$ for all $r, s \in R$, but $F(rs) \neq 0$ for some $r, s \in R$.

The above theorem is still open for arbitrary Lie ideal.

In 2003, Jing & Lu ([134], Theorem 2.5) showed that every generalized Jordan derivation on a 2torsion-free prime ring is a generalized derivation. An additive mapping $f: R \longrightarrow R$ is said to be a generalized Jordan triple derivation if there exists a Jordan triple derivation $\delta: R \longrightarrow R$ satisfying $f(aba) = f(a)ba + a\delta(b)a + ab\delta(a)$ for all $a, b \in R$. Further, they obtained some more general results:

Theorem 3.5.2. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring, then every generalized Jordan triple derivation on R is a generalized derivation.

Theorem 3.5.3. Let $M_n(\mathcal{C})$ denote the algebra of all $n \times n$ complex matrices and B be an arbitrary algebra over the complex field \mathcal{C} . Suppose that $\delta: M_n(\mathcal{C}) \longrightarrow B$ is a linear mapping such that $\delta(P) = \delta(P)P + P\tau(P)$ holds for all idempotent P in $M_n(\mathcal{C})$, where $\tau: M_n(\mathcal{C}) \longrightarrow B$ is a linear mapping satisfying $\tau(P) = \tau(P)P + P\tau(P)$, for any idempotent P in $M_n(\mathcal{C})$, then δ is a generalized Jordan derivation. Moreover, δ is a generalized derivation.

In same paper [134], Jing & Lu proved some more related results and posed two questions which are open problems till date.

- Open Problem 3.5.1: If R is a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring, then every generalized Jordan derivation on R is a generalized derivation R.
- Open Problem 3.5.2: If R is a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring, then every generalized Jordan triple derivation on R is a generalized derivation.

Inspired by the definition of (θ, ϕ) -derivation, the notion of generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation was extended by Ashraf et al. [9] as follows:

Definition 3.5.1. Let S be a non-empty subset of R. An additive mapping $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is called a generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation (resp. generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation) on S if there exists a (θ, ϕ) -derivation d: $R \longrightarrow R$ such that $F(xy) = F(x)\theta(y) + \phi(x)d(y)$ holds for all $x, y \in S$ (resp. $F(x^2) = F(x)\theta(x) + \phi(x)d(x)$ holds for all $x \in S$).

Remark 3.5.1. Every generalized (1,1)-derivation (resp. generalized Jordan (1,1)-derivation) on R is generalized derivation (resp. generalized Jordan derivation) on R, where 1 is the identity mapping on R.

Clearly, every generalized derivation on a ring R is a generalized Jordan derivation on R. But the converse of this statement need not be true in general. The following example due Ali [2] justifies this fact:

Example 3.5.1. Let R be a noncommutative ring and $a, b \in R$ such that xax = 0 and $x^2a = 0$, for all $x \in R$ but $xay \neq 0$, for some x and y, $(x \neq y) \in R$. Define maps $F: R \longrightarrow R$ as follows: F(x) = xa + bx. Then there exists an inner derivation $d_a: R \longrightarrow R$ such that $d_a = [a, x]$. It is readily verified that F is a generalized Jordan derivation but not a generalized derivation.

Very recently, in the year 2004, Ashraf et al. [9] proved the following results on Lie ideals:

Theorem 3.5.3. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and U a noncommutative Lie ideal of R such that $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$. Suppose that θ, ϕ are endomorphisms of R such that θ is one-one, onto and d is a (θ, ϕ) -derivation of R. If $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is a generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U, then F is a generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U.

Theorem 3.5.4. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and U a nonzero commutator Lie ideal of R such that $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$. Suppose that θ is an automorphism of R and d is a (θ, θ) -derivation. If $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is a generalized Jordan (θ, θ) -derivation on U, then F is a generalized (θ, θ) -derivation on U.

As a consequence of above, we have

Corollary 3.5.2. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and $F: R \longrightarrow R$ a generalized Jordan derivation on R. Then F is a generalized derivation on R.

If the underlying ring R is arbitrary, then the following result was obtained in [9]:

Theorem 3.5.5. Let U be a Lie ideal of a 2-torsion-free ring such that $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$. Suppose that θ, ϕ are endomorphisms of such that θ is one-one and onto. Suppose further that U has a commutator which is not a zero-divisor. If $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is a generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U, then F is a generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U.

Corollary 3.5.3. Let R be a 2-torsion-free ring and let $F: R \longrightarrow R$ a generalized Jordan derivation on R. If R has a commutator which is not a zero-divisor, then F is a generalized derivation on R.

Remark 3.5.2. Since every ideal in a ring R is a Lie ideal of R, the conclusion of the above theorems hold when U is assumed to be an ideal of R. Though the assumption that $u^2 \in U$, for all $u \in U$ seems close to assuming that U is an ideal of the ring, there exist Lie ideals with this property which are not ideals. For example, consider an any ring R and U is the additive subgroup of R generated by the idempotents of R. If e is an idempotent in R, and $x \in R$ then it is easy to see that, u = e + ex - exe and v = e + xe - exe are idempotents. Hence, $ex - xe = u - v \in U$. Thus, U is a Lie ideal of R.

To conclude this section, let us mention few problems concerning such possible extensions of the above theorems:

Open Problem 3.5.3. Let R be a 2-torsion-free prime ring and U a Lie ideal of R. Suppose that θ, ϕ are endomorphisms of R such that θ is one-one and onto. If $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is a generalized Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U, then F is a generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U.

Open Problem 3.5.4. Let R be a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring and U a Lie ideal of R. Suppose that θ, ϕ are endomorphisms of R such that θ is one-one and onto. If $F: R \longrightarrow R$ is a generalized Jordan triple (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U, then F is a generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivation on U.

A more precise description of the generalized derivations and Jordan generalized derivations take up a lot of space, so we feel that it is better to resist the temptation to express this subject in greater details and instead refer to [13], [16], [127], and to some of the most recent articles [9], [134], [145], [183], [184] for the advanced theory.

3.6. Lie Derivations and Lie Rings

For almost 30 years, the study of Lie isomorphisms and Lie derivations was carried on mainly by Martindale III and his students. In 1964 Martindale, generalizing an unpublished result of Kaplansky (obtained in the case of a matrix ring over a field), described Lie derivations of primitive rings of characteristic not 2 with nontrivial idempotents [168]. In subsequent papers of several authors, the analogous problem was considered either in the context of prime rings with involution [212] or in the context of von Neumann algebras under a similar assumption.

In the year 1961, Herstein [112] in his AMS hour Talk, titled "Lie and Jordan Structure in Simple, Associative Rings", posed a number of problems on Lie (Jordan) isomorphisms and derivations. In [28], Beidar & Chebotar considered two of them:

- Problem 3.6.1: Describe the Lie derivations of prime rings ([112], Problem 3);
- Problem 3.6.2: Given a prime ring A, describe the Lie derivations of [A, A] and [A, A]/Z([A, A]), where Z(R) denotes the center of a ring R ([112], Problem 4).

In 1993, Brešar [48] solved Problem 3.6.1 under the assumption that the prime ring in question does not satisfy St_4 , the standard polynomial identity of degree 4. It was the first time that functional identities¹ were applied to obtain the description of Lie isomorphisms and Lie derivations. Since then the method of functional identities has been further developed (see [27] for a historical account) and has been successfully applied to such problems in several papers. In 1997, Banning & Mathieu [23] extended to semiprime rings the description of Lie derivations obtained by Brešar in the prime case.

Beidar & Chebotar [28] considered F a commutative ring with 1, A a prime F-algebra with Martindale extended centroid C and with central closure A_C and R a noncentral Lie ideal of the algebra A generating A. Further, they considered $\overline{R} = R/Z(R)$ the factor Lie algebra and $\delta: \overline{R} \to \overline{R}$ a Lie derivation, supposing that $char(A) \neq 2$ and that A does not satisfy St_{14} , the standard identity of degree 14. They showed that $R \cap C = Z(R)$ and that there exists a derivation of algebras $D: A \to A_C$ such that $x^D + C = (x + C)^{\delta} \in$ $(R + C)/C = \overline{R}$ for all $x \in R$. This result solves Problem 3.6.2.

Roughly speaking, the above mentioned descriptions say that (if some requirements are satisfied) a Lie derivation of a ring R has the form $\delta + \tau$, where δ is an ordinary derivation from R to an enlargement R' of R and τ is an additive map from R to the center of R'. Unfortunately R' may be too large. In fact, the enlargement R' is usually too large to be useful in the study of the analytical properties of Lie derivations on general Banach algebras.

In [220], Villena considered D a Lie derivation on an unital complex Banach algebra. Then for every primitive ideal P of A, except for a finite set of them which have finite codimension greater than one, there exists a derivation d from A/P to itself and a linear functional τ on A such that $Q_P D(a) = d(a+P) + \tau(a)$, for all $a \in A$ (where Q_P denotes the quotient map from A onto A/P). Moreover, the preceding decomposition holds for all primitive ideals in the case where D is continuous. It is important to note that the properties of ordinary derivations on primitive Banach algebras will be (almost) inherited (modulo the center and the radical) by Lie derivations on unital complex Banach algebras.

On the other hand, Jordan & Jordan [135] studied how the ideal structure of the Lie ring of derivations of an associative ring R, denoted by D(R), is determined by the ideal structure of R. If R is a simple (resp. semisimple) finite-dimensional Z(R)-algebra and $\delta(z) = 0$ for all $\delta \in D(R)$, then every derivation of R is inner and D(R) is known to be a simple (resp. semisimple) Lie algebra (see [122], [131]). Jordan's interest was centred in extending these results to the case where R is a prime or semiprime ring.

¹For more details on functional identities, see ([27], [30], [54]).

Prime and semiprime ideals of Lie rings have been studied by Brown & McCoy, in 1958, and by Kawamoto, in 1974. Let now R be a commutative ring with identity and δ be a derivation of R. Then the set, $R\delta$, of all derivations of R of the form $r\delta: x \to r\delta(x), r \in R$, is a Lie subring of the Lie ring D(R) of derivations of R. In [135], Jordan & Jordan studied the structure of D(R) and found that $R\delta$ played an analogous role to that played by Lie ring I(S) of inner derivations of a noncommutative ring S in the study of D(S). Furthermore, it was shown in [135] that the properties of $R\delta$ closely resemble the known properties of I(S). In particular, it was shown that the following results hold in the case where R is 2-torsion-free: (i). If R is prime or If R is δ -prime noetherian, then $R\delta$ is a prime Lie ring; (ii). If R is δ -simple noetherian, then $R\delta$ is a simple Lie ring. In [136], the authors continued the study of the structure of the Lie ring $R\delta$ and of certain of its Lie subrings.

3.7. Nil, Nilpotent, and Composition of Derivations

The notion of nil derivations is a generalization of the notion of nilpotent derivations. The latter, because of its close relation with automorphisms and the existence of a Jordan decomposition into semisimple and nilpotent parts for a large family of derivations (it is a generalization of that of algebraic derivations), has received considerable attention recently (see [71]). Based on Chung [71], for a prime ring of characteristic zero, a relation between a nil derivation being inner with the existence of nontrivial fixed points of its corresponding automorphism was established. From this, the criterion on ∂ being "inner" and induced by a nil element was derived. As an application, the result that a nilpotent derivation is induced by a nilpotent element in the endomorphism ring $End(I_R, I_R)$, where I_R is certain ideal of R was deduced. This is a generalization of some well-known results due to Kharchenko and others. This problem was not yet studied for higher derivations.

Now, let us consider R be a ring and d a derivation of R. We say that d is *locally nilpotent* if for any $\alpha \in R$ there exists $n \in IN$ such that $d^n(\alpha) = 0$. Following Ferrero, Lequain & Nowicki [93], locally nilpotent derivations play an important role in commutative algebra and algebraic geometry, and several problems may be formulated using locally nilpotent derivations. In particular, they play an important role in the Jacobian conjecture. It is well-known (by the works of Nousiainen, Nowicki, Sweedler, and Wright) that the Jacobian problem is equivalent to the problem of local nilpotence of some \mathcal{C} -derivations in the polynomial ring $\mathcal{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$. The problem is still open even for the 2-variable case $\mathcal{C}[x, y]$. If $d = \frac{\partial}{\partial x}$ and $\delta = \frac{\partial}{\partial y}$ are the partial derivatives in $\mathcal{C}[x, y]$, then every \mathcal{C} -derivation Δ of $\mathcal{C}[x, y]$ has the form $\Delta = ad + b\delta$, where $a, b \in \mathcal{C}[x, y]$ are uniquely determined. The derivations d and δ are locally nilpotent and they commute. It now appears to be of interest to get necessary and sufficient conditions on a and b for Δ to be locally nilpotent. In [93] the authors found them for a commutative, reduced, \int -torsion-free ring R with an identity element and where d and δ are two locally nilpotent derivations which commute, and for $b \in R$ such that $\delta(b) = d(b) = 0$. They gave a partial answer that includes the cases b = 0 and b = 1. The condition is that d(a) = 0, where Δ is a derivation $ad + b\delta$ with $a \in R$.

In the same year, 1992, Lanski [155] combined the 1978's results and ideas of Kharchenko [143], showing that certain algebraic derivations of prime rings are inner, with those of 1983 of Martindale & Miers [170] which showed that nilpotent inner derivations are obtained from nilpotent elements of index of nilpotence roughly half that the index of the derivation. More specifically, Lanski considered a derivation d which is nilpotent on certain subsets of a prime ring R: namely, on Lie ideals, right ideals and when R has an involution, on the set of symmetric or skew-symmetric elements of R. Using an earlier own work [150], he showed that d must be inner in the Martindale quotient ring of R, and then using the ideas in [152] to see that d can be given by a nilpotent element whose index of nilpotence depends on that of d, the subset in question, and the characteristic of R.

On the other hand, in [110] Herstein proved that if R is a prime ring and d is an inner derivation of R such that $d(x)^n = 0$ for all $x \in R$ and n a fixed integer, then d = 0. As we wrote earlier, in [97] Giambruno & Herstein extended this result to arbitrary derivations in semiprime rings. In [65] Carini & Giambruno proved that if R is a prime ring with a derivation d such that $d(x)^{n(x)} = 0$ for all $x \in U$, a Lie ideal of R, then d(U) = 0 when R has no nonzero nil right ideals, $char(R) \neq 2$ and the same conclusion holds when n(x) = n fixed and R is a 2-torsion-free semiprime ring. Using the ideals in [65] and the methods in [89], Lanski [152] removed both the bound on the indices of nilpotence and the characteristic assumptions on R.

In [46], Brešar gave a generalization of the result due to Giambruno & Herstein [97] in another direction. Explicitly, he proved the theorem: Let R be a semiprime ring with a derivation $d, a \in R$. If $ad(x)^n = 0$ for all $x \in R$, where n is a fixed integer, then ad(R) = 0 when R is an (n-1)!-torsion-free ring. Lee & Lin [159] were motivated by Brešar's result and by Lanski's paper [155]. They proved Brešar's result without the assumption of (n-1)!-torsion-free on R. In fact, they studied the Lie ideal case given in [155] and then obtained Brešar's result as the corollary to their main theorem. A good account of this subject could be found in [149].

In the year 2002, Chuang & Lee [69] considered a prime GPI-ring R with extended centroid C. They proved that if C is a finite field, then there exist nonzero derivations $\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_n$ of R satisfying $\delta_1(x)\delta_2(x)\ldots\delta_n(x)$ 0 for all $x \in R$. This answer a problem posed by Brešar, Chebotar & Šemrl [55]. Moreover, the authors generalized their theorem to the case of generalized derivations with assumption on Lie ideals.

4. Some Applications

The theory of derivations and automorphisms of an associative rings is a direct descendant of the development of classical Galois theory (cf. Suzuki [211], Taelman [216] and Van der Put & Singer [217] for details) and the theory of invariants. The theory of derivations and automorphisms plays an important role not only in ring theory, but also in functional analysis; linear differential equations, concerning the question of innerness and outerness, for instance, the classical Noether-Skolem theorem yields the solution of the problem for finite dimensional central simple algebras (see [113]). An extensive and deep theory has been developed especially for derivations of C^* -algebras, commutative Banach algebras and Galois theory of linear differential equations (see; e.g., Bonsall & Duncan [43], Murphy [182] - a more recent condensed survey, Frank [96], Pedersen [195] and Sakai [199]). Especially in analysis it is customary to treat derivations of one algebra into a bigger one (into a bimodule). To explain more precisely, we have the following:

4.1. Some Nowicki's Results Concerning Derivations Closely Connected with the Ring of Constants

Nowicki [191] works with k-derivations of the polynomial ring $k[X] = k[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ over a field k of characteristic zero. The object of his principle interest is $k[X]^d$, the ring of constants of a k-derivation d of k[X], that is, $k[X]^d = \{f \in k[X]; d(f) = 0\}$.

Assume that f_1, \ldots, f_n are polynomials belonging to k[X]. There exists then a unique k-derivation d of k[X] such that $d(x_1) = f_1, \ldots, d(x_n) = f_n$. The derivation d is defined by

$$d(h) = f_1 \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_1} + \ldots + f_n \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_n}, \text{ for } h \in k[X].$$
(1)

Now, consider a system of polynomial ordinary differential equations

$$\frac{dx_i(t)}{dt} = f_i(x_1(t), \dots, x_n(t)), \ 1 \le i \le n.$$
(2)

If k is a subfield of the complex numbers \mathcal{C} , then it is evident what the system means. When k is arbitrary then it also has a sense. This system has a solution in k[[t]], the ring of formal power series over k in the variable t (see ([191], Section 1.6)).

Let $k(X) = k(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ be the quotient field of k[X]. An element h of $k[X] \setminus k$ (resp. of $k(X) \setminus k$) is said to be a *polynomial* (resp. *rational first integral* of the system (2)) if the following identity holds

$$f_1 \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_1} + \ldots + f_n \frac{\partial h}{\partial x_n} = 0.$$
(3)

Thus, the set of all the polynomial first integrals of (3) coincides with the set $k[X]^d \setminus k$ where d is the k-derivation defined by (1). Moreover, the set of all the rational first integrals of (2) coincides with the set $k(X)^d \setminus k$, where $k(X)^d = \{h \in k(X); d(h) = 0\}$ and where d is the unique extension of the k-derivation (2) to k(X). In various areas of applied mathematics (as well as in the theoretical physics and chemistry) there occur autonomous systems of ordinary differential equations of the form (3). There arises the following question: "do there exist first integrals of a certain type, for example, polynomial or rational first integrals?" This problem has been studied intensively for a long time; see for example ([122], [193], [202], [210]) where many references on this subject can be found. The problem is known to be difficult even for n = 2.

Computers are frequently used in solving this problem. There are computer programs which make it possible to find all the polynomial first integrals up to a given highest degree r but they do not provide any information beyond r.

In this section, we use the vocabulary of differential algebra ([139], [146]). In terms of derivations the above problem consists in the finding of methods leading to the statement whether the ring of the form $k[X]^d$ (or $k(X)^d$), where d is a given k-derivation of k[X], is nontrivial i.e., different than k). A certain result containing some necessary and sufficient conditions (even for n = 2) on polynomials f_1, \ldots, f_n would be desirable and remarkable for the derivation defined by the formula (1) to possess a nontrivial ring of constants.

There exist other natural problems concerning the discussed question. Assume that d is a k-derivation of k[X] such that $k[X]^d \neq k$. Then there arises the following question: Is the ring $k[X]^d$ finitely generated over k? This question is a special case of the fourteenth problem of Hilbert ([126], [188]). Let us stress that there exist k-derivations of k[X] for which the ring of constants is not finitely generated (see [191], Section 4.2). How to decide whether a given k-derivation of k[X] has a finitely generated ring of constants?

Suppose that we already have one such derivation which has a finitely generated ring of constants. How can one find its finite (possibly smallest) generating set? Can the minimal number of generators be limited in advance? What can be said about this number?

Evidently, not every k-subalgebra of k[X] is a ring of constants with respect to a certain k-derivation (or a family of k-derivations) of k[X]. For example, $k[x_1^2, \ldots, x_n^2]$ is a such subalgebra. Therefore, a question arises which subalgebras are the rings of constants. Does there exist an algebraic description of such subalgebras? Let D be a family of k-derivations of k[X]. Consider the ring of constants

$$k[X]^{D} = \bigcap_{d \in D} k[X]^{d} = \{ w \in k[X]; d(w) = 0, \text{ for all } d \in D \}.$$

Does there exist a k-derivation δ of k[X] such that $k[X]^D = k[X]^{\delta}$? Similar questions can be asked for all the subfields of the field k[X]. All the above questions will constitute a group dealt with in [191]. A. Nowicki also presented other issues related to the constant rings in k[X]. In particular, we presented:

- methods leadings to the proof that some polynomial derivations do not possess a nontrivial polynomial (often even rational) constant as well as methods for the finding of a finite set of generators, illustrated by numerous examples;
- an algebraic description of all the subrings of k[X] which are rings of constants of derivations. Moreover, applications of the description to the above mentioned problems of the finiteness and the minimal number of generators.

Later, in 2004, Ollagnier & Nowicki [193] considered the following problem: Let $d_1: k[X] \to k[X]$ and $d_2: k[Y] \to k[Y]$ be k-derivations, where $k[X] = k[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ and $k[Y] = k]y_1, \ldots, y_m$] are polynomial algebras over a field k of characteristic zero. Denoting by $d_1 \oplus d_2$ the unique k-derivation of k[X,Y] such that $d \mid_{k[X]} = d_1$ and $d \mid_{k[Y]} = d_2$, they proved that if d_1 and d_2 are positively homogeneous and if d_1 has no nontrivial Darboux polynomials, then every Darboux polynomial of $d_1 \oplus d_2$ belongs to k[Y] and is a Darboux polynomial of d_2 . Moreover, the authors proved a similar fact for the algebra of constants of $d_1 \oplus d_2$ and presented several applications of their results.

4.2. Derivations in Skew Polynomial Rings

Let R be a commutative ring with identity and d a derivation of R. Consider the set S of all polynomials on one variable, say x, over R and define in S addition in the usual way and multiplication by the rule xr = rx + d(r) for all $r \in R$. Then it is well-known that S becomes a ring denoted by R[x,d], and it is called a *skew polynomial ring* (cf. Cohn [74] for details). For derivations $d_1, d_2, d_3, ..., d_n$ of R, one can also construct a skew polynomial ring in n variables of R, $R_n = R[x_1, x_2, ..., x_n; d_1, d_2, d_3, ..., d_n]$ such that $x_ir = rx_i + d_i(r)$ and $x_ix_j = x_jx_i$ for any $r \in R$. The properties of these skew polynomial rings have been discussed by many authors (see for example; Cozzen [78], Hamanchi & Nakajima [105], Jordan [137] and Voskoglou [221], [222]. In [221], Voskoglou has given the properties of the skew polynomial ring over a ring R of prime characteristic which are connected with the D-simplicity of R with respect to a set of derivations D of R.

Let k be a field of characteristic zero, F = k((Y)) the local field of Laurent series in one indeterminate Y, and ∂_Y the usual derivation of F. In 1992, Dumas & Vidal [86] described completely the k-derivations of $K = F((X, \partial_Y))$. As an application, they studied the structure of the higher derivations in skew rings of characteristic zero. This subject could be depended, since that Dumas & Vidal constructed a new ring K[[X, D]], called the Cohen ring, following Vidal [219].

Deformations of a polynomial algebra, such as the Weyl algebra or functions on quantum affine space, may be expressed by formulas involving derivations of the polynomial algebra. These formulae are power series in an indeterminate with coefficients in the universal enveloping algebra of the Lie algebra of derivations. There are generalizations of such deformations to other types of algebras, such as functions of a manifold or orbifold, that are of current interest. In [228], Witherspoon gave a new generalization of the formulas themselves and applied them to crossed products of polynomial algebras with groups of linear automorphisms. These group crossed products are of interest in geometry due to their relationship with corresponding orbifolds. Particular deformations of such crossed products, called graded Hecke algebras (firstly defined by Drinfel), have been studied by many authors, for example for crossed products with real reflection groups. For these crossed product algebras, the universal enveloping algebra of the Lie algebra of derivations does not capture all the known deformations. Instead, she derives a deformation formula from the action of a bialgebra or Hopf algebra under some hypotheses, recovering more of these known deformations as well as some new ones.

In the year 2003, Taelman [216] observe that the Dieudonne determinant induces a non-negative degree function on the ring of matrices over a skew polynomial ring. Then, he apply this degree function to calculate the dimension of the solution space of linear matrix differential equations in the following way: Let F be a differential field of characteristic 0. This means F is equipped with an additive map (called derivation i.e., d(ab) = d(a)b + ad(b), for all $a, b \in F$). Let $C \subset F$ be a field of constant, that is the kernel of derivation. Assume that the derivation is nontrivial i.e., $C \neq F$. Examples are F = C(x) and F = C((x)) with the usual derivation. Now, we consider the skew polynomial ring $R = F[\partial, 1']$ with center C. It acts F-linear on differential field extension of F by $\partial(a) = d(a)$. A homogeneous matrix differential equation of the form

$$A_0y + A_1y' + A_2y'' + \dots + A_dy^d = 0$$

where y denotes a vector in F^n and the A_i are matrices in M(n, F) can be written as Ay = 0 with $A = \sigma A_i \partial^i \in M(n, F)$. Conversely, every A corresponds to such a differential equation. As in the proof of Theorem 1.1 of [216], we associate with A the R-module $M := R^n/R^n A = R^{(s)} \oplus M_{tors}$. Take $F \subset l$ to be the Picard-Vessiot extension of M_{tors} or alternatively, take l to be a universal differential field extension of F. When s = 0, all solutions of the differential equation exist over l. The contravariant solution space V of M is defined to be the C-vector space $V := Hom_R(M, l)$. It is finite-dimential if and only if s = 0, and in that case it is dual to the C-space of solutions in l^n of the given differential equation. Therefore, he obtained the following relationship:

$$dim_C V = dim_F M = deg \ det A$$

Finally, he remarked that the completely analogous results hold for difference and q-difference equations.

In 2005, Cortes [76] studied generalizations of McCoy's theorem in skew polynomial rings. He obtained that the bijection between the set of right annihilator in a ring R and the set of a right annihilator in $R[x;\sigma]$, where σ is an automorphism of R, is equivalent to R be skew Armendariz ring. Moreover, Cortes studied the relationship between Baerness, right Goldie property and right p.p.-property of R and $R[x;\sigma]$ using the concept of a skew Armendariz ring. Further, he studied the properties of quasi-skew Armendariz rings.

4.3. Algebraic, Integral, and *p*-Integral Derivations

Following Lanski [150], the first general result on algebraic derivations was obtained in 1957 by Amitsur [3], who proved that an algebraic derivation of a simple ring of characteristic zero must be inner. An extension of this result to prime rings was proved in 1978 by Kharchenko [143] in a celebrated paper, using his work on differential identities of prime rings.

Later on 1985, Lanski [153] extended the work of Kharchenko and studied differential identities of ideals in prime rings, and of the set of (skew) symmetric elements in ideals of prime rings with involution. As a result of this work, he showed that a derivation of a prime ring R is algebraic if its restriction to an ideal of Ris algebraic, and also must be inner if the characteristic of R is zero. Furthermore, when R has an involution, then any derivation of R, algebraic when restricted to the (skew) symmetric elements of an ideal of R, must be inner when the characteristic of R is zero, and algebraic if the characteristic zero was unanswered. He proved that it must be algebraic. In his paper [150], Lanski considered derivations which are algebraic when considered as endomorphisms of certain subsets of prime rings. He proved the results using the theory developed in [153] to extend and strengthen to Lie ideals the results there on ideals. Specifically, he showed that if a derivation of a prime ring R satisfies a polynomial when restricted to a noncommutative Lie ideal of R, then the derivation satisfies the same polynomial, as an endomorphism of R. This generalizes, to Lie ideals, a result of Chung & Luh [72] on nilpotent derivations on ideals of R.

There is an interesting problem the study of the algebraic derivations d defined in a prime ring R (with unity), and they respectively extensions d^* to the left Martindale quotient ring of R, denoted by Q. There are several papers in this line, from where we choose ([86], [142], [143], [147], [164]).

It is well-known that if R is a semiprime ring and $d: R \to R$ is a derivation, then d can be uniquely extended to a derivation $d^*: Q \to Q$ (i.e., such that $d^*|_R = d$). When R is a prime ring, Leroy & Matczuk [164] in 1985, and later in 1992 by Ouarit on when R is semiprime [194], different types of algebraicity were related. It was proved that the following conditions are equivalent: d is R-algebraic; d^* is R-algebraic; d is C-algebraic (where C indicates the extended centroid of R); d^* is C-algebraic. Also it is a well-known 1978's Kharchenko result [143] that if d is algebraic over a prime ring R, then d is X-inner, provided that char(R) = 0 or char(R) = p is greater than the degree of algebraicity of d. Further, Ferrero & Haetinger ([91], [104]) extended this result to higher derivations.

Later, in 1987, Nowicki [190] published a work on integral derivations: If p is a prime number and $k \,\subset R$ are commutative rings of characteristic p, then we say that a k-derivation d of R is p-integral over a d-subring A of R if there exists a finite set $\{a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1}\}$ of elements of A such that $d^{p^n} + a_{n-1}d^{p^{n-1}} + \ldots + a_1d^p + a_0d = 0$. The author described the p-integral k-derivations of R by the Lie p-subalgebras of $Der_k(R)$ (d(k) = 0). He proved in ([190], Proposition 2.2) that if R is noetherian and $Der_k(R)$ is finitely generated as an R-module then every k-derivation of R is p-integral over R. In particular, if k is noetherian and R is either the ring $k[x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ of polynomials or the ring $k[[x_1, \ldots, x_n]]$ of formal power series over k, then every k-derivation of R is p-integral over R. The main result of the paper ([190], Theorem 4.1) shows that, in the cases of polynomials or power series, every such k-derivation d is p-integral over the ring of constants, even if k is non-noetherian, and that the minimal polynomial for d is of the degree p^m , where $m \leq n$ (the number of variables).

In 1991, Ferrero & Nowicki [93] studied locally integral derivations and endomorphims of commutative rings. A derivation d of a ring R is said to be *locally integral* if, for every $a \in R$, there exists $m = m(a) \in IN$ such that $d^m(a)$ is contained in the ideal of R generated by $a, d(a), \ldots, d^{m-1}(a)$. A locally integral endomorphism of R is defined similarly. The authors presented conditions for a derivation to be locally integral, as well as they included several examples of K-derivations and K-endomorphisms of finitely generated algebras and power series rings, where K is a commutative ring with an identity and R is a commutative K-algebra.

It is well-known, by results of Berman and Sweedler, that the actions both of finite groups and finite dimensional Lie algebras on algebras have common generalizations. Namely, these are examples of actions of Hopf algebras. Thus we can look at connections between behavior of automorphisms and derivations via Hopf algebras. On the other hand, if we have a finite dimensional real or complex algebra A, then the group of all automorphisms of A forms a Lie group and its Lie algebra is equal to the Lie algebra of all derivations of A. Thus, there is a very nice correspondence between derivations and automorphisms of A given by exponential and logarithm maps. Still in 1987, Matczuk [171] presented an analog of these maps for algebraic derivations and automorphisms. He also gave some applications of this construction to investigation of algebraic automorphisms of prime algebras.

4.4. Derivations on Lie Ideals

In the early 1950's, Herstein initiated a study of the Jordan and Lie ideals of R in case that R was a simple associative ring (either without or with an involution). In the ensuring years his work has been generalized in various directions, on the one hand, to the setting of prime and semiprime rings, and, on the other hand, to invariance conditions other than given by ideals.

In 1986, Martindale & Miers [169] wrote the Herstein's Lie Theory revisited. Part of their motivation was to obtain the Lie ideal theory for semiprime rings with involution by a somewhat different approach from the self contained, elementary, very clever methods embodied in the original style of Herstein. And they did it.

Beidar, Brešar & Fong ([24], [26]), in 2001, continuated a project initiated by Brešar & Šemrl [57] in 1999, where the main idea was to connect the concept of dense action on modules with the concept of outerness of derivations and automorphisms. In particular, one can view their results as generalizations of the Chevalley-Jacobson density theorem. This celebrated theorem is one of the important tools of rings theory and has already been generalizated in various directions, as the reader can see in [24]. In [26], the authors considered a Lie ideal of a ring acting on simple modules via multiplication. Their goal were to extend to this context results obtained in [24]. They confined theirselves with the case of automorphisms. As an application they generalized results of Drazin on primitive rings with pivotal monomial to primitive rings whose noncentral Lie ideal has a pivotal monomial with automorphisms. The authors noted that while Martindale's results on prime rings with generalized polynomial identity were extended to prime rings with generalized polynomial identities involving derivations and automorphisms, the corresponding program for results of Amitsur and Drazin on primitive rings with (generalized) pivotal monomials has not been done. In this paper they made the first step in this direction.

In 1981, Bergen, Herstein & Kerr [40] considered the relationship between the derivations and Lie ideals of a prime ring. They also looked at the action of derivations on Lie ideals; the results they obtained extended some that had been proved earlier only for the action of derivations on the ring itself. Let R be a ring and $d \neq 0$ a derivation of R. If U is a Lie ideal of R, they were concerned about the size of d(U). How does one measure this size? One way is to look at the centralizers of d(U) in R; the bigger d(U), the smaller this centralizer should be. This explains the interest in the centralizers of d(U) by looking at how large $\overline{d(U)}$, the subring generated by d(U), turns out to be, generalizing results of [108]. Furthermore, a well-known and often used result states that if d is a derivation of R, which is semiprime and 2-torsion-free, such that $d^2 = 0$ then d = 0. If R is prime, $char(R) \neq 2$, and $d^2(I) = 0$ for a nonzero ideal I of R, it also follows that d = 0. What can be say if $d^2(U) = 0$ for some noncentral Lie ideal of R? For inner derivations this was studied and answered in [114]. For prime rings and for any derivation $d \neq 0$ Bergen, Herstein & Kerr answered the question of when $d^2(U) = 0$ completely in Theorem 1 of [40].

Usually, the theory of prime rings operates with Lie ideals that do not lie at the center of the ring. For an effective operation with semiprime rings, a stronger concept is desirable. Specifically, we will say that a Lie ideal is essentially noncentral if its intersection with any nonzero associate ideal does not lie at the center of the ring. Note that if R is a prime ring and $2R \neq 0$, then R is a ring without 2-torsion. On the other hand, if R is a prime ring, $2R \neq 0$ and U is a its Lie ideal not lying at the center, then U is essentially noncentral. In [17], Avraamova considered R a semiprime ring without 2-torsion and U its essentially noncentral Lie ideal. If on U the polynomial identity of degree n is satisfied, then he proved that R satisfies identity of degree 2n. Furthermore, he extended to semiprime rings the first and the second Posner's theorems.

4.5. Derivations Having Values Satisfying Certain Properties

There are another line of investigating in the literature concerning derivations having values satisfying certain properties.

Bergen, Herstein & Lanski [40], in 1983, studied a question which, although somewhat special, has the virtue that its answer can be given in a very precise, definitive, and succinct way. They showed that the structure of a ring is very tightly determined by the imposition of a special behavior on one of its derivations. That is, they classified the semiprime ring R possessing a nonzero derivation d such that d(x) is either 0 or invertible for all $x \in R$. They proved that R is either a division ring or the ring of 2×2 matrices over a division ring. Later, in 1988, Bergen and Carini [39] obtained the same conclusion assuming that d(x) is 0 or invertible merely for all x in some noncentral Lie ideal of R. In 1993, Lee [157] extended this result by studying the more general situation when $d(f(x_1, \ldots, x_t))$ is either 0 or invertible for all x_1, \ldots, x_t in R, where $f(X_1, \ldots, X_t)$ is a multilinear polynomial not central-valued on R.

As to derivations having nilpotent values, Felzenszwalb and Lanski [89] proved that, if R is a prime ring with no nonzero nil one-sided ideals and d is a derivation such that d(x) is nilpotent for all x in some nonzero ideal of R, then d = 0. The extensions of this theorem to Lie ideals were obtained by Carini and Giambruno [65] in the case of $char(R) \neq 2$, and by Lanski [152] in the case of arbitrary characteristic. In the year 1996, Wong [226] proved a full generalization of this result. In fact, in [226] it is shown that if $d(f(x_1, \ldots, x_t))$ is nilpotent for all x_1, \ldots, x_t in some nonzero ideal of R, where $f(X_1, \ldots, X_t)$ is a multinilear polynomial not central-valued on R, then d = 0.

On the other hand, Bergen [37] proved a result concerning a derivation with invertible or nilpotent values. It was shown that, if R is a ring with no nonzero nil one-sided ideals and d is a nonzero derivation on R such that d(x) is invertible or nilpotent for all x in R, then R is a division ring or the ring of 2×2 matrices over a division ring. In 2000, Lee and Wong [161], the authors considered the situation when $d(f(x_1, \ldots, x_t))$ is invertible or nilpotent for all x_1, \ldots, x_t in some nonzero ideal of a prime ring, where $f(X_1, \ldots, X_t)$ is a multilinear polynomial no central-valued on R.

Acknowledgments

Many people have helped, advised, or otherwise influenced us in writting this paper, and we are suitably grateful to them. Third author, thanks to M. Ferrero (the permanent advisor and guru) for his support and friendship over the last 20 years.

References

- [1] Ahmad, M.: On a theorem of Posner, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 66 (1977) 13-16.
- [2] Ali, S.: Study of derivations and commutativity of rings, Ph. D. Thesis, Aligarh Muslim University, (2002).
- [3] Amitsur, S.A.: Derivations in simple rings, Proc. London Math. Soc. 7 (1957) 87-112.
- [4] Ara, P. and Mathieu, M. : An application of local multipliers to centralizing mappings of C^{*} -algebras, Quart. J. Math. Oxford 44 (1993) 129-138.
- [5] Argaç, N. and Bell, H.E. : Some results on derivations in near-rings, in Near-rings and Near-field, Y. Fong et al. (eds.), Kluwer, Dodrecht (2001) 42-46.
- [6] Argaç, N. and Yenigül, M.S. : Lie ideals and symmetric bi-derivations of prime rings, Symmetries in Science VI, Edited by B. Gruber, Plenum Press, New York, (1993) 41-45.
- [7] Argaç, N.; Kaya, A. and Kisir, A. : (σ, τ) -derivations in prime rings, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 29 (1987) 173-177.
- [8] Ashraf, M. : On left (θ, φ) -derivations of prime rings, Arch. Math. (Brno) 41 (2005) 157-166.

- [9] Ashraf, M.; Ali, A. and Ali, S. : On Lie ideals and generalized (θ, φ)-derivations in prime rings, Comm. Algebra 32 (8) (2004) 2977-2985.
- [10] Ashraf, M.; Ali, A. and Rekha, R. : On generalized derivations of prime rings, South-East Asian Bull. Math. 29 (2005) 669-675.
- [11] Ashraf, M. and Al-Shammakh, S.M. : On generalized (θ, ϕ) -derivations in rings, Internat. J. Math. Game Theory and Algebra, 12 (4) (2002) 295-300.
- [12] Ashraf, M. and Nadeem, R. : On derivations and commutativity in prime rings, East-West J. Math. 3 (1) (2001) 87-91.
- [13] Ashraf, M. and Rehman, N.: On Jordan generalized derivations in rings, Math. J. Okayama 42 (2000) 7-9.
- [14] Ashraf, M. and Rehman, N. : On Lie ideals and Jordan left derivations of prime rings, Arch. Math. (Brno) 36 (2000) 201-206.
- [15] Ashraf, M.; Rehman, N. and Ali, S. : On Jordan left derivations of Lie ideals in prime rings, South-East Asian Bull. Math. 25 (2001) 379-382.
- [16] Ashraf, M.; Rehman, N. and Ali, S. : On Lie ideals and Jordan generalized derivations of prime rings, Indian J. Pure & Appl. Math. 34 (2) (2002) 291-294.
- [17] Avraamova, O.D.: Lie ideals and differentiations of semiprime rings, Vestnik Moskovskogo Universiteta Matematika 44 (4) (1989) 71-73.
- [18] Awtar, R.: Lie ideals and Jordan derivations of prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 90 (1) (1984) 9-14.
- [19] Awtar, R. : Lie ideals and Jordan structures in prime rings with derivations, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 41 (1973) 67-74.
- [20] Awtar, R.: On a theorem of Posner, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 73 (1973) 25-27.
- [21] Ayad, M. and Ryckelynck, P. : On the kernel of some derivations of $K(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$, Comm. Algebra 30 (5) (2002) 2505-2510.
- [22] Baclawski, K. : Automorphisms and derivations of incidence algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (1972) 63-74.
- [23] Banning, R. and Mathieu, M. : Commutativity preserving mappings on semiprime rings, Comm. Algebra 25 (1997) 247-265.
- [24] Beidar, K.I. and Brešar, M.: Extended Jacobson density theorem for rings with derivations and automorphisms, Israel J. Math. 122 (2001) 317-346.
- [25] Beidar, K.I.; Brešar, M. and Chebotar, M.A. : Generalized functional identities with (anti)-automorphisms and derivations on prime rings I, J. Algebra 215 (1999) 644-665.
- [26] Beidar, K.I.; Brešar, M. and Fong, Y. : Extended Jacobson density theorem for Lie ideals of rings with automorphisms, Publ. Math. Debrecen 58 (3) (2001) 325-335.
- [27] Beidar, K.I. and Chebotar, M.A.: On functional identities and d-free subsets of rings I, Comm. Algebra 28 (2000) 3925-3951.
- [28] Beidar, K.I. and Chebotar, M.A.: On Lie derivations of Lie ideals of prime algebras, Israel J. Math. 123 (2001) 131-148.
- [29] Beidar, K.I.; Fong, Y. and Wang, S.K. : Posner and Herstein theorems for derivations of 3-prime near-rings, Comm. Algebra 24 (1996) 1581-1589.
- [30] Beidar, K.I.; Martindale III, W.S. and Mikhalev, A.V.: Rings with generalized identities, Marcel Dekker, 1996.
- [31] Bell, H.E.: On the commutativity of prime rings with derivation, Quaestiones Mathematicae 22 (1999) 329-335.
- [32] Bell, H.E. and Argaç, N. : Derivations, products of derivations and commutativity in near-rings, Algebra Colloquium 8 (2) (2001) 399-407.

- [33] Bell, H. E. and Daif, M.N. : On derivations and commutativity in prime rings, Acta Math. Hung. 66 (1995) 337-343.
- [34] Bell, H. E. and Martindale III, W.S. : Centralizing mappings of semi-prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 30 (1987) 92-101.
- [35] Bell, H. E. and Martindale III, W.S. : Semiderivations and commutativity in prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 31 (1988) 500-508.
- [36] Benkart, G.M. and Osborn, J.M. : Derivations and automorphisms of nonassociative matrix algebras, Trans. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 263 (1981) 411-430.
- [37] Bergen, J. : Lie ideals with regular and nilpotent elements and a result on derivations, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo (Ser. 2) 33 (1984) 99-108.
- [38] Bergen, J.: Prime rings and derivations, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Chicago, 1981.
- [39] Bergen, J. and Carini, L.: Derivations with invertible values, Canad. Math. Bull. 31 (1988) 103-110.
- [40] Bergen, J.; Herstein, I.N. and Kerr, J.W.: Lie ideals and derivations of prime rings, J. Algebra 71 (1) (1981) 259-267.
- [41] Bergen, J.; Herstein, I.N. and Lanski, C. : Derivations with invertible values, Canad. J. Math. 35 (1983) 300-310.
- [42] Bergen, J. and Montgomery, S. : Ideals and quotient in crossed products of Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 152 (1992) 374-396.
- [43] Bonsall, F.F. and Duncan, J.: Complete Normed Algebra, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973.
- [44] Bourbaki, N. : Éléments de Mathématique, Algébre. Livre II, Hermann, Paris, 1961.
- [45] Brešar, M. : A note on derivations, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 32 (1990) 83-88.
- [46] Brešar, M.: Centralizing mappings and derivations in prime rings, J. Algebra 156 (1993) 385-394.
- [47] Brešar, M.: Centralizing mappings on von Neumann algebra, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 111 (1991) 501-510.
- [48] Brešar, M. : Commuting traces of biadditive mappings, commutativity-preserving mappings and Lie mappings, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 335 (1993) 525-546.
- [49] Brešar, M.: Jordan derivations on semiprime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 104 (4) (1988) 1003-1006.
- [50] Brešar, M. : Jordan mappings of semiprime rings, J. Algebra 127 (1989) 218-228.
- [51] Brešar, M. : On a generalization of the notion of centralizing mappings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 114 (1992) 641-649.
- [52] Brešar, M.: On certain subring of prime ring with derivations, J. Austral. Math. Soc. 54 (1993) 133-141.
- [53] Brešar, M.: On the distance of the composition of two derivations to the generalized derivations, Glasgow Math. J. 33 (1991) 89-93.
- [54] Brešar, M.; Cabrera, M. and Villena, A.R. : Functional identities in Jordan algebras and associating maps, Comm. Algebra 30 (11) (2002) 5241-5252.
- [55] Brešar, M.; Chebotar, M.A. and Šemrl, P. : On derivations of prime rings, Comm. Algebra 27 (7) (1999) 3129-3135.
- [56] Brešar, M. and Hvala, B.: On additive maps prime rings, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 51 (1995) 377-381.
- [57] Brešar, M. and Šemrl, P. : On locally linearly dependent operators and derivations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 351 (1999) 1257-1275.
- [58] Brešar, M. and Vukman, J.: Jordan derivations on prime rings, Bull. Austral. Math. Soc. 37 (1988) 321-322.

- [59] Brešar, M. and Vukman, J. : Jordan (θ, ϕ) -derivations, Glasnik Matematicki 26 (46) (1991) 13-17.
- [60] Brešar, M. and Vukman, J.: On left derivations and related mappings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 110 (1) (1990) 7-16.
- [61] Brešar, M. and Vukman, J. : On some additive mappings in ring with involution, Aequationes Math. 38 (1989) 178-185.
- [62] Brešar, M. and Zalar, B.: On the structure of Jordan *-derivations, Colloquium Math. 63 (2) (1992) 163-171.
- [63] Brown, W. : Differentially simple rings, J. Algebra 53 (1978) 362-381.
- [64] Brown, W. and Kuan, W. : Ideals and higher derivations in commutative rings, Canad. J. Math., 24(3)(1972) 400-415.
- [65] Carini, L. and Giambruno, A.: Lie ideals and nil derivations, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. 6 (1985) 497-503.
- [66] Chebotar, M.A.: On a composition of derivations of prime rings, Mascow Univ. Math. Bull. 50 (1995) 22-25.
- [67] Chebotar, M.A. and Lee, P.H. : A note on composition of derivations of prime rings, Comm. Algebra 31 (6) (2003) 2965-2969.
- [68] Chuang, C. L.: On compositions of derivations of prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 180 (1990) 647-652.
- [69] Chuang, C.L. and Lee, T.K. : Finite products of derivations in prime rings, Comm. Algebra 30 (5) (2002) 2183-2190.
- [70] Chung, L.O.: Jordan decomposable derivations, Comm. Algebra 16 (8) (1988) 1581-1598.
- [71] Chung, L.O.: Nil derivations, J. Algebra 95 (1985) 20-30.
- [72] Chung, L.O. and Luh, J. : Nilpotency of derivations on an ideal, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 90 (2) (1984) 211-214.
- [73] Coelho, S.P. and Milies, C.P. : Derivations of upper triangular matrix rings, Linear Algebra Appl. 187 (1993) 263-267.
- [74] Cohen, M.: Hopf algebras acting on semiprime algebras, Contemporary Mathematica 43 (1985) 49-61.
- [75] Cohn, P. M. : Skew Field Constructions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1977, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Series No. 27.
- [76] Cortes, W.: Skew Armendariz rings and annihilator ideals of skew polynomial rings, Contemporary Mathematics 376 (2005) 249-259.
- [77] Cortes, W. and Haetinger, C. : On Lie ideals and left Jordan σ -centralizers of 2-torsion-free rings, (submitted).
- [78] Cozzen, J. and Faith, C. : Simple Noetherian rings, Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics, 69, Cambridge University Press, 1975.
- [79] Creedon, T.: Products of derivations, Proc. Edinburgh Math. Soc. 41 (1998) 407-410.
- [80] Davis, R.D.: On the inertial automorphisms of a class of ramified v-rings, Dissertation, Florida State University, Tallahassee, Fla., 1969.
- [81] Davis, R.L. : A Galois theory for a class of purely inseparable extensions exponent two field extensions, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 75 (1969) 1001-1004.
- [82] Davis, R.L. : A Galois theory for a class of purely inseparable fields extensions, Dissertation, Florida State University, Talahassee, Fla., 1969.
- [83] Deng, Q.: On Jordan left derivations, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 34 (1992) 145-147.
- [84] Dixmier, J.: Algèbres envellopantes, Cahier Scientifique, 27, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1974.
- [85] Doering, A. M. de S. and Lequain, Y. : Maximally differential prime ideals, J. Algebra 101 (1986) 403-417.

- [86] Dumas, F. and Vidal, R. : Dérivations, et hautes dérivations dans certains corps gauches de Séries de Laurent, Pacific J. Math. 153 (2) (1992) 277-288.
- [87] Farkas, D.R.; Geiss, C. and Marcos, E. N. : Diagonalizable derivations of finite-dimensional Algebras I, Israel J. Math. 117 (2000) 157-181.
- [88] Farkas, D.R.; Geiss, C. and Marcos, E.N. : Diagonalizable derivations of finite-dimensional Algebras II, Pacific J. Math. 196 (2) (2000) 341-351.
- [89] Felzenszwalb, B. and Lanski, C. : On the centralizers of ideals and nil derivations, J. Algebra 83 (1983) 520-530.
- [90] Ferrero, M. and Haetinger, C. : Higher derivations and a theorem by Herstein, Quaestiones Mathematicae 25 (2) (2002) 249-257.
- [91] Ferrero, M. and Haetinger, C. : Higher derivations of semiprime rings, Comm. Algebra 30 (5) (2002) 2321-2333.
- [92] Ferrero, M.; Giambruno, A. and Milies, C.P.: A note on derivations of group rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 38 (4) (1995) 434-437.
- [93] Ferrero, M.; Lequain, Y. and Nowicki, A. : A note on locally nilpotent derivations, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 79 (1992) 45-50.
- [94] Ferrero, M. and Nowicki, A. : Locally integral derivations and endomorphisms, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 33 (1991) 103-114.
- [95] Fošner, M.: Jordan superderivations, Comm. Algebra 31 (9) (2003) 4533-4545.
- [96] Frank, C.H. : Picard-Vessiot theory of linear homogeneous difference equations, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 108 (1963) 491-515.
- [97] Giambruno, A. and Herstein, I.N. : Derivations with nilpotent values, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo 30 (1981) 199-206.
- [98] Gómez-Ambrosi, C. and Montaner, F. : On Herstein's constructions relating Jordan and associative superalgebras, Comm. Algebra 28 (2000) 3743-3762.
- [99] Goodearl, K.R.: Global dimension of differential operator rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 45 (1974) 315-322.
- [100] Goodearl, K.R.: Global dimension of differential operator rings II, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 209 (1975) 65-85.
- [101] Goodearl, K.R. : Global dimension of differential operator rings III, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 17 (1978) 397-409.
- [102] Goodearl, K.R. and Lenagan, T.H. : Constructing bad noetherian local domains using derivations, J. Algebra 123 (1989) 478-495.
- [103] Goodearl, K.R and Lenagan, T.H. : Krull dimension of differential operator rings IV: multiple derivations, Proc. London Math. Soc. (3) 47 (1983) 306-336.
- [104] Haetinger, C. : Derivações de ordem superior em anéis primos e semiprimos, Porto Alegra, UFRGS (Brazil). PHD Thesis. Advisor: M. Ferrero. (2000), available at the IMUFRGS Digital Library, http://www.biblioteca.ufrgs.br/bibli inscription number 000277135.
- [105] Hamaguchi, N. and Nakajima, A. : Derivations of skew polynomial rings, Publications De Linstitut Mathematique Nouvelle Series, Tome 72 (86) (2002) 107-112.
- [106] Heerema, N.: Derivations and automorphisms of complete regular local rings, Amer. J. Math. 88 (1966) 33-42.
- [107] Heerema, N.: Derivations and embeddings of a field in its power series ring, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 11 (1960) 188-194.
- [108] Herstein, I.N.: A note on derivations, Canad. Math. Bull. 21 (1978) 369-370.
- [109] Herstein, I.N.: A note on derivations II, Canad. Math. Bull. 22 (1979) 509-511.
- [110] Herstein. I.N.: Center-like elements in prime rings, J. Algebra 60 (1979) 567-574.

- [111] Herstein, I.N.: Jordan derivations of prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957) 1104-1110.
- [112] Herstein, I.N.: Lie and Jordan structures in simple, associative rings, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 67 (6) (1961) 517-531.
- [113] Herstein, I.N.: Noncommutative Ring, Carus Mathematical Monographs, 1968.
- [114] Herstein, I.N.: On the Lie structure of an associative ring, J. Algebra 14 (1970) 561-571.
- [115] Herstein, I.N. : Structure of Rings, Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1969.
- [116] Herstein, I.N.: Topics in Ring Theory, Univ. of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1969.
- [117] Heyneman, R.G. and Sweedler, M.E. : Affine Hopf Algebras I, J. Algebra 13 (1969) 192-241.
- [118] Hietarinta, J.: Direct methods for the search of the second inversant, Physics Reports 147 (1987) 87-154.
- [119] Hirano, Y.; Kaya, A. and Tominaga, H.: On theorems of Mayne, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 25 (1983) 125-132.
- [120] Hirano, Y.; Tominaga, H. and Trezepizur, A.: On a theorem of Posner, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 27 (1985) 25-32.
- [121] Hirano, Y. and Yamakawa, H.: On nil and nilpotent derivations, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 26 (1984) 137-141.
- [122] Hochschild, G. : Semisimple algebras and generalized derivatives, Amer. J. Math. 64 (1942) 677-694.
- [123] Hongan, M.: A generalization of a theorem of Posner, Math. J. Okayama Univ. 33 (1991) 97-101.
- [124] Hongan, M.: A note on semiprime rings with derivations, Internat. J. Math. & Math. Sci. 20 (1997) 413-415.
- [125] Hua, L.K.: On the automorphisms of a field, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 35 (1949) 386-389.
- [126] Humphreys, J.E.: Hilbert's Fourteenth Problem, Amer. Math. Monthly 85 (5) (1978) 341-353.
- [127] Hvala, B.: Generalized derivations in rings, Comm. Algebra 26 (4) (1988) 1147-1166.
- [128] Jacobson, N. : Basic Algebra II, W. H. Freeman and Comp., San Francisco, 1980.
- [129] Jacobson, N.: Galois theory of purely inseparable fields of exponent one, Amer. J. Math. 66 (1944) 645-648.
- [130] Jacobson, N. : Lectures in Abstract Algebra, III, Van Nostrand, Princeton, New Jersey, 1964.
- [131] Jacobson, N. : Lie algebras, Interscience Tracts in Pure and Appl. Math., 10, Interscience, New York, 1962.
- [132] Jacobson, N.: Structure of Rings, Amer. Math. Soc. Coll. Pub. 37, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence R. I., 1956.
- [133] Jensen, D.W.: Nilpotency of derivations in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 123 (9) (1995) 2633-2636.
- [134] Jing, W. and Lu, S. : Generalized Jordan derivations on prime rings and standard operator algebras, Taiwanese J. Math. 7 (4) (2003) 605-613.
- [135] Jordan, C.R. and Jordan, D.A.: Lie rings of derivations of associative rings, J. London Math. Soc. 2 (17), II Series, Part 1, (1978) 33-41.
- [136] Jordan, C.R. and Jordan, D.A. : The Lie structure of a commutative ring with a derivation, J. London Math. Soc. 2 (18), II Series, Part 1, (1978) 39-49.
- [137] Jordan, D.A.: Noetherian Ore extensions and Jacobson rings, J. London Math. Soc. 10 (1975) 281-291.
- [138] Jung, Y.S. and Park, K.H. : On generalized (α, β)-derivations and commutativity in prime rings, Bull. Korean. Math. Soc. 43 (1) (2006) 101-106.
- [139] Kaplansky, I.: An Introduction to Differential Algebra, Hermann, Paris, 1976.
- [140] Kaplansky, I.: Semi-automorphisms of rings, Duke Math. J. 14 (1947) 521-527.
- [141] Kaya, K. : On a (σ, τ) -derivations of prime rings, Doga Tr. J. Math. D. C. 12 (2) (1988) 46-51.

- [142] Kharchenko, V.K. : Automorphisms and Derivations of Associative Rings, Mathematics and its Applications, Soviet Series, no. 69, Kluwer Academic, 1991.
- [143] Kharchenko, V.K. : Differential identities of prime rings, Algebra i Logika 17 (2) (1978) 220–238; or Algebra and Logic 17 (1978) 155-168.
- [144] Kolchin, E.R.: Differential Algebra and Algebraic Groups, Academic Press, New York, London, 1973.
- [145] Komatsu, H. and Nakajima, A. : Generalized derivations with invertible values, Comm. Algebra 32 (5) (2004) 1937-1944.
- [146] Koppinen, M.: Automorphisms and higher derivations of incidence algebras, J. Algebra 174 (1995) 698-723.
- [147] Krempa, J. and Matczuk, J. : On algebraic derivations of prime rings, In Methods in Ring Theory, Conference on Ring Theory, Antwerp, (1983); Oystaeyen, F. van, Eds.; Reidel Ou. Co.: Dorbrecht/Boston/Lancaster, (1984) 211-229.
- [148] Krempa, J. and Matczuk, J.: On the composition of derivations, Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo, 33 (1984) 441-455.
- [149] Lanski, C. : Derivations nilpotent on subsets of prime rings, Comm. Algebra 20 (5) (1992) 1427-1446.
- [150] Lanski, C.: Derivations which are algebraic on subsets of prime rings, Comm. Algebra 15 (6) (1987) 1255-1278.
- [151] Lanski, C. : Derivations with algebraic values on Lie ideals, Comm. Algebra 18 (5) (1990) 1379-1399.
- [152] Lanski, C. : Derivations with nilpotent values on Lie ideals, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 108 (1990) 31-37.
- [153] Lanski, C. : Differential identities in prime rings with involution, Trans. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 291 (2) (1985) 765-787.
- [154] Lanski, C. : Differential identities, Lie ideals, and Posner's theorems, Pacific J. Math. 134 (1988) 275-297.
- [155] Lanski, C. : Differential identities of prime rings, Kharchenko's theorem and applications, Contemporary Math. 124 (1992) 111-128.
- [156] Lanski, C. and Montgomery, S. : Lie structure of prime rings of characteristic 2, Pacific J. Math. 42 (1) (1972) 117-136.
- [157] Lee, T.K. : Derivations with invertible values on a multilinear polynomial, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 119 (1993) 1077-1083.
- [158] Lee, T. K.: Generalized derivations of left faithful rings, Comm. Algebra 27 (8) (1999) 4057-4073.
- [159] Lee, T.K. and Lin, J.S. : A result on derivations, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 121 (6) (1996) 1687-1691.
- [160] Lee, T. K. and Shinu, W.K.: Identities with generalized derivations, Comm. Algebra 29 (10) (2001) 4437-4450.
- [161] Lee, T.K. and Wong, T.L. : Derivations with invertible or nilpotent values on a multilinear polynomial, Algebra Colloquium 7 (1) (2000) 93-98.
- [162] Lequain, Y.: Differential simplicity and complete integral closure, Pacific J. Math. 36 (1971) 741-751.
- [163] Lin, J. S. and Liu, C.K. : Generalized derivations with invertible or nilpotent values on multipolynomials, Comm. Algebra 34 (8) (2006) 633-640.
- [164] Leroy, A. and Matczuk, J. : Derivations et automorphismes algebriques d'anneux premiers, Comm. Algebra 13
 (6) (1985) 1245-1266.
- [165] Luh, J.: A not on commuting automorphism of prime rings, Amer. Math. Monthly 77 (1970) 61-62.
- [166] Malm, D.R.: Global and Krull dimension of Schmidt differential operator rings, Comm. Algebra, 17 (10) (1989) 2415-2459.
- [167] Malm, D. R. : Simplicity of partial and Schmidt differential operator rings, Pacific J. Math. 132 (1) (1988) 85-112.

- [168] Martindale III, W.S.: Lie derivations of primitive rings, Michigan J. Math. 11 (1964) 183-187.
- [169] Martindale III, W.S. and Miers, C.R. : Herstein's Lie theory revisited, J. Algebra 98 (1986) 14-37.
- [170] Martindale III, W.S. and Miers, C.R. : On the iterates of derivations of prime rings, Pacific J. Math. 104 (1983) 179-190.
- [171] Matczuk, J.: Relations between algebraic derivations and algebraic automorphisms of algebras, Bull. Soc. Math. Belg., Sér. B, 39 (3) (1987) 359-372.
- [172] Mathieu, M.: Posner's second theorem deduced from the first, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 144 (3) (1992) 601-602.
- [173] Mayne, J. H.: Centralizing automorphisms of Lie ideals in prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 35 (1992) 510-514.
- [174] Mayne, J. H.: Centralizing automorphisms of prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 19 (1976) 113-115.
- [175] Mayne, J. H.: Centralizing mappings of prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 27 (1984) 122-126.
- [176] Mayne, J. H.: Ideals and centralizing mappings in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 86 (1982) 211-212.
- [177] McCrimmon, K.: On Herstein's theorems related Jordan and Associative algebra, J. Algebra 59 (1979) 56-64.
- [178] McCrimmon, K. : The Zelmanov approach to Jordan homomorphisms of associative algebras, J. Algebra 123 (2) (1989) 457-477.
- [179] Milinski, A.: Actions of pointed Hopf algebras on prime algebras, Comm. Algebra 23 (1) (1995) 313-333.
- [180] Montaner, F.: On the Lie structure of associative superalgebras, Comm. Algebra 26 (1998) 2337-2349.
- [181] Montgomery, S. : Hopf Algebras and their actions on rings, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, 82, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, RI, 1993.
- [182] Murphy, G.J.: Aspects of the theory of derivations, Banach Center Publications 30 (1994) 267-275.
- [183] Nakajima, A. : Generalized Jordan derivations, Proceedings of the third Korea-China-Japan International Symposium on Ring Theory (2000) 235-243.
- [184] Nakajima, A. : Note on generalized Jordan derivations, associate with Hochschild 2-Cocyles of rings, Turk. J. Math. (2006) (in press).
- [185] Nakajima, A.: On categorical properties of generalized derivations, Scientiae Mathematicae 2 (3) (1999) 345-352.
- [186] Nakajima, A.: On generalized higher derivations, Turk. J. Math. 24 (2001) 295-311.
- [187] Nakajima, A and Sapanci, M. : Left derivations on skew polynomial rings, Bull. Greek Math. Soc. 36 (1994) 113-119.
- [188] Nagata, M.: Lectures on the Fourteenth Problem of Hilbert, Lect. Notes 31, Tata Institute, Bombay, 1965.
- [189] Nowicki, A.: Derivations of special subrings of matrix rings and regular graphs, Tsukuba Journal of Mathematics 7 (1983) 281-297.
- [190] Nowicki, A.: Integral derivations, Journal of Algebra 110 (1) (1987) 262-276.
- [191] Nowicki, A. : Polynomial derivations and their rings of constants, Printed in Poland by Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Mokołaja Kopernika, Torún, 1994.
- [192] Ollagnier, J.M.: Liouvillian first integrals of polynomial vector fields, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 33 (1992) 673-688.
- [193] Ollagnier, J.M. and Nowicki, A.: Constants and Darboux polynomials for tensor products of polynomial algebras with derivations, Comm. Algebra 32 (1) (2004) 379-389.
- [194] Ouarit, A. : Dérivations et automorphismes algébriques d'anneaux semi-premiers, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 314 (1) (1992) 241-244.

- [195] Pedersen, G.K.: C^{*}-Algebra and their Automorphism Groups, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- [196] Posner, E.C.: Derivations in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957) 1093-1100.
- [197] Quadri, M.A.; Khan. M.S. and Rehman, N. : Generalized derivations and commutativity of prime rings, Indian J. Pure & Appl. Math. 34 (9) (2003) 1393-1396.
- [198] Ritt, J.F.: Differential Algebra, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ., Vol 33, New York, 1950.
- [199] Sakai, S. : C^{*}-Algebra and W^{*}-Algebra, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1971.
- [200] Schneider, H. J. : On inner actions of Hopf algebras and stabilizers of representations, J. Algebra 165 (1994) 138-163.
- [201] Schwarz, F.: Existence theorems for polynomial first integrals, Proceedings of the Intern. Symp. Symbolic and Algebraic Computation, (1991) 256-264.
- [202] Seidenberg, A. : Derivations and integral closure, Pacific J. Math. 16 (1966) 167-173.
- [203] Seidenberg, A.: Differential ideals in complete local rings, Amer. J. Math. 95 (1973) 52-58.
- [204] Seidenberg, A.: Differential ideals in rings of finitely type, Amer. J. Math. 89 (1967) 22-42.
- [205] Šemri, P.: Additive derivations of some operator algebras, Illinois J. Math., 35 (1991) 234-240.
- [206] Silva, J.A.D. and Godinho, H.: Generalized derivations and additive theory, Linear Algebra and its Applications, 342 (2002) 1-15.
- [207] Sinclair, A.M.: Continuous derivations on Banach algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 8 (1957) 1093-100.
- [208] Sinclair, A. M.: Continuous derivations on Banach algebras, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 20 (1969) 166-170.
- [209] Singer, M.F.: Formal solutions of differential equations, J. Symb. Comp. 10 (1990) 59-94.
- [210] Spiegel, E. : Derivations of integral group rings, Comm. Algebra 22 (8) (1994) 2955-2959.
- [211] Suzuki, S. : Some types of derivations and their applications to field theory, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 21 (2) (1981) 375-382.
- [212] Swain, G.A.: Lie derivations of the skew elements of prime rings with involution, Journal of Algebra 184 (1996) 679-704.
- [213] Sweedler, M.E.: Hopf algebras with one group-like element, Trans Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (1967) 515-526.
- [214] Sweedler, M.E.: Right derivations and right differential operators, Pacific J. Math. 86 (1980) 327-360.
- [215] Sweedler, M.E.: Structure of inseparable extensions, Annal. of Math. (2) 87 (1968) 401-410.
- [216] Taelman, L.: Dieudonné determinats for skew polynomial rings, eprint arXiv. RA/0304478v1 29 (2003) 1-4.
- [217] Van der Put, M. and Singer; M.F. : Galois theory of difference equations, Lecture Notes in Math. 1666, Springer 1997.
- [218] Van der Put, M. and Singer; M.F. : Galois theory of linear differential equations, Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 328, Springer, 2003.
- [219] Vidal, R. : Anneaux de valuation discrète complets non commutatifs, Trans. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 267 (1) (1981) 65-81.
- [220] Villena, A.R.: Lie derivations on Banach algebras, Journal of Algebra 226 (2000) 390-409.
- [221] Voskoglou, M.G.: A note on skew polynomial rings, Publ. Inst. Math. (Beograd) 55 (69) (1994) 23-28.
- [222] Voskoglou, M.G.: Simple skew polynomial rings, Publ. Inst. Math. (Beograd) 37 (51) (1985) 37-41.
- [223] Vukman, J.: Commuting and centralizing mappings in prime rings, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 109 (1990) 47-52.

- [224] Wang, X. K. : Derivations in prime near-rings, Proc. Amer.Math. Soc., 121 (2) (1994) 361-366.
- [225] Wendel, J. G.: Left centralizers and isomorphism of group algebras, Pacific J. Math. 2 (1952) 251-261.
- [226] Wong, T.L.: A special functional identity in prime rings, Comm. Algebra 32 (1) (2004) 363-377.
- [227] Wong, T.L. : Derivations with power-central values on multilinear polynomials, Algebra Colloquium 3 (1996) 369-378.
- [228] Witherspoon, S. : Skew derivations and deformations of a family of group crossed products, Comm. Algebra, (to appear), eprint arXiv RA/0506154.
- [229] Ye, Y., Luh, J.: Derivations of higher order in prime rings, Canad. Math. Bull. 39 (1996) 376-384.
- [230] Yenigül, M.S. and Argaç, N. : Ideals and symmetric bi-derivations of prime and semi-prime rings, Turk Mathematics Society, IV National Mathematics Symposium, (1991).
- [231] Yenigül, M.S.; Deng, Q. and Argaç, N. : On prime ring with automorphism and (σ, τ) -derivations, Glasnik Mathematiki 32 (52) (1997) 11-16.
- [232] Zaidi, S.M.A.; Ashraf, M. and Ali, S. : On Jordan ideals and left (θ, ϕ) -derivations in prime rings, Internat. J. Math & Math. Sci., 37 (2004) 1957-1964.
- [233] Zalar, B.: On centralizers of semiprime rings, Comment. Math. Univ. Carolinae 32 (1991) 609-614.
- [234] Zelmanov, E.I.: On prime Jordan algebras II, Siberian Math. J. 24 (1983) 89-104.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

The Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh (India) has been bringing out a Bulletin since 1971 based on a single issue. From the year 2001, each volume of The Aligarh Bulletin of Mathematics comprises of two issues. This journal publishes original papers in almost all branches of current interest in Pure and Applied Mathematics. The papers of the bulletin are reviewed/abstracted in Mathematical Reviews and Zentralblat fur Mathematik.

The manuscript, intended for publication in the Bulletin, must be submitted in duplicate and written in English, to the Chief Editor or either of the Managing Editors Department of Mathematics, Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh-202002 (India). The manuscript must be in their final form and typed on one side of the paper only with double-spacing and wide margins. The authors are requested to keep a copy of the manuscript.

All the papers will be refereed. If necessary, the author(s) would be asked to revise the manuscript in view of the referee's report. The editor reserves the right to make reasonable editorial modifications in the text.

Authors are encouraged to submit electronically prepared manuscript (LaTex) and required to submit the manuscript, after acceptance, on a floppy. The manuscript should be accompanied by (1) an abstract not exceeding 300 characters, (2) 3-5 key words, (3) AMS subject classification (2000), and (4) an abbreviated title not exceeding 40 characters for running head. In case of a joint paper, please specify the name and address of the author of contact.

The authors of the accepted paper shall be charged an amount of Rs.100/- (US \$ 5) per page to meet the cost of the reprints and handling charges.

Illustrations and diagrams should be submitted on separate sheets and not included in the text. They should be of good quality and drawn in Indian ink using clean uniform lines. The author should indicate in the margin of the manuscript where the illustrations and diagrams are to be inserted.

The list of references at the end of the paper should always be in alphabetical order, numbered consecutively and includes the names and initials of all authors, year of publication, and the name and location of the publisher (see example below).

Citation in the text should be numbered in square brackets, for example [1], or, Lopez-Bonilla and Ovando [1], referring to an alphabetically ordered and numbered list. If a work of more than three authors or, editors are cited, only the first author's name followed by 'et al.' need be given, for example, Ahmad et al. [1].

In the list of reference, the following examples should be observed:

- [1] Cenzig, B. : *A generalization of the Banach-Stone theorem*, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 40 (1973) 426-430.
- [2] Blair, D. : Contact Manifolds in Riemannian Geometry, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 509, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1976.
Contents

On the block center for split BN-pair Hecke algebra Ahmed A. Khammash and Makkeah A. Makky	1-8
Ideals and symmetric (σ, σ) -biderivations on prime rings Asma Ali and Deepak Kumar	9-18
On Exact Sequences in $B_{CI(r)}$ Shabbir Khan and Gulam Muhiuddin	19-23
A generalization concept of right adjointness in functors S.M.A. Zaidi	25-33
On (γ, γ') -semi-open sets and γ -semi-compact spaces G. Sai Sundara Krishnan and K. Balachandran	35-44
Some results on K-algebras Pramod K. Sharma	45-50
On some central differential identities in prime rings L. Carini and V. De Filippis	51-58
Operators of composition between Orlicz spaces B.S. Komal, Shally Gupta and Tejinder Kour	59-63
Ring hulls of generalized triangular matrix rings Gary F. Birkenmeier, Jae Keol Park and S. Tariq Rizvi	65-77
On derivations in rings and their applications Mohammad Ashraf, Shakir Ali and Claus Haetinger	79-107